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IMPORTANT NOTE 
 

 

IFC, a member of the World Bank Group, is the largest global development institution focused 

exclusively on the private sector. We help developing countries achieve sustainable growth by 

financing investment, mobilizing capital in international financial markets, and providing advisory 

services to businesses and governments. In FY12, our investments reached an all-time high of more 

than $20 billion, leveraging the power of the private sector to create jobs, spark innovation, and 

tackle the world’s most pressing development challenges. For more information, visit www.ifc.org. 

 

This Corporate Governance Scorecard report was commissioned by IFC and the Global Corporate 

Governance Forum (GCGF) in collaboration with the State Securities Commission of Vietnam. The 

conclusions and judgments contained in this report should not be attributed to, and do not 

necessarily represent the views of GCGF, the State Securities Commission of Vietnam, IFC or its 

Board of Directors or the World Bank or its Executive Directors, or the countries they represent. 

IFC, GCGF and the World Bank and the State Securities Commission of Vietnam do not guarantee 

the accuracy of the data in this publication and accept no responsibility for any consequences of 

their use. 
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A. Introduction 

 
“It is critical for the advancement of our society and our economies that we have quality corporate 

governance in our companies
1
” 

 

M. King S.C., interview in South Africa, 13 March 2012. 

 

“Better corporate governance can add value by improving firm performance through more efficient 

management, better asset allocation, better labour policies, and other efficiency improvements. 

More generally, poor corporate governance can affect the functioning of a country’s financial 

markets and the volume of cross border financing.  For instance, weaker corporate governance can 

increase financial volatility.
2
” 

 

S. Claessens and B. Yurtoglu, Corporate Governance and Development, 2012. 

 

a.  Background 

 

Vietnamese legislators and regulators have been working on the reform of Vietnam’s business 

environment for several years.  Initiatives have included the review and amendment of related 

legislation and the development and issuance of mandatory and voluntary guidance on company 

governance.  Within the past two years, the Ministry of Finance (MOF) issued a number of Circulars 

providing guidance on corporate governance and information disclosure. 

 

Conscious of the need to attract investors, these regulatory activities have been designed to build a 

better business environment to allow local and foreign investors to have confidence and trust in the 

market.  The Vietnam Scorecard Project is a part of this drive to improve corporate governance in 

Vietnam.  

 

The State Securities Commission (SSC) and IFC have partnered in several initiatives to improve 

corporate governance in Vietnam and the Corporate Governance Scorecard is one such initiative.  

Three scorecard reviews of corporate governance practices in Vietnam have been conducted since 

2010. 

 

b. Objectives  

 
The CG scorecard is expected to: 

• Provide a standardized, systematic framework from which regulators and investors can assess 

companies’ corporate governance standards and the overall level of CG in Vietnam 

• Enable a company to assess the quality of its corporate governance and to stimulate 

companies to improve and enhance their business practices 

• Provide a systematic way to analyze corporate governance across industries 

• Assist regulatory groups to identify strengths and weaknesses in corporate governance 

practices, leading to further reforms 

• Assess progress in CG practices in 2011 compared to 2010 and during a three year period 

• Be available to support general awareness and understanding of good corporate governance 

practices. 

 

                                                           
1  M. King S.C., author of the King III Code of Corporate Governance for South Africa, in an interview with Bruce Whitfield on 13 March 

2012, available on www.ey.com/za 

2  S. Claessens and B. Yurtoglu, Corporate Governance and Development – an update, in Focus 10 issued by the Global Corporate Governance 

Forum, Washington DC,  2012. 

http://www.ey.com/za
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However, “the best corporate governance framework does not guarantee acceptance and 

implementation if companies are not complying with the framework”
3
.  

  

This analysis points to areas of improvements so CG in Vietnam can move beyond compliance to an 

effective CG system operating within companies in Vietnam. The Scorecard is a key tool to focus 

discussion, raise awareness and encourage change in CG standards.  

 

In this third scorecard survey of 100 companies listed on the Hanoi (HNX) and Ho Chi Minh Stock 

Exchanges (HOSE) - which together represent more than 80% of the combined market 

capitalization of these exchanges, we were interested to see if there have been improvements in the 

application of CG principles over the reviewed period. 

 

The methodology used in the 2012 review was similar to that applied in the two previous reviews, 

based on Vietnamese laws and regulations, the OECD Corporate Governance Principles and global 

good practices. The methodology was updated for CG changes in Vietnam for the 2011 reporting 

period.   

                                                           
3  Strenger, C., The Role of Corporate Governance Principles – The importance of compliance and main issues in Germany, OECD Eurasian 

Roundtable, Kiev, 2004. 
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B. Executive Summary 

 
Main Findings 

 

The 2012 review of data from the 2011 reporting period revealed that no company can be 

complacent as all CG scores were below 60%, with an average score across all companies of 42.5%.  

Moreover, there were much higher average scores in similar, but not identical, CG Scorecards 

across Asia. For example, Thailand in 2011 scored 77%, Hong Kong in 2009 scored 73% and the 

Philippines in 2008 totalled 72%. 

 

The scorecard review examined 100 listed companies, as listed on the Hanoi Stock Exchange 

(HNX) and the Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange (HOSE) at January 1, 2011. 20 companies are listed 

on the HNX, 80 companies are listed on the HOSE and collectively these companies represent more 

than 80% of the total market capitalization in Vietnam. The 25 largest companies by market 

capitalization have a market capitalization of between VND48,104 billion and VND2,670 billion, 

while  75% of the reviewed companies are small by market capitalization.  

  

a. Overall Performance 

 

The overall CG performance in 2011 in each sub-category is reflected in the table below and 

graphically represented in the chart below. There are negative trends in the overall scores and in 

each separate area in 2011 against 2010’s results. Overall, the gains made in 2010 have been 

reversed.  

 

Table 1: Overall corporate governance performances 2009, 2010 and 2011 

 

There are a number of potential reasons for this step backwards. In 2011, Vietnam was suffering 

from an economic downturn, business was less vibrant and companies were generally in a cost 

reduction mode. Annual reports were also less expansive perhaps due to challenging conditions 

and/or to mask poor results.  Company disclosure declined, particularly in regard to board and SB 

activities. Area D, Disclosure and Transparency, declined by 3.1% compared to 2010’s results.  

Reported information was generally lighter and more superficial than previously observed.   

Mean Minimum Maximum

2009
%

2010
%

2011
%

2009
%

2010
%

2011
%

2009
%

2010
%

2011
%

Overall CG
performance 43.9 44.7 42.5 20.5 29.3 17.4 60.9 58.6 57.5

Area A - Rights of
Shareholders 46.8 48.5 47.0 2.4 19.3 11.9 78.6 74.0 73.8

Area B - Equitable
Treatment of
Shareholders

65.1 61.0 57.8 25.0 39.0 13.9 86.1 78.0 80.6

Area C - Role of
Stakeholders 29.2 29.4 22.7 6.3 0.0 6.3 68.8 68.0 62.5

Area D - Disclosure
and Transparency 39.4 43.2 40.1 15.6 24.3 21.7 62.5 61.3 60.0

Area E -
Responsibilities of
the Board

35.3 36.1 35.9 11.3 17.7 9.7 53.2 55.0 54.8
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Also, information related to stakeholders was noticeably poorer. Area C, the Role of Stakeholders, 

comparatively declined by a significant 6.7% against 2010’s results. In difficult economic times 

companies seemed to not consider, not do as much previously or not report on activities regarding 

employees, the environment, the community and in relation to working conditions, health and 

safety.   

 

Furthermore in 2011, the SSC was more active in monitoring and enforcing regulations and 

announcing violations to the market. As a result, more negative information about companies was 

available and regulatory challenges to related party transactions and to financial statement 

information were evident. 

 

Some 25 companies, new to the Scorecard 2012, underperformed against the average score, 

particularly in Area D, Disclosure and Transparency and Area E, the Responsibilities of the Board.  

These companies’ average CG score was 38.7%, against the overall average of 42.5% for all 100 

companies and less than the average CG score of 43.8% for the remaining 75 companies reviewed 

last year.  Some 22 of the 25 companies were newly listed and they seemed ill-prepared for the 

responsibilities that come with listing, particularly an awareness of corporate governance practices, 

adherence to stricter reporting requirements and understanding and fulfilling expected board 

responsibilities. 

 

It is accurate to say CG practices in Vietnam remain more evident in rules than in application and 

implementation. 

 

The overall corporate governance performances of the reviewed companies indicate efforts to 

implement elements of good corporate governance have slipped back as displayed in Chart 1 below.  

Vietnam is not alone in this. In Asia generally, the ACGA-CLSA CG Watch 2012 comments on 

slippages in companies’ CG practices
4
.  However, the global pressure and expectation is to pick up 

the pace of CG reform rather than slip back. The OECD in 2011, through its Asian Roundtable, 

developed and published Reform Priorities in Asia: Taking Corporate Governance to a Higher 

Level. Two of the key priorities were that “all jurisdictions should strive for active visible and 

effective enforcement of corporate governance laws and regulations” and that “the quality of 

disclosure should be enhanced and made in a timely and transparent manner”
5
. 

 

Chart 1: Overall results in corporate governance areas - 2011 

 

 
 

                                                           
4  ACGA-CLSA, CG Watch 2012 – Tremors and Cracks, Hong Kong, 2012. 

5  OECD, Reform Priorities in Asia: Taking Corporate Governance to a Higher Level, OECD, Paris, 2011. 
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Area A on the Rights of Shareholders and Area B on the Equitable Treatment of Shareholders 

declined 1.5% and 3.2%, respectively against 2010.  

 

In areas where greater interpretation or discretion is permitted, good CG practices were often not 

well implemented. Area C, the Role of Stakeholders, declined a substantial 6.7%.  In other 

comparable CG scorecards in Asia (e.g. Indonesia and Thailand), Area C was awarded 15% rather 

than the 5% in this scorecard. These countries are more advanced in the application of corporate 

responsibility principles. If 15% weighting was applied to Area C in this scorecard, the mean score 

for Vietnamese companies would be lower again.  

 

Area D, assessing Disclosure and Transparency, declined 3.1% despite stricter regulations on 

information disclosure (Circular 09/2010) being applied since early 2010. These results show that 

the regulators, the SSC, the HNX and HOSE must step up monitoring and enforcement activities to 

force a change of behaviour in companies.  

 

b. Comparison of corporate governance performances in 2009, 2010 and 2011 

 

The overall corporate governance performance is reflected in the table below. The mean or average 

score was marginally higher in 2010 than in 2009 by some 0.8%.  In 2011, company scores have 

regressed to an average of 42.5%. The spread of CG scores has also reverted and there is a long tail 

of companies with below average scores.   

 

Chart 2:  Overall CG performances in 2009, 2010 and 2011 

 

 
 

The area of biggest decline was in company roles and stakeholder interfacing. The mean or average 

score in Area C declined 6.7%, underscoring that Vietnam is not moving with global expectations 

of higher consideration of stakeholder interests in businesses, with greater expectations of care for 

their employees and the environment.   

 

Meanwhile, company approaches to disclosure and transparency declined 3.1%, after an initial 

improvement in 2010 on the introduction of new disclosure requirements. Investors are becoming 

increasingly intolerant of this approach. 

 

A benchmark subjectively considered to reflect good corporate governance practices in a company 

would result in a total score between 65% and 74%. No company in the Vietnam survey group 

achieved these levels. 

 

The table below indicates the number of firms in each score range in the 2010 and 2011 sample of 

100 largest listed companies. In 2010, 80% of firms achieved scores between 40% and 59%. In the 

2011 sample, this slipped to 73%. There were more firms in the 10% to 29% score range in 2011 

than in 2010. 
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Table 2: Comparison of number of firms in each score range 

 

 No. of firms in each score range 

CG score range 2009 2010 2011 

10% to 19% 0 0 1 

20% to 29% 7 1 3 

30% to 39% 14 19 23 

40% to 49% 59 61 62 

50% to 59% 19 19 11 

60% to 69% 1 0 0 

Total number of firms 100 100 100 

 

c. Review of progression of previously reviewed companies 

 

In the sample of 100 companies reviewed this year, 75 companies were also reviewed last year.  

This group of 75 companies showed deterioration in CG practices with a mean or average score of 

43.8% in 2011 against 45.0% in 2010. However, when compared with the average score of all 

companies (42.5%) in 2011, these 75 firms had a higher average score of 43.8%.   

 

Chart 3: Comparison of overall CG performances of the 75 companies reviewed in 2010 & 2011 

 

 
 

d. CG and company performance 

 

The survey indicates that firms with better observed corporate governance practices or scores seem 

to demonstrate better performance in business. The 25 firms with the highest CG scores have higher 

return on equity (ROE) and return on asset (ROA) ratios than those in the bottom CG ranking (see 

chart below). This is consistent with findings in previous scorecards. 

 

  

58,6% 57,5% 

45,0% 43,8% 

29,3% 
27,1% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%
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 Maximum
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Chart 4: CG practices and performances (as measured by ROE and ROA ratios) 

 

 
 

Companies with better corporate governance scores with ROEs of 17.2%, outstrip those with poorer 

corporate governance with ROEs of 10.6% in the 50 companies with middling CG scores. The 25 

companies with the poorest CG scores had ROEs of only 1.2%. It is a similar picture when 

considering ROA ratios. These results are statistically significant and confirm a similar position 

presented in previous 2010 and 2011 CG Reports. Improved ROEs and ROAs, plus better company 

management and performances should be strong incentives for good CG. 

 

However, no company in the sample group can be complacent as the best collectively still did not 

attain a score of 60%. The 25 firms with better CG scores achieved between 57.5% and 46.6%.  

Applying global best practices, companies with excellent CG practices should achieve a score of 

approximately 80%. However, in Vietnam no company was near achieving this.   

 

e. CG performance by industry 

 

The 100 largest listed companies were from nine of the 10 industry groups in the ICB Universe of 

Industry classifications. There is no telecommunications company in the largest 100 listed 

companies in Vietnam. The following chart indicates the industry classification of the companies in 

the sample of 100 listed companies. 

 

Chart 5: Industry distribution of the sample 

 

 
 

The average CG scores across industry groups show little variance (see chart below).   
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Chart 6: Industry groups and corporate governance performance 

 

 
 

In the reviewed companies, the financials industry comprised 45% of the total sample group. It was 

only 35% of the whole survey group in 2011. To get a more accurate look, it was determined to 

break down the financials industry grouping into subsets – banks, real estate and other financial 

services (see chart below).  

 

Chart 7: Financials industry and corporate governance 

 

 
 

Banks and other financial services have higher average CG scores than real estate, but not 

remarkably higher than other industries as might have been expected given the banking and 

financial sector’s tighter regulations and scrutiny. Banks are distinguished by the small dispersion 

of scores from a maximum of 50.4% to 41.3%. Nevertheless, the average CG scores of 45.8% for 

banks and 43.9% for other financial services suggest that these groups need to considerably improve 

their CG standards.  

 

f. CG performance by firm size 

 

The largest 25 companies by measurement of market capitalization of equity show a higher mean 

corporate governance score of 46.5% against 42.5% for all companies (see chart below). Better CG 

standards in larger firms may occur because as companies grow in size and complexity, additional 

corporate governance policies and practices may assist them in meeting legal requirements, better 

management and mitigating risk. The better CG scores may be reflective of the need to more strictly 

manage the complexity of these larger businesses.   
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Chart 8:  Relationship between CG and company size 

 

 
 

g. CG performance by ownership 

 

In the 25 firms with better CG scores, there is an average foreign ownership of 27.7%. ‘Ownership’, 

foreign or state, for this study is recognized if the shareholding is 5% and above and ‘absence of 

ownership’ is identified if the shareholding is below 5%.   

 

As the CG scores diminish, companies also demonstrated a reduced incidence of foreign ownership.  

The chart below shows that the 25 companies with the lowest CG scores have lower levels of 

foreign ownership of 11.7%. This relationship is statistically significant. Foreign ownership 

indicates a better chance of better CG relative to other companies. This may reflect the influence of 

foreign ownership demanding better CG practices or indeed it may reflect the fact that foreign 

investors target their investment into companies that already demonstrate better CG. The latter 

position is supported by investor studies that show they will pay a premium for investments in 

better-governed firms
6
. 

 

Chart 9: CG performance and foreign ownership 

 

 
 

If we undertake a similar analysis of companies that have state ownership levels of 5% or more, a 

different picture to that of foreign ownership emerges. State ownership does not demonstrate a 

significantly positive impact on corporate governance scores and on observed CG practices in such 

firms. Such a situation may exist as the state has a historic legacy ownership interest in companies 

                                                           
6  McKinsey, Quarterly August 2002, surveyed investors and found they would pay a premium to invest in well-governed firms.  This and other 

studies suggest the premium is between 10% and 30% for Asian emerging market firms.  
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that were once wholly state-owned. It does not have the luxury of a private investor with the ability 

to choose companies in which it has an interest. The study revealed that in 31% of all companies 

surveyed, the state has a majority ownership of 50% or more. This presents an opportunity for the 

state to influence CG practices in companies in which it has a majority stake. 

 

h. CG performance and board composition 

 

The study considered the impacts of certain characteristics of BODs and SBs to ascertain if these 

made a difference to observed corporate governance practices. 

 

Given the global pressures to increase the proportion of independent directors and representation of 

females on BODs, the review considered these two issues separately. To more closely examine the 

findings, we reviewed the 10 companies with best CG scores and compared the results with the 10 

companies with the lowest CG scores. The average CG score for the top 10 companies was 52.5% and 

the average CG score for the bottom 10 companies was 29.4%. The chart below reflects the findings.  

 

Vietnamese law requires listed firms to have at least one-third of BOD members to be non-

executives to ensure the ‘independence’ of the board
7
. This can lead to confusion regarding 

terminology on the part of companies between ‘non-executive’ directors and ‘independent’ 

directors. The two are not the same. The new CG Guidance issued during 2012 is much clearer on 

the distinction between non-executive directors and independent directors
8
. 

 

Some companies separately identified ‘independent’ directors from non-executive directors.  The 

application of the definition of ‘independence’ was carefully checked. Where a higher proportion of 

independent directors was observed, better CG was also observed and vice versa. The 10 firms with 

the top CG scores have over 22% of their board members as independent directors. Independent 

directors are expected to challenge strategic thinking in the company and the assumptions made by 

the board and management in a robust manner, and to ensure the protection of all shareholders, 

especially minority ones. 

 

Also, firms with good CG performances have a higher proportion of non-executive directors on the 

board (69.2%), whereas firms with the lowest observable CG practices have fewer non-executive 

directors (61.7%).   

 

Chart 10: Relationship between CG scores and the proportion of independent, non-executive and 

female directors 

 

 

                                                           
7  Vietnamese law and corporate governance regulations in 2011 did not distinguish between’ non-executive’ and ‘independent’ directors.  

Independent directors are mandated only for financial institutions. 

8  In global best practices, an independent director is one capable of independent, objective judgments in his/her decision-making and who is not 

conflicted. 
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i. CG performance and debt 
 

The firms with better CG scores had only marginally lower leverage levels at 51.4% than the firms 

with the poorest CG scores (52%). The 50 firms with middling CG scores had higher leverage 

levels than those firms with the poorest scores at 52.3%. In summary, there is no consistent trend. 
    
The optimum debt levels in an entity depend on industry and firm specific factors. Such factors that 

may influence debt levels are the industry in which a firm operates, the stage of the company in its 

life cycle, stability of income and so forth. Boards and management should assess the 

appropriateness of company debt levels, consider and compare the company’s own debt levels with 

other similarly sized firms in the industry. If a company has higher debt levels, it should reflect on 

whether there is a good reason for this, such as a particular strategy the firm is adopting, the line of 

business it is in, or a stage of the company’s development. The company should also consider the 

quality and realizability of assets it has to cover debt levels. 

   

The debt levels (as shown by the Debt to Equity Ratio
9
) across various industries in Vietnam are 

noted in the table below. 

 

Table 3: Debt to Equity Ratio by Industry
10

 

 

Industry Max Mean Min 

Basic Materials 2.32 0.92 0.10 

Consumer Goods 2.91 1.05 0.25 

Consumer Services 1.07 0.65 0.23 

Financials (broken down into subsets)    

• Banks 22.50 11.73 5.99 

• Real Estate 3.30 1.36 0.17 

• Other financials 11.31 1.65 0.02 

Healthcare 0.43 0.43 0.43 

Industrials 6.29 1.99 0.11 

Oil & Gas 2.43 1.84 0.97 

Technology 2.78 1.34 0.16 

Utilities 3.00 1.16 0.05 

   

Banks are a special case when considering debt/equity ratios. Bank debt/equity ratios are expected 

to be higher than in other industries as demonstrated in the table. But, how high should these ratios 

be? The United States Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) likes to see a debt/equity ratio 

for banks of about 10:1. However, the FDIC guide levels should be cautiously considered as the 

United States has a different banking market than Vietnam. 

 

To interpret the figures shown in the table, listed banks on average have $11.73 of debt for every 

$1.00 of equity. However some banks are more exposed and have $22.50 of debt for every $1 of 

equity. The higher the exposure, the more important the quality of the bank loans becomes. A sound 

estimate and report of non-performing loans in banks and robust pre-loan credit assessments are 

important. 

                                                           
9  Debt/Equity = Total liabilities to total equity. 

10  The ‘financials’ industry is broken down into three further categories – banks, real estate and other financials in order to more clearly see the 

different ratios in the different industries. 
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j. CG performance of VN-30 Index 

 

In 2012, the HOSE and HNX determined to establish a separate index to sit beside the VN-Index.  

In the case of the HOSE, it announced the establishment of the VN-30 Index in February, 2012.  

The VN-30 Index is a free-float adjusted, market cap-weighted index of 30 stocks that have the 

highest market capitalization and liquidity on the HOSE. They make up 80% of the HOSE's market 

capitalization and 60% of its turnover. However, they represent only 10.5% of the total firms listed 

on the HOSE.  

 

The VN-30 likely will best reflect the supply-demand relationship in the market and should help 

reduce or eliminate price manipulation, often found in low liquidity stocks. 

 

The VN-30 Index stocks (see Appendix) as of April 1, 2012 represented nine industry groups and 

were selected on the criteria of market capitalization, free-float rate and liquidity. This move is in 

line with similar actions across ASEAN in a step to create an homogeneous ASEAN capital market.  

The study reviewed the CG levels of these VN-30 companies and the chart below shows that the 

VN-30 Index had better average observed CG practices than the 70 other remaining companies in 

our review sample. Of particular interest is the VN-30 Index shows a smaller dispersion of CG 

scores with fewer companies in the index with very low CG scores. The index companies with 

higher capitalization and liquidity also have better CG. This trend is in line with the earlier finding 

that larger companies by market cap tend to have better CG standards than the average of all the 

100 reviewed companies.   

 

Chart 11:   CG Performance and the VN-30 Index 

 

 
 

Conclusions and Recommendations 

 

Given that the review of the 100 largest companies listed on the two Vietnamese stock exchanges 

indicates a regression in the application of good corporate governance principles, it can only be 

concluded that the companies themselves are not playing their part in developing a quality market 

for investment in Vietnam.  

 

This regression is despite a regulatory framework for good CG being in place and the authorities 

having actively developed the right instruments in recent years to allow for better corporate 

governance. In 2010 a Law on Credit Institutions was issued. Following the issuance of Circular 

09/2010, a new Circular on disclosure was enacted in April, 2012 (MOF Circular 52/2012) and 

updated CG Guidelines were issued in July, 2012 (MOF Circular 121/2012). All these regulatory 

developments will pose an increased challenge for companies in Vietnam with poor CG. As the bar 
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is raised again, companies must make greater efforts to understand what makes for good CG and 

apply these standards. 

 

For three years now, all CG Scorecard Reports have highlighted that CG developments in Vietnam 

have been  ‘top down’ and led by the legal framework and regulatory actions, and the market has 

been waiting for companies to become aware and take on their responsibilities. As this approach has 

failed to spark much change from companies, it is time to focus on mechanisms that encourage 

movement from companies.   

  

Recommendations  

 

It is difficult to single out a few priorities for action as there are many opportunities arising from the 

Scorecard findings. However, a major conclusion is that if a company applies good CG practices, it 

will lead to improved company performance.   

 

Of the recommendations below, some are short-term and other recommendations have a longer 

timeframe. However, all are considered important and suitable for attention in Vietnam now.   

 

Regulator Led Developments 

 

1. Regulators should provide relevant guidance for companies on the implementation of corporate 

governance practices, especially the implementation of MOF Circular  121/2012. For example, 

best practice guidance would be useful on independent directors, the role of audit committees, 

board nomination practices, the role of a company secretary, internal audit and internal 

controls, related party transactions policies and what information may be considered as 

‘material’ and should be released to shareholders and the investor public.   

 

2. Regulators should build the skills, capacity and resources to equip them to actively monitor, 

enforce and guide quality CG in markets in a timely manner.   

 

3. Of particular importance is regulatory monitoring of the market, financial disclosures to the 

market and the enforcement of disclosure and transparency requirements. Regulators should 

report enforcement actions to the public. 

 

4. The quality of financial and non-financial reporting from Vietnamese companies needs to 

improve and the early adoption of all current International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRSs and IASs) as VAS is recommended to assist the quality and comparable financial 

information in Vietnamese companies. 

 

5. Regulators should require auditors’ attestations of their independence and promote the role of 

auditors as independent reviewers of financial statements.   

 

6. Circular 121/2012, requires increased training of BODs and SBs. Regulators should require 

intensive corporate governance training of all directors at the time of a company’s listing.  All 

CG training should be reported in the Annual Report.  

 

7. Regular board and SB evaluations should be required and reported on. 

 

8. The state, as a major shareholder in the Vietnamese securities market, needs to become a 

‘champion’ of better corporate governance.  

 

Institution Strengthening 

 

9. An institution should be established to develop and support quality CG in Vietnam.  An 

Institute of Directors or a Center of Corporate Governance promoting CG best practices should 

be established. 
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10. The development and provision of quality CG training programs for directors and senior 

management is necessary. 

 

11. The state should ‘champion’ good CG practices and demand it from companies in which it has 

a major shareholding through application of the OECD SOE Corporate Governance 

Guidelines. 

 

12. The accounting and audit professional standards and practices in Vietnam need to be improved 

to provide relevant, reliable, timely information on all material company financial matters to 

investors.      

 

Private Sector Developments 

 

13. This review shows that companies should focus on implementing best corporate governance 

practices in three important areas: 

• The responsibilities of the board 

• Disclosure and transparency 

• The equitable treatment of shareholders and their inclusion in company affairs. 

 

14. Companies must improve the quality of information they disclose to shareholders and the 

wider investor community. They should provide a comprehensive and clear picture of company 

performance, company strategies and risks and of BOD and SB activities and meeting 

attendance.   

 

15. Each company should develop and apply a company Code of Ethics/Conduct and CG Code, 

endorsed by all directors and made available on the company website. 

 

16. The new company secretary role should be viewed as an internal gatekeeper for good corporate 

governance. Individuals appointed within companies for this role should be supported by the 

board and report corporate governance matters to the board. 

 

17. Companies should ensure that all activities of an audit committee in global best practices are 

undertaken. The establishment of an Audit Committeee is recommended. 

 

18. A CG and Nomination Committee should also be established to ensure better CG, quality 

board appointments, a transparent appointment process  and ensure BOD succession planning. 

 

19. Companies should review their Articles of Association to ensure there are no conflicts between 

the Articles and legislation, regulations and the new CG Guidelines. 

 

20. BODs should increase engagement in the oversight and reporting of company risks and 

particularly in ensuring the establishment of a framework, policies and processes for an 

appropriate control environment, including the establishment of an Internal Audit unit. 

 

21. Companies should be responsive to expectations of company approaches to environmental, 

social and governance and the reporting thereon and of corporate responsibility. 

 

22. Companies should be encouraged to provide better and fuller information to shareholders and 

to the market, improve their AGM policies and practices so fuller participation of shareholders 

at the AGM is facilitated, and provide AGM information in a more timely manner.  Better 

disclosure and transparency from companies are required. 
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23. Companies should establish a functioning Investor Relations unit that ensures proper and 

equitable provision of information. The Investor Relations website portal should include 

current information and provide current, comprehensive information for investors. 

 

24. The Vietnam Banking Association (VNBA) may consider undertaking a separate corporate 

governance scorecard for banks that may better address issues specific to banks, focused on 

bank board composition and remuneration, strategy and especially on bank risk (credit risk, 

counterparty risk, corporate borrower exposures, liquidity, non-performing loans and anti-

money laundering policies) and risk oversight.   

 

25. Shareholders, especially the state as shareholder, should take a more participatory role in the 

CG of their companies, especially in the review and appointment of the external auditor, in 

requiring provision of information on the background of BOD nominees and in the quality of 

reporting they receive from the BOD and SB.  They should attend and actively participate in 

the AGM. 

 

26. Private sector parties, such as banks, other lenders and institutional investors should 

incorporate client company demands for good CG implementation. The media should promote 

awareness of the benefits of good corprate governance where possible.    
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C. Research Methodology 

 
a. Benchmarks and Basis of Assessment 

 

The OECD Corporate Governance Principles are the globally accepted benchmark for corporate 

governance.  Behind these Principles stands the Methodology for Assessing the Implementation of 

the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance. Whilst this methodology is normally applied at the 

national level, thematic issues and essential criteria that are considered in the Methodology are also 

applicable at the company level and have been used in the development of this scorecard 

questionnaire. 

 

This scorecard report has also taken into consideration other regional CG benchmarks – the ASEAN 

Corporate Governance Scorecard, released in March 2012 and the ACGA-CLSA CG Watch, issued 

in 2010 and again in 2012. 

 

The OECD Methodology and the Vietnamese corporate governance environment form the basis of 

the Vietnam Scorecard. 

 

The assessment of each company is based on reliable and externally available information, 

company data and documents; information that is publicly available to a current or potential 

investor.  Relevant information is information which an investor may use to judge to invest, divest 

or hold the investment. Information sources include the company’s annual report, financial 

statements, corporate governance reports, public and regulatory filings filed with the regulator and 

the stock exchange, notices for the AGM, reports on results of AGM, AGM minutes, Articles of 

Association, and company website materials. 

 

It is important that corporate governance principles and concepts are not just accepted at the 

conceptual level - a ‘compliance’ or ‘box-ticking’ approach is not sufficient.  The assessment is 

about establishing from a ‘reasonably well informed person’ point of view as to whether corporate 

governance concepts are applied in practice in the company.  These practices are ‘observed’. 

Consistent with this ‘external investor’ perspective, raters have been chosen for their business 

knowledge and trained in corporate governance and are capable to make relevant judgments.  

 

Caveat: 

 

There are ‘pros’ and ‘cons’ to a corporate governance rating system.  No corporate 

governance rating system, such as this one, can totally and accurately predict the level of real 

corporate governance within a company.  This can only really be interpreted from an inside 

view; a view of the board as it goes about its business.  This scorecard, therefore, captures 

only what is evident and released to the public and that is reflected in available documentary 

filings.  As such the outcome may not be as finely tuned and informative as if the rating had 

been undertaken internally with the benefit of internal specific company knowledge. 

   

The scorecard approach is valuable. The current approach uses both quantitative and qualitative 

methods based on reliable data sources and an unbiased rating process. Qualitative information is 

reviewed according to expressed and agreed criteria thus ensuring reliable and consistent 

judgments. The process uses independent evaluators representing outside investors who have been 

trained in corporate governance, in the philosophy of the scorecard and in the assessment process.  

It is not dependent on company co-operation. It is an exercise designed to be undertaken by 

independent consultants and raters, who are independent of the companies involved and of stock 

exchanges and regulators. 
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The major categories utilized as a basis for the scorecard assessment of company corporate 

governance are those recognised by the OECD Principles
11

 as the keys to good corporate 

governance: 

 

• The rights of shareholders; 

• Equitable treatment of shareholders; 

• Role of stakeholders in corporate governance; 

• Disclosure and transparency; and 

• The responsibilities of the board. 

 

OECD Principle I ‘Ensuring the basis for an effective corporate governance framework’ which 

requires: “... the corporate governance framework should promote transparent and efficient markets, 

be consistent with the rule of law and clearly articulate the division of responsibilities among 

different supervisory, regulatory and enforcement authorities ...”
12

 is not dealt with in this scorecard.  

This is not considered here as it is not a role of company corporate governance but rather more an 

issue for governments and regulators. 

 

The corporate governance scorecard methodology initially was applied in Germany.  However, 

many corporate governance scorecards in Asia have followed an approach initially agreed by the 

Institute of Directors East Asia Network (IDEA.net) that encourages some comparability between 

Asian corporate governance systems. Both rely on the leadership of the OECD Principles and 

Methodology for Assessment and local corporate governance issues as a basis for scorecards. 

ASEAN countries are in the process of developing and applying one style of corporate governance 

assessment across all ASEAN countries. This should provide direct comparability. 

 

The approaches used in the structure and methodology of the Vietnam Scorecard are cognisant of 

the OECD methodology and of available and successful scorecard approaches. This scorecard is 

also reflective of learning from these methodologies. We focus not only on the various CG rules and 

regulations in the Enterprise Law, Securities Law, listing rules and CG Guidelines but also on the 

application of those rules in the companies. 

 

Therefore, the specific Vietnam Scorecard has been constructed with questions that reflect the 

OECD Principles, Annotations and Assessment Methodology and specific corporate governance 

legal and regulatory frameworks in Vietnam
13

, especially Vietnam’s CG Regulations issued through 

MOF’s Decision 12/2007/QD-BTC, hereafter referred to as CG Regulations. Where applicable, 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and International Standards on Auditing (ISA) 

are also considered. 

 

Vietnam law and regulations require a two-tier board / corporate governance structure which is 

similar to that developed in China and which is unlike the two-tier system of either Germany or that 

of Indonesia. Importantly the Vietnam Scorecard has considered the current strengths and 

weaknesses evident in corporate governance practices in Vietnam and in Vietnamese companies 

and incorporated these into the Scorecard.  

                                                           
11  OECD Principles of Corporate Governance, amended in 2004, are an international benchmark for policy makers, investors, corporations and 

other stakeholders worldwide.  They continue to advance the corporate governance agenda and provide relevant guidance for non-OECD as 

well as OECD countries.  “Corporate governance is seen as one key element in improving economic efficiency and growth as well as 
enhancing investor confidence”. 

12  OECD, Principles of Corporate Governance, OECD 2004, Paris. 

13  The Scorecard has been informed by the key legislative and regulatory instruments impacting corporate governance in Vietnam, including, the 
Law on Securities,  Decree 14/2007/ND-CP relating to implementing the Law on Securities, the Law on Enterprise, Decree 102/2010/ND-CP 

guiding the implementation of the Law on Enterprise, Decision 15/2007/QD-BTC on the promulgation of the Model Charter, Circular 

09/2010/TT-BTC on disclosure in the securities market, Decision 12/2007/QD-BTC on the regulations of corporate governance applying to 
listed companies on the Stock Exchange and other relevant documents.  Some sectors are subject to specific regulations.  (For example the 

banking sector is subject to Decision 59/2009/ND-CP, Decision 36/2006/QD-NHNN and Decision 37/2006/QD-NHNN).  These specific 

regulations are not included in this scorecard. 
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Evidence of Vietnam’s strengths and weaknesses in corporate governance comes from: 

 

• The World Bank ROSC Corporate Governance Country Assessment – June 2006 

• Vietnam contributions to the OECD stock take of corporate governance related developments 

and progress in Asia – February 2010 

• A professional review of corporate governance with key market regulators and participants – 

2010 

• Two previous annual Corporate Governance Scorecards for Vietnam undertaken in 2010 and 2011 

• The World Bank ‘Doing Business Report 2012’ on Vietnam, particularly the section on 

‘Protecting Investors’. 

• Other relevant available reviews and surveys and public press. 

 

b. Scorecard Methodology 

 

i) Reviewed companies and period 

 

This scorecard corporate governance review surveys the 100 largest publicly listed companies, 

listed on the Hanoi Stock Exchange (HNX) and the Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange (HOSE), at 1 

January 2011. Collectively these companies represent more than 80% of the total market 

capitalization in Vietnam. Of a total of 652 listed companies on the HOSE and HNX, the selected 

100 companies comprise 80 listed on HOSE and 20 listed on HNX. This company selection broadly 

reflects the relative contributions of each stock exchange to the total market in Vietnam. 

 

The Scorecard takes the view that by the fact of listing on the stock exchange, companies have a 

public obligation to adhere to the law and regulations and also to aspire to good corporate 

governance practices, beyond compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. Therefore, the 

date of initial public offering (IPO) and the fact that companies may be only recently listed or may 

be small companies is not considered relevant. Recent listing and small size may explain a poorer 

level of corporate governance but will not excuse it. 

 

Also, some sectors in Vietnam, in particular, the banking and financial services sector and state-

owned entities, may be subject to additional corporate governance requirements. These are not 

addressed in this scorecard questionnaire through specific questions. Their particular issues may 

well be addressed in future iterations of the scorecard. 

 

The scorecard is not reviewing only adherence to Vietnamese law and regulations. That is the 

proper role of Vietnamese regulators. Corporate governance information to be reviewed will be 

assessed under a combination of OECD recommended good practices and the law and regulation in 

place in Vietnam as at 31 December 2011. To the extent law and regulations are changing and 

better practices are being introduced, early adherence to these better practices is considered. 

 

ii) Data 

 

The data collection was based on a wide variety of publicly available information. These include: 

the company’s annual report and financial report as disclosed at 31 December 2011, HNX and 

HOSE filings, State Securities Commission (SSC) filings, minutes of meetings, especially AGM 

minutes, AGM documents, Articles of Association, company websites, public media and other 

sources of public information as available. A company may undertake good corporate governance 

practices but not report them. In such cases, the company CG score may be understated. In this 

respect this report is unapologetic. Transparency and disclosure are key to the investment decision 

and investors are looking for and at corporate governance information. They want to know how a 

company is governed. 
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iii) Areas / Categories 

 

The scorecard instrument categories and sequence has been developed based on international 

standards as set out in the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance which encompass five key 

areas / categories for assessment, as discussed earlier. 

 

These major categories are similar to those used in several other Asian jurisdictions and may allow 

some future broad corporate governance comparison with these jurisdictions. However, such future 

comparisons will be constrained by the fact that corporate governance is set in specific national 

legal and regulatory frameworks. The questionnaire and its rating criteria encompass this local legal 

and regulatory environment. 

 

The assessment will cover the different aspects of company corporate governance practices.  

However these are inevitably linked and closely related. Therefore one assessment 

question / criteria may well be equally appropriate in another category of assessment. The guide for 

current location in the scorecard has been the emphasis in the OECD Principles of Corporate 

Governance. 

 

iv) Weighting of Areas / Categories 

 

Weighting practices have varied across jurisdictions when a scorecard system of corporate 

governance analysis is established.  Weightings may be applied to individual questions and / or to 

groups of questions.  It was determined for the Vietnam scorecard that weighting should be applied 

only to areas / categories or groups of questions and that the relative weightings should take account 

of the particular strengths and weakness of Vietnam’s corporate governance practices. 

 

Agreed weighting of scored areas / categories, summing to a total of 100%, are: 

 

Category Number of Questions % of total score 

The rights of shareholders 21 15 

Equitable treatment of 

shareholders 
18 

20 

Role of stakeholders in corporate 

governance 
8 

5 

Disclosure and transparency 32 30 

The responsibilities of the board 31 30 

Total 110 100 

 

Such a weighting process can be applied also to questions within each area. It was determined that 

in the Vietnam Scorecard all questions within a specific weighted area would be scored and have 

equal value. However each area has different numbers of questions that address the relevant issues 

related to the area.  

 

v) Evaluation Method 

 

Each company rating will have a ‘check and balance’ system applied and a strict methodology for 

each company assessment. Each evaluation will be cross-checked by senior experienced members 

of the rating team to ensure accuracy, consistency and a reliable CG evaluation. The goal is to 

minimize assessor subjectivity throughout the process. 

   

It was further determined that the quality of corporate governance practices referred to in each 

question should be recognised on three levels, utilising the terminology of the OECD Principles 

Assessment Methodology: 
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• Observed good practices (the highest level of CG practice) – 2 points 

• Partially observed good practices (the median level of CG practice and which would require at 

least fulfilment of Vietnamese laws and regulations) - 1 point 

• Not observed, deficient, missing or non-compliant practices (the lowest level of CG practice) – 

zero points. 
 

Some questions do require a more limited ‘yes’/ ‘no’ or ‘no’/’yes’ response. In these circumstances, 

2 points are awarded for a positive response and zero points are awarded for a negative response.  

Further, some questions may depend on a pre-conditioning event occurring. If such an event does 

not occur or is not evident, then no marks will be awarded on that question and the total for that 

particular company will be reduced. Each company will be scored on every relevant question 

provided for in the questionnaire. 

 

It is important to note that if information is not observable through publicly available materials, the 

question will be scored accordingly, rated as ‘not observed’ and zero points will be awarded. 

 

The specific selected terminology used in this scorecard (‘observed’, ‘partially observed’ etc.) 

recognizes that the observation of good corporate governance practice may or may not result in 

good corporate governance practices. Indeed companies may have in place good corporate 

governance practices that are not reflected in the available information.  

  

It is expected that a company ‘recognised for good corporate governance’ based on global practices 

will score in the 65% to 75% range, or higher. 

 

vi) Scoring and Total Weighted Score 

 

Given the above determinations, to reach a total individual company weighted score, the following 

calculation occurred. 

A. Each question in each subject area was assessed and all questions scores totalled. 

B. The sum of all the questions in the subject area (arrived at in A) was divided by the total 

score possible for all questions to give a percentage value for that subject area. 

C. The result in B was multiplied by the total area weighting to give a % for the company for 

that particular area. 

D. All weighted % scores across all five areas were totalled.  

 

vii) Final Company Scores 

 

The scorecard will facilitate the grouping of companies into broad outcomes of ‘excellent’, ‘good’, 

‘fair’, ‘needs improvement’  corporate governance categories. A ‘excellent’ rating would result in a 

company score of 75% and above; a ‘good’ rating would result in a score of between 65% and 74%; 

a ‘fair rating would result in a rating of between 50% and 64%; a ‘needs improvement’ rating would 

result in a rating below 50%. 
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D. Analysis 

 
The 2012 review has the opportunity to reflect on the progress of corporate governance in Vietnam 

over a period of three years. In that time there have been developments in the regulations applying 

in Vietnam. Yet, disappointingly, there has been little movement and take-up in companies. No 

company can be complacent as all CG scores were below 60%, with an average score across all 

companies of 42.5%. In similar, but not identical, CG Scorecards in Asia, other average scores are 

much higher – for example, Thailand in 2011 – 77%;  Hong Kong in 2009 - 73%; Philippines in 

2008 - 72%. 

 

a. Overall results 

 

The scorecard review examined a total of 100 listed companies, as listed on the Hanoi Stock 

Exchange (HNX) and the Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange (HOSE) at January 1, 2011 (see attached 

List of Companies, Appendix G). Collectively these companies represent more than 80% of the 

total market capitalization in Vietnam. The 25 largest companies by market capitalization have a 

market capitalization of between VND 48,104 billion and VND 2,670 billion while 75% of the 

reviewed companies are quite small by market capitalization. 20 companies are listed on the HNX 

and 80 companies are listed on the HOSE. 

 

The overall CG performance in each sub-category is reflected in the table below and graphically 

represented in the chart below. There are negative trends in the overall scores and in each separate 

area in 2011 against 2010 results. Overall, the gains made in 2010 have been reversed.   

 

Table 4: Overall corporate governance performances 2009, 2010 and 2011 

 

 

There are a number of potential reasons for this step backwards. In 2011, Vietnam was suffering 

from an economic downturn, business was less vibrant and companies were generally in a cost 

reduction mode. Annual reports were also less expansive perhaps due to challenging conditions 

and/or to mask poor results.  It was evident that companies provided less information and company 

disclosure declined, particularly in regard to board and SB activities. Area D, Disclosure and 

Transparency, declined by 3.1% compared to 2010’s results. Reported information was generally 

lighter and more superficial than previously observed. This reduces the CG score in relation to 

transparency.   

Mean Minimum Maximum

2009
%

2010
%

2011
%

2009
%

2010
%

2011
%

2009
%

2010
%

2011
%

Overall CG
performance 43.9 44.7 42.5 20.5 29.3 17.4 60.9 58.6 57.5

Area A – Rights of
shareholders 46.8 48.5 47.0 2.4 19.3 11.9 78.6 74.0 73.8

Area B – Equitable
treatment of
shareholders

65.1 61.0 57.8 25.0 39.0 13.9 86.1 78.0 80.6

Area C – Role of
stakeholders 29.2 29.4 22.7 6.3 0.0 6.3 68.8 68.0 62.5

Area D – Disclosure
and transparency 39.4 43.2 40.1 15.6 24.3 21.7 62.5 61.3 60.0

Area E –
Responsibilities of
the board

35.3 36.1 35.9 11.3 17.7 9.7 53.2 55.0 54.8
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In particular, information related to stakeholders was noticeably poorer. Area C declined by a 

significant 6.7% against 2010’s results. In more difficult economic times companies seemed to not 

consider or not do as much as previously for employees, the environment, and the community, and 

in relation to working conditions, health and safety. They certainly reduced reporting on these 

activities.   

 

Furthermore in 2011, the SSC was more active in visibly monitoring and enforcing regulations and 

announcing violations to the market. As a result, more negative information about companies was 

available.  Regulatory challenges to related party transactions and to financial statement information 

were evident.  Again this lessens the CG scores overall. 

     

A review of 25 companies new to the Scorecard 2012 showed that they underperformed the average 

score, particularly in Area D and Area E.  These companies average CG score was 38.7%, against 

the overall average of 42.5% for 100 companies, and less than the average CG score of 43.8% for 

the remaining 75 companies reviewed last year. 22 of the 25 companies were newly listed and they 

seemed ill-prepared for the responsibilities that come with listing, particularly in awareness of 

corporate governance practices, adherence to stricter reporting requirements and in understanding 

and fulfilling expected board responsibilities. 

 

Investors have now to face the fact that CG in Vietnam is more evident in the rules than in 

application and implementation and there may be real risks in investing in such an environment. 

 

The overall corporate governance performances of reviewed companies indicate efforts to 

implement elements of good corporate governance have slipped back. Vietnam is not alone in this.  

In Asia generally, the ACGA-CLSA CG Watch 2012 comments on slippages in companies’ CG 

practices
14

. However, the global pressure and expectation is to pick up the pace of CG reform rather 

than slip back. The OECD in 2011, through its Asian Roundtable, developed and published Reform 

Priorities in Asia: Taking Corporate Governance to a Higher Level. Two of the key priorities were 

that “all jurisdictions should strive for active visible and effective enforcement of corporate 

governance laws and regulations” and that “the quality of disclosure should be enhanced and made 

in a timely and transparent manner”
15

. 

 

Chart 12: Overall results in corporate governance areas – 2011 

 

 
 

                                                           
14   ACGA-CLSA, CG Watch 2012 – Tremors and Cracks, Hong Kong, 2012. 

15  OECD, Reform Priorities in Asia: Taking Corporate Governance to a Higher Level, OECD, Paris, 2011. 
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In assessing the overall results the mean or average results are used. Area A on the Rights of 

Shareholders and Area B on the Equitable Treatment of Shareholders declined 1.5% and 3.2% 

respectively against 2010.  

 

In areas where greater interpretation or discretion is permitted, good CG practices were often not 

well implemented. Area C - the Role of Stakeholders declined a substantial 6.7%. In other 

comparable CG scorecards in Asia (e.g. Thailand and Indonesia), Area C is awarded 15% rather 

than the 5% in this scorecard. These countries are more advanced in the application of the corporate 

responsibility principles. If 15% weighting was applied to this scorecard, the mean score for 

Vietnamese companies would be lower again.  

    

Vietnamese companies do not show evidence they consider wider stakeholder groups and issues.  

Issues such as employees’ health and safety and benefits do not seem to be considered. The 

environment also is barely considered. The lifeblood of quality markets is investor trust. Trust is 

built on openness and integrity. Area D assessing disclosure and transparency declined 3.1% despite 

stricter regulations on information disclosure (Circular 09/2010) being applied since early 2010.  

These results show that the regulators, the HNX, HOSE and the SSC must step up monitoring and 

enforcement activities in order to force a change of behaviour in companies.  

 

The maximum score in 2011 is 57.5% (2010 – 58.6%). Overall 27 companies achieve CG scores of 

below 40% with one company achieving the lowest score, an inglorious 17.4%. This company was 

newly listed in 2010. However this does not excuse it. It is a privilege to access the market and 

greater responsibility should be shown. Regulators may consider intensive and compulsory CG 

training for all directors of companies prior to listing. Care and attention to good CG practices is 

still not widely evident in Vietnam.  

 

A benchmark subjectively considered to reflect good corporate governance practices in a company 

would result in a total score is between 65% and 74%. Excellent CG practices would be expected to 

result in a score of 75% and above. Even though this is a subjective benchmark choice, it is based 

on knowledge of good practices internationally. For example the Asian Corporate Governance 

Association in its periodic corporate governance assessment considers an 80% adherence for ‘world 

class’ CG practices. No company in the Vietnam survey group achieved these levels. 

 

Most areas achieved a level of compliance of less than 50% (see the chart above), except Area B 

related to the equitable treatment of shareholders in which the average company achieved a 

relatively respectable level of 57.8% adherence. 

   

The public listed companies performed poorly on many measures of the responsibilities of the board 

(35.9% in Area E).  It seems deep commitment to good corporate governance is not yet established 

in Vietnam.  This is as it was in previous years. 

 

b. Comparison of corporate governance performance in 2009, 2010 and 2011 

 

The overall corporate governance performance is reflected in the table below. The mean or average 

score was marginally higher in 2010 than in 2009 by some 0.8%. In 2011, company scores have 

regressed to an average of 42.5%. The spread of CG scores has also reverted and there is a long tail 

of companies with below average scores. 
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Chart 13:  Overall CG performance in 2009, 2010 and 2011 
 

 
 

The area of biggest decline was in company role and stakeholders interfacing. The mean or average 

score in Area C declined 6.7%, underscoring that Vietnam is not moving with global expectation of 

higher consideration of stakeholder interests in their businesses, with greater expectation of care for 

their employees and the environment. 
   
Company approaches to disclosure and transparency declined 3.1%, after an initial improvement in 

2010 on the introduction of new disclosure requirements. Companies have dropped their standard of 

disclosure, preferring general and not comprehensive information being provided to the market.  

Investors are becoming increasingly intolerant of this approach. 
 

Importantly the minimum score also has fallen from 29.3% in 2010 to 17.3% in 2011. The increase 

in the standard deviation of all CG scores between 2010 and 2011 would indicate that the 

observance of publicly available materials of corporate governance practices is less concentrated 

and more varied across the sample of 100 companies. 
  
Table 5: Overall comparison of performance between 2009, 2010 and 2011 

 

 SAMPLE OF 100 FIRMS 

 CG 2009 CG 2010 CG 2011 

Mean 43.9% 44.7% 42.5% 

Maximum 60.9% 58.6% 57.5% 

Minimum 20.5% 29.3% 17.4% 

Std. Dev. 7.6% 5.6% 6.4% 

 

The table below indicates the number of firms in each score range in the 2010 and 2011 sample of 100 

largest listed companies. In 2010, 80% of firms achieved scores between 40% and 59%. In the 2011 

sample, this slipped to 73%. There were more firms in the 10% to 29% score range in 2011 than in 2010. 

 

Table 6: Comparison of number of firms in each score range 
 

 No. of firms in each score range 

CG score range 2009 2010 2011 

10% to 19% 0 0 1 

20% to 29% 7 1 3 

30% to 39% 14 19 23 

40% to 49% 59 61 62 

50% to 59% 19 19 11 

60% to 69% 1 0 0 

Total no. firms 100 100 100 

60,9% 58,6% 57,5% 

43,9% 44,7% 42,5% 

20,5% 
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17,3% 
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A regression analysis of each of the five OECD areas and the results of the review indicates that in 

Vietnam, Area E, the Responsibilities of the Board, and Area D, Disclosure and Transparency, have 

the greatest impact on the CG scores in 2011. Changes in these areas in particular will impact the 

observance of good CG practices. Area E dealing with Responsibilities of the Board has shown a 

small year on year decline in scores of 0.2%. However Area D dealing with Disclosure and 

Transparency declined by some 3.1% in the 2011 review, reversing a 3.8% improvement in 2010 

probably driven by the introduction in 2010 of the new Circular 09 in that year. 

 

c. Review of progression of previously reviewed companies  

 

In the sample of 100 companies reviewed this year, 75 companies were also reviewed in last year.  

This group of 75 companies showed deterioration in CG practices with a mean or average score of 

43.8% in 2011 against 45.0% in 2010.  In these companies, now accustomed to CG and the 

scorecard approach, the highest score in 2011 was 57.5% (2010 was 58.6%) and the lowest score in 

2011 in these 75 companies was 27.1% (2010 – 29.3%). A decline shows on all measures.  

However, when compared with the average score of all companies (42.5%) in 2011, these 75 firms 

had a higher average score of 43.8%.   

 

Chart 14: Comparison of overall CG performance of the 75 companies reviewed in 2011 & 2012 

Report 

 

 
 

There are 53 companies that have been reviewed in all three years the Vietnam Scorecard has been 

produced. In 2011 their average CG score is 44.1%, higher than the average CG score for all 

companies of 42.5%. Further the lowest CG score for the 53 companies is 32%, higher than the lowest 

scores for all companies. These 53 companies also did better than the average in 2010.  Whilst there 

has been a decline in the overall score of these 53 companies, there are fewer low scores and the 

lowest score of this group over the three years has steadily improved. This may indicate a slow 

progression in corporate governance in these companies – a glimmer of hope. It again points to the 

fact that with greater practice, more guidance, good CG practices improve, albeit slowly. 

 

d. CG and company performance 

 

Based on company financial information, the survey indicates that firms with better observed 

corporate governance practices or scores seem to demonstrate better performance. The 25 firms with 

the highest CG scores have higher return on equity (ROE) and return on assets (ROA) ratios than 

those in the bottom CG ranking (see chart below). This is consistent with findings in previous 

scorecards. 
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Chart 15: CG practices and performances (as measured by ROE and ROA ratios) 

 

 
 

Companies with better corporate governance scores with an average ROE of 17.2%, outstrip those 

with poorer corporate governance with an average ROE of 10.6% in the 50 companies with 

middling CG scores.  The 25 companies with the poorest CG scores had an average ROE of only 

1.2%. It is a similar picture when considering ROA ratios. These results are statistically significant 

and confirm a similar position presented in previous 2010 and 2011 Scorecard Reports. This signal 

should be most encouraging to firms. When companies question why they should work to improve 

CG practices, improved ROE and ROA and better company management and performance should 

be strong incentives. 

 

A review of the 10 companies with better CG scores confirms the connection between corporate 

governance and better company performance as presented in the table below.  

 

Table 7: Comparison between the 10 companies with the best CG score and the 10 companies with 

the lowest CG scores. 

 

CG Score Group 
Mean CG score 

% 

Mean ROA 

Ratio 

% 

Mean ROE 

Ratio 

% 

Exchange 

Top 10 companies 52.5 10.3 16.2 
HOSE – 9 

HNX – 1 

Bottom 10 companies 29.4 -0.3 -6.2 
HOSE – 8 

HNX – 2 

 

It can be seen that the 10 companies with better CG scores outperform the companies with poorer 

CG scores significantly, as measured by ROE and ROA.  ROE of the top 10 companies is 16.2%; 

the bottom 10 companies had negative ROE. It is a similar position with ROA ratios. The top 10 

companies with better CG scores had an average ROA of 10.3% and again the poorer companies 

had a negative average ROA. This should surely be an incentive for companies to implement good 

CG practices. Better company performance may be due to many factors but it does seem that CG is 

one such factor.   

 

In the 10 better companies, none are newly listed whereas in the 10 companies with the lowest CG 

scores, 4 are new to the survey group. Being a newly listed company or a small company is no 

excuse for poor corporate governance. Five in the top 10 are financials firms and 4 in the bottom 10 

are financials firms. It is a concern that 40% of the bottom 10 companies are financials firms, 

although this is representative of the weight of financials firms in the whole sample.  
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The ten companies with the best corporate governance practices achieved an average CG score of 

52.5%, whereas the average CG score of the bottom 10 companies was 29.4%, including the lowest 

score of 17.4%.   

 

No company in the sample group can be complacent. The best collectively still do not attain a score 

of 60%. Those 25 firms with better CG scores achieved scores between 57.5% and 46.6%.  

Applying global best practices, companies should achieve a score of approximately 80%. No 

company was near achieving this.   

 

There is still a long way to go. Again it is important to reiterate the caveat that, even in the 

companies with better scores, observable better corporate governance practices do not guarantee 

actual CG practices in the boardroom and that a failure of corporate governance may still occur.  

However quality CG does reduce the likelihood of company crises by ensuring good management, 

oversight and decision-making. 

 

e. CG performance by industry 

 

A company is classified into an industry based on the functions and activities disclosed in the 

company’s original listing prospectus.  The initial classification was then cross-checked with 

Vietstock, an information portal providing information on the Vietnam financial and securities 

market at www.vietstock.vn. 

 

The 100 largest listed companies were from nine industries.  There is no telecommunications 

company in the largest 100 listed companies in Vietnam.  The following chart indicates the industry 

classification of the companies in the sample of 100 listed companies. 

 

Chart 16: Industry distribution of the sample 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10 

14 

2 

45 

1 

16 

4 
5 3 

Industry Distribution 

Basic Materials

Consumer Goods

Consumer Services

Financials

Healthcare

Industrials

Oil & Gas

Technology

Utilities

http://www.vietstock.vn/


 

38

 

 

 

Table 8: Industry Analysis 

 

Business Sector
16

 
Number of 

companies in group 
Maximum% Average % Minimum% 

Financials 45 52.6 43.0 27.1 

Industrials 16 49.3 40.4 17.4 

Consumer goods 14 57.5 43.9 39.1 

Basic materials 10 56.4 43.7 23.1 

Technology 5 47.6 38.9 26.9 

Oil and gas 4 45.4 42.7 37.3 

Utilities  3 41.6 38.9 35.0 

Consumer services 2 45.0 42.0 39.0 

Healthcare 1 53.4 53.4 53.4 

Total companies 100 57.5 42.5 17.4 

 

The corporate governance scores vary across the diverse industry sectors, as presented in the table 

above. However the average scores across industries overall show little variance (see chart below). 

   

One company in the consumer goods industry achieved the highest score of 57.5% followed by one 

company in the healthcare industry which achieved a score of 53.4% overall. There is little 

difference in the average scores across industry groups. With the exception of the one healthcare 

company, average CG scores by industry spanned from 38.9% to 43.9%.   

 

Chart 17: Industry groups and corporate governance performance 

 

 
 

In the reviewed companies, the financials industry comprised  45% of the total sample group. It was 

only 35% of the whole surevy group in 2011 Scorecard. To get a more accurate look, it was 

determined to break down the financials grouping into subsets – banks, real estate and other 

financial services (see chart below).  

 

 

 

                                                           
16  The ‘telecommunications’ sector in Vietnam is not separately identified in this analysis as there was no telecommunications company in the 

100 largest listed companies. 
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Chart 18: Financials industry and corporate governance 

 

 
 

The financials industry
17

 achieved an average CG score of 43.0%, a decline from 44.8% achieved in 

the 2011 review.  Out of the 45 companies in the financials industry in 2012 survey, 16 are new to 

the survey, including two banks.  The average CG score of these 16 in the financials industry is 

40.14%. However grouped, companies new to the review process underperform the average of all 

companies (42.5%).  

 

The CG average score of all financials companies was not remarkably different to the other sectors.  

The banking and financial services industry is subject to closer scrutiny and tighter regulation than 

other industry groups and the survey was expected to show much better CG scores in this industry. 

  

However, when we break down the results for all financials industry to banks (8), real estate (23) 

and other financial services (14), both banks and other financial services have higher average CG 

scores than real estate but not remarkably higher than the other industries. Given the tighter 

regulations and scrutiny, banks are distinguished by the small dispersion of scores from a maximum 

of 50.4% to 41.3%. Nevertheless, the average CG scores of 45.8% for banks and 43.9% for other 

financial services in 2011 suggest that these groups need to considerably improve their CG 

practices. 

   

Banks are trusted with investments from depositors and it is in the public interest that they have 

very good CG.  Banks should have strong banking skills and experience represented on the board 

and should operate the bank in a safe and sound manner in the best interests of its shareholders and 

in a manner that protects its depositors.  Strong board oversight, quality risk management systems 

and internal controls are important to banks. 

   

Other financial services, comprising securities companies, insurance companies and finance and 

holding companies, have a wide dispersion of CG scores.  A company offering financial services 

with a CG score of 27.1% is a concern.  Regulators should work to ensure improvement in this area.  

The financial industry has a major influence on the economy and especially on financial stability in 

Vietnam.  Improvement of CG in this industry is a must. 

  

Of those companies with the 10 top and 10 lowest corporate governance scores, the industry 

representation was as follows: 

 

                                                           
17  The Financial industry, according to the Industry Classification Benchmark (ICB) 2008 applied in Vietnam, includes banks, securities 

companies, insurance companies, real estate and financial services (consumer finance and mortgage finance) companies. 
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Table 9: Industry sectors of Top 10 and Bottom 10 companies 

 

No. of 

firms 
Industry Sector of Top 10 

No. of 

firms 
Industry Sector of Bottom 10 

5 Financials 4 Financials 

3 Basic Materials 3 Industrials 

1 Healthcare 1 Basic Materials 

1 Consumer Goods 1 Technology 

  1 Utilities 
 

 

f. CG performance by firm size 

 

When one compares the CG scores of the largest companies, defined as the largest 25 companies by 

measurement of the market capitalization of equity, the mean corporate governance score is higher 

at 46.5% than the mean of all companies at 42.5% (see chart below). These large firms (the largest 

25 companies) have a market capitalization of between VND48,104 billion and VND2,670 billion.  

 

Chart 19: Relationship between CG and company size 

 

 
 

The chart above confirms that largest firms have a higher corporate governance score of a mean of 

46.5% and the middle sized and smaller firms have lower CG scores of 42.0% and 39.6% 

respectively. It should be noted that the smallest 25 firms in the study are quite small. 

 

Better CG practices in larger firms may occur because as companies grow in size and complexity, 

additional corporate governance policies and practices may assist them in meeting legal 

requirements, better management and mitigating risk. The better CG scores may be reflective of the 

need to more strictly manage the complexity of these larger businesses.  Also larger firms CG 

efforts may be influenced by a wider shareholder base, including perhaps foreign shareholders, 

and / or lender requirements with protective covenants. However mid-sized and smaller firms 

should apply good CG practices as this will help improve management, decision making and 

performance. 

 
g. CG performance by ownership 

 

This report reviews the relationship between ownership and corporate governance scores.  

‘Ownership’, foreign or state, for this study is recognised if the shareholding is 5% and above and 

‘absence of ownership’ is identified if the shareholding is below 5%.  
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In the 25 firms with better CG scores there is an average foreign ownership of 27.7%. As the CG 

scores diminish, companies also demonstrated a reduced incidence of foreign ownership. The chart 

below shows that the 25 companies with the lowest CG scores have lower levels of foreign 

ownership of 11.7%. This relationship is statistically significant. Foreign ownership indicates a 

better chance of better CG relative to other companies. This may reflect the influence of foreign 

ownership demanding better CG practices or indeed it may reflect the fact that foreign investors 

target their investment into companies that already demonstrate better CG. The latter position is 

supported by investor studies that show they will pay a premium for an investment in better - 

governed firms.
18

 

 

Chart 20: CG performance and foreign ownership 

 

 
 

If we undertake a similar analysis of companies that have state ownership levels of 5% or more, a 

different picture to that of foreign ownership emerges. State ownership, whilst it may be relatively 

high in some companies, does not demonstrate a significantly positive impact on corporate 

governance scores and on observed CG practices in such firms. Such a situation may exist as the 

state has a historic legacy ownership interest in companies that were once wholly state -owned. It 

does not have the luxury of a private investor with the ability to choose companies in which it has 

an interest. However, the state, as a major shareholder in the Vietnamese securities market, is 

expected to play a more active role or even leading role in application of good CG practices in 

companies where it has major shares. 

 

The study revealed that in 31% of all companies surveyed, the State has a majority ownership of 

50% or more. In some of these companies the CG score was good however across all companies 

with state ownership of more than 50%, there was no significant relationship to corporate 

governance observed. The state has an opportunity in these companies to demand a high level of 

CG in the interests of the people of Vietnam and to establish itself as a leader for good corporate 

governance. 

 

h. CG performance and board composition 

 

The study considered the impacts of certain characteristics of BODs and SBs to ascertain if these 

made a difference to observed corporate governance practices (see table below). 

 

 

                                                           
18  McKinsey, Quarterly August 2002, surveyed investors and found they would pay a premium to invest in well -governed firms.  This and other 

studies suggest the premium is between 10% and 30% for Asian emerging market firms.  

27,7% 

16,2% 

11,7% 

17,9% 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Top 25 firms 50 middle firms Bottom 25
firms

All firms

Foreign Ownership and CG 

Foreign
Ownership
Proportion



 

42

 

 

 

Table 10: Board characteristics – overall board characteristics 

 

 

Average 

BOD 

size 

Average 

SB size 

BOD 

average 

age 

SB 

average 

age 

No. of 

female 

on BOD 

No. of 

independent 

directors 

No. of non-

executive 

directors 

Top 25 CG 

scored firms 6.8 3.5 50.4 43.7 1.7 1.5 5.0 

Middle 50 CG 

scored firms 5.8 3.1 48.9 44.1 1.6 1.3 3.7 

Bottom 25 CG 

scored firms 6.3 3.4 48.0 42.6 1.5 1.3 4.0 

All firms 6.2 3.3 49.0 43.7 1.6 1.4 4.1 

 

The average size of a BOD in all firms is 6.2 persons. However in the top CG scored firms there are 

a higher number of 6.8 persons. This just may reflect earlier findings that firms with better CG 

scores tend to be larger and more complex and therefore may require more BOD members to handle 

the business of the company. The average size of a SB is 3.3 persons. The average age of BOD 

members is 49 and SB members are 43.7. None of these were significant findings and therefore do 

not influence the corporate governance score or practices to a great extent. 

 

Given the global trend to increase the proportion of independent directors and representation of 

females on BODs, the review considered these two issues separately. From the table above it can be 

seen there is a higher representation of females and independent directors on the BODs of the 25 

companies with better CG scores than in the 25 companies with the lowest CG scores. However, the 

difference in the case of the presence of females was not found to be significant. Therefore, in order to 

more closely examine the findings, we reviewed the 10 companies with best CG scores and compared 

the results with the 10 companies with the lowest CG scores. The chart below reflects the findings.  

 

Vietnamese law requires listed firms to have at least one- third of BOD members to be non-

executives to ensure the ‘independence’ of the board
19

. This can lead to confusion regarding 

terminology on the part of companies between ‘non-executive’ directors and ‘independent’ 

directors. The two are not the same. The new CG Guidance issued during 2012 is much clearer on 

the distinction between non-executive directors and independent directors
20

. 

 

Some companies separately identified ‘independent’ directors from non-executive directors. The 

application of the definition of ‘independence’ was carefully checked. This is important and the rating 

team were alert to the difference and applied the definition of independence as used by the IFC.  

 

Where a higher proportion of independent directors was observed, better CG was also observed and 

vice versa. The 10 firms with the top CG scores have over 22% of their board members as 

independent directors. Independent directors are expected to challenge strategic thinking in the 

company and the assumptions made by the board and management in a robust manner and to ensure 

the protection of all shareholders, especially minority ones. 

 

Non-executive directors may have a positive effect on observed CG as they may bring expertise, 

new ideas and contacts to the benefit of the company. Non-executive directors may also provide a 

counter balance, a check, on the power of executives operating on a daily basis within the firm.  

However, they can bring an outside view, not necessarily an independent view. 

 

                                                           
19  Vietnamese law and corporate governance regulations in 2011 did not distinguish between’ non-executive’ and ‘independent’ directors.  

Independent directors are mandated only for financial institutions. 

20  In global best practices, an independent director is one capable of independent, objective judgments in his/her decision-making and who is not 

conflicted. 
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Firms with good CG performance have a higher proportion of non-executive directors on the board 

(69.2%), whereas firms with the lowest observable CG practices have fewer non-executive directors 

(61.7%). The average CG score of the top 10 companies is 52.5%. The average CG score of the 

bottom 10 companies is 29.4%. 

 

Chart 21: Relationship between CG scores and the proportion of independent, non-executive 

and female directors 

 

 
 

The clarity of relationship seen with independent directors and non-executive directors cannot 

necessarily be said for female representation on BODs. The incidence of female BOD members 

does not, of itself, necessarily link to better corporate governance.  Our results were not significant 

and statistically inconclusive.  However, if we compare the 10 companies with better CG with the 

10 with the poorest CG, females are more evident in the better group. This is consistent with the 

view expressed last year that the effect of female representation on the BOD is hard to read and 

perhaps contribute to better CG. The results of the review may be skewed because of the very low 

incidence of females on BODs in Vietnam. However, females may be a good source of independent 

directors and, when they become more representative on BODs, a future review may produce 

different results.  

 

In conclusion, company corporate governance is linked to BOD composition and benefits from 

diversity of views and independence. 

 

i. CG Performance by exchange   

 

Of a total of 654 listed companies on the HOSE and HNX at 1 January 2011, some 369 are listed on 

the HNX and 285 are listed on the HOSE. The selected 100 companies comprise 80 listed on HOSE 

and 20 listed on HNX. The companies were selected on the basis of equity market capitalization; 

they are the 100 largest listed companies.   

The overall mean corporate governance scores of companies listed on the HOSE is marginally 

lower at 42.5% than those listed on the HNX at 42.7%. HOSE hosted 76% of the newly reviewed 

companies and HNX 24%. The highest individual company score was achieved by a company listed 

on the HOSE. HOSE companies comprise 76% of total companies with good corporate governance 

practices in the top CG quartile of 25 companies. 

  

j. CG performance and debt   

 

BODs are expected to ensure the sustainability of their company. Financial governance and debt 

management are elements of ensuring sustainability. In seeking to investigate any relationship 
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between debt levels and corporate governance, the review looked at company leverage ratios, 

(including leverage ratio, short-term debt ratio, long-term debt ratio, total debt ratio, debt to equity 

ratio
21

) and the relationship to companies’ corporate governance scores.  In line with our approach 

of using publicly available materials, we derived the information from the audited financial 

statements and we did not verify the quality of the assets or debts and company write off policies. 

 

The firms with better CG scores had only marginally lower leverage levels at 51.4% than the firms 

with the poorest CG scores (52%). The 50 firms with middling CG scores had higher leverage level 

than those firms with the poorest scores at 52.3%. In summary, there is no consistent trend.  

   

Chart 22: Debt and corporate governance  

 

 
 

The financing of firms, including debt levels, in different industries varies considerably.  The top 25 

companies with better CG scores come from a range of industries. 

 

The optimum debt levels in an entity depend on industry and firm specific factors. Such factors that 

may influence debt levels are the industry in which a firm operates, the stage of the company in its 

life cycle, stability of income and so forth. For example, companies in utilities industry and in the 

oil and gas industry tend to carry higher levels of debt as thay have long term projects in which they 

invest with longer lead times. Companies in services, for example consumer services, should have 

lower levels of debt. Boards and management should assess the appopriateness of company debt 

levels and compare the company’s  own debt levels with similar sized firms in a the industry. If a 

company has higher debt levels, it should consider whether there is a good reason for this, such as a 

particular strategy the firm is adopting, the line of business it is in or a stage of the company’s 

development.  The company should also consider the quality and realizability of assets it has to 

cover debt levels.  

  

In reviewing short term debt, the study considered the current ratio (current assets to current 

liabilities) and the level of accounts receivable as a proportion of short term debt. Again, there no 

conclusive link to good corporate governance was found. 

 

The debt (as shown by the Debt to Equity Ratio
22

) levels across various industries in Vietnam are 

noted in the table below. 

 

                                                           
21  Leverage ratio = Total liabilities/total assets; Short-term debt ratio = Short-term debt/total assets; Long-term debt ratio = Long-term debt/total 

assets; total debt ratio = (long-term debt +short-term debt)/ to total assets; Debt / Equity = Total liabilities to total equity. 

22  Debt / Equity = Total debt (short and long term debt) to total equity. 
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Table 11: Debt to Equity Ratio by Industries
24

 

 

Industry Max Mean Min 

Basic Materials 2.32 0.92 0.10 

Consumer Goods 2.91 1.05 0.25 

Consumer Services 1.07 0.65 0.23 

Financials (broken out into subsets)    

• Banks 22.50 11.73 5.99 

• Real Estate 3.30 1.36 0.17 

• Other financials 11.31 1.65 0.02 

Healthcare 0.43 0.43 0.43 

Industrials 6.29 1.99 0.11 

Oil & Gas 2.43 1.84 0.97 

Technology 2.78 1.34 0.16 

Utilities 3.00 1.16 0.05 

 

If a company wishes to gauge its debt levels in relation to its peers, an industry comparison is 

useful. The table above indicates both the average levels of debt funding (mean) and also the spread 

(maximum to minimum) in each industry in Vietnam. Too high a level of debt may expose an entity 

to the possibility of not being able to meet commitments as they fall due and ultimate bankruptcy.  

Levels of debt below the optimum may expose an entity to being a possible takeover target and / or 

it may underperform. Each firm has to consider the risk of both extremes in managing its debt.  

 

Banks are a special case when considering debt / equity ratios. The business of banking is to borrow 

at a lower rate and lend out at a higher rate, making a profit on the spread between interest rates. 

This means bank debt / equity ratios are expected to be higher than in other industries as 

demonstrated in the table.  But how high should these ratios be?  The United States Federal Deposit 

Insurance Corporation (FDIC) likes to see a debt / equity ratio for banks of about 10:1. However, 

the FDIC guide levels should be cautiously considered, as the United States has a different banking 

market than Vietnam. 

 

To interpret the figures shown in the table, listed banks on average have $11.73 of debt for every 

$1.00 of equity. However some banks are more exposed and have $22.50 of debt for every $1 of 

equity. The higher the exposure, the more important the quality of the bank loans becomes. A sound 

estimate and report of non-performing loans in banks and robust pre-loan credit assessments are 

important. 

 

In Vietnam and in the global press there have been statements concerning the level of bad debts 

built up over several years in Vietnamese banks.  

  

The figure reported by the State Bank’s Governor at the National Assembly’s session showed that 

the bad debts in 2012 accounted for 10 percent of the total outstanding loans of credit institutions.  

The SBV Banking Supervisory and Inspection Agency announced in a press conference on July 12, 

2012
25

 that the bad debt level was at 8.6% of total loans in the banking system at the end of March 

                                                           
2 ‘financials’ industry is broken out into three further categories – banks, real estate and other financials in order to more clearly see the 

different ratios in the different industries. 

4  The 

2 Nguyen Huu Nghia, “Thuc trang no xau cua cac to chuc tin dung Viet nam hien nay”, www.sbv.gov.vn, 12 Jul 2012.5  
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2012.  Fitch Ratings believes that bad debt levels in banks may be significantly understated; they 

may be much higher than stated.  This study did not assess the level of bank non-performing loans.   

 

The diversity of these estimates is a concern. If banks are operating in an environment of weakening 

economic growth, falling asset prices and companies are closing down, banks should make 

provision to ensure they hold sufficient quality assets to cover bad debts. In banking, trust and 

reputation mean a considerable amount. 

 

k. CG Performance of VN-30 Index  

 

In 2012, the HOSE and the HNX determined to establish a separate index to sit beside the VN-

Index. In the case of the HOSE, it announced the establishment of the VN-30 Index in February, 

2012. The VN-30 Index is a free-float adjusted, market cap-weighted index of 30 stocks that have 

the highest market capitalization and liquidity on the HOSE. They make up 80% of the HOSE's 

market capitalization and 60% of its turnover. However they represent only 10.5% of the total firms 

listed on the HOSE. 

  

The VN-30 likely will best reflect the supply-demand relationship in the market and should help 

reduce or eliminate price manipulation, often found in stocks of low liquidity. 

 

The VN-30 Index stocks (see Appendix as of 1 April, 2012) represent nine industries groups. They 

are selected on the criteria of market capitalization, free-float rate and liquidity. This move is in line 

with similar actions across ASEAN in a step to creating a homogenous ASEAN capital market.  

Therefore the study reviewed the CG standards of these VN-30 companies. The composition of the 

VN-30 Index of companies is expected to change according to changes in market cap and liquidity 

of the companies. This occurred in July 2012 and four new companies entered the Index and four 

were dropped from the Index. The list of 30 companies in a similar index from the HNX was not 

available at the time the review was undertaken. 

 

The chart below shows that the VN-30 Index had better average observed CG practices than the 70 

other remaining companies in our review sample. Of particular interest is the VN-30 Index shows a 

smaller dispersion of CG scores with fewer companies in the index with very low CG scores. The 

index companies with higher capitalization and liquidity also have better CG. This trend is in line 

with the earlier finding that larger companies by market cap tend to have better CG standards than 

the average of all the 100 reviewed companies. 

 

Chart 23:   CG Performance and the VN-30 Index 
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All the VN-30 Index companies have been reviewed in the Vietnam Scorecard Reports since 2009 

as presented in the chart below.  The CG history of the VN-30 Index indicates that companies in the 

newly proclaimed index have not improved their observed CG practices since 2009. When 

comparing 2009 scores with 2011 scores, there has been a slight decline in the observance of CG.  

The average score of all 30 companies has declined from 46.2% in 2010 to 43.6% in 2011. This 

could be for the reasons stated at the commencement of this section. 

 

Chart 24:  VN-30 CG Scores 2009 to 2011 

 

 

  

57,4% 58,6% 57,5% 

46,4% 46,2% 
43,6% 

24,0% 

34,9% 
32,0% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

CG2009 CG2010 CG2011

 Maximum

 Mean

 Minimum



 

48

 

 

 

E. Specific findings 

 
The information in this section of the report will focus down on areas highlighted by individual 

questions and give an indication of areas that are well implemented and others that require 

improvement. 

   

In simple terms, when reviewing the graphs, red in the graphs indicates a need for improvement 

where good CG practices are not observed; yellow indicates some observance of CG requirements 

and blue that CG requirements are observed. 

  

a. OECD Principle II: Rights of Shareholders 

 

Shareholders have basic rights which every company should consider and ensure are in fact 

available to shareholders. In good CG practices, these include: 

 

• the capacity to own, register and transfer shares;  

• to obtain relevant information from the company especially on major transactions affecting the 

company; and  

• to participate and vote in shareholder meetings; 

• to elect and remove members of the board; and 

• to share in the profits of the company. 

 

Table 12: Evidence of Implementation of the Rights of Shareholders – comparison 

 

Measure Score % 2009 
Score % 2010 Score % 2011 

Possible maximum 

score for this area 
15.0 15.0 15.0 

Maximum achieved 
11.8 11.1 11.1 

Minimum achieved 
0.4 2.9 1.8 

Mean 
7.0 7.3 7.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

Over the three year period, the attention of companies to the rights of shareholders has varied. The 

mean or average level was a score of 7.3% in 2010 and in 2011 was 7.1%. Achieving a mean or 

average of 7.1% across all 100 companies would indicate that the rights of shareholders are not 

really the focus of Vietnamese listed companies and that the overall rights of shareholders require 

more attention and care if good corporate governance standards are to be achieved. Companies with 

scores closer to the minimum achieved very low scores, such that one would consider shareholders 

rights are not really important to them at all. 

 

The chart below indicates each question on which companies performed well and where the 

observations of CG practices is relatively good and achieve a score above 70%. Evidence shows 

that shareholders rights tend to be clear in information provided by the company and that 

shareholder rights concerning the AGM are provided by the company. The AGM generally is held 

within four months of the end of the fiscal year and there are systems in place to enable the 

shareholders to attend the AGM and exercise their rights.   
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Chart 25: Rights of shareholders – areas of better performance 

 

 
 

The chart below indicates each question related to the rights of shareholders on which the 

observations of company data show a relatively poor result and overall companies achieve a score 

of 40% or below. 

 

Chart 26: Rights of shareholders – areas of worst performance 

 

 
 

The specific weak points relate to the effectiveness of the shareholders’ rights. There seems to be 

evidence of companies adhering to the principle of shareholders rights more in form than 

substantively. For example, it is good practice for shareholders to receive information on the auditor 

prior to his appointment at the AGM disclosing information to attest to his independence and 

disclosing the audit fees and fees for other audit services, which may indicate a lack of 

independence. Often this information is not available or reported on in company information. 

   

Further whilst the shareholders vote at the AGM on the selection of the auditor, companies present a 

slate of auditors that is approved by the shareholders and the company has the power then to select 

form this slate.  In effect the board selects the external auditor and not the shareholders.  Other areas 

of poorest performance by companies are in reporting from both the board and the supervisory 

board on how they fulfil duties required under the CG Regulations.  

 

Shareholders should understand their rights and exercise them fully to improve the quality of 

corporate governance. 
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Question by question analysis 

 

A.1 Rights of Shareholders - Basic Shareholder Rights and Additional Rights (A.01 – A.05) 

 

Question A.01 to question A.05 inclusive assess the extent to which there is evidence of the way 

companies deal with basic shareholder rights and to assess if the company offers rights to 

shareholders, other than the bare minimum.  

  

Chart 27: Basic Shareholder Rights 

 

 
 

A.01 Are the voting rights of shareholders clear and unequivocal? 

A.02 Does the company offer  ownership rights, more than basic rights (voting rights, right to freely transfer 

shares and right to timely information)? 

A.03 Do shareholders have the right to nominate and remove members of the BOD and the SB? 

A.04 Are the dividend and dividend payment policies transparent? 

A.05 Do shareholders have the right to approve major corporate transactions (mergers, acquisitions, 

divestments and / or takeovers)? 
 

It can be seen from the chart above that publicly available information was generally clear on the 

basic rights of shareholders (A.01). Most companies offered more than the basic rights expected 

(A.01 and A.02). However, firms do not generally mention equal treatment of all shareholders 

holding the same class of shares with respect to share repurchases. When it comes to the capacity of 

shareholders to nominate members of the BOD and SB, many firms in their Articles of Association 

have a shareholding threshold of 5%. This is lower and better than the threshold of 10% set in Law 

on Enterprises (A.03). Some companies seem to believe that they must apply the 10% and do not 

consider a lower threshold. Global good practice levels for shareholder nominations of board 

members are between 3% and 5%. 

 

Information on the rationale of the dividend policy and of a specific payment date is scarce (A.04).  

Further, shareholders normally have the rights to approve major company transactions above a set 

threshold. In Vietnam the threshold is set in the Model charter at 50% of total assets. Most 

companies just follow the Model Charter (A.05). This is a high threshold and there is little evidence 

of companies assessing a more appropriate lower threshold to achieve the spirit of good governance 

and to be aligned with lower thresholds in other countries. CG is more evident in form the 

substance. 

 

A.2 Rights of Shareholders - Participation in the AGM (A.06 – A.11) 

 

Shareholders should have the opportunity to participate effectively and vote in AGMs and should be 

informed of the rules, including voting procedures that govern shareholders’ meetings. The AGM is 

the highest decision making body in the company. In normal good practices the AGM makes 

decisions on major issues affecting the company and is a key point for effective communication 
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with shareholders. In order to facilitate such participation, some companies have improved the 

ability of shareholders to place items on the agenda and have simplified voting procedures in situ or 

in absentia. All directors should attend the AGM to answer shareholder questions also. 

  

Chart 28: Participation in the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (AGM) 

 

 
 

A.06  Was the AGM held within four months of end of fiscal year? 

A.07 Are there adequate company systems for shareholder attendance at AGMs? 

A.08 Are the AGM shareholder meeting notices effective? 

A.09 Are the policies and processes for shareholders to ask questions at the AGM clear and time is allowed 

on the agenda? 

A.10 Does AGM information of the past year record opportunities for shareholders to ask questions? 

A.11 Was the attendance at the last AGM of Chairman / Head of Supervisory Board / other board members / 

CEO / and any others evident? 
 

AGMs are generally held within four months of the end of the fiscal year (A.06) as required by the 

Law on Enterprises and it is evident that there are formal company systems in place to ensure 

shareholders may attend at the AGM (A.07). Yet, despite this, the extent of shareholder interaction 

at the AGM is mixed (see chart above). 

 

When assessing if AGM notices are effective, it is expected that the notices are clear concerning the 

time, date and location of the meeting and are posted and also available to shareholders on the 

company website. It is also expected that the information accompanying the notice of meeting is 

comprehensive. Many companies do not send out the Annual Report with the meeting notices, a 

good practice, and do not tell shareholders that the Annual Report is available on the company 

website and make it easily available there. In the case where the Annual Report is available on the 

company website, many are not easy to download and very often an English version is not 

available. Information regarding external auditors seeking appointment or reappointment should 

include information on the proposed auditor and full information on proposed nominations for 

directors. Generally this information is minimal (A.08) and should be more detailed. 

 

The use of technology to enable wider participation of shareholders in the AGM and for shareholder 

voting is encouraged. 

 

Whilst statements are evident in company literature of the capacity of shareholders to ask questions 

at the AGM, rarely is such opportunity recorded in the minutes of the AGM.  This would indicate 

either that the question session did not take place or that the session was not sufficiently important 

to the board to record the questions and answers or alternatively that the minutes are a poor record 

of the event (A.09 and A.10).  In any event this should improve.  
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In 80% of cases it was not evident that all board members and company leaders attended the AGM 

(A.11).  There is little evidence in AGM and company records to show that members of the SB 

attended the AGM.  This sends a bad message as to how the company considers its shareholders and 

sees itself as accountable to them.  All directors, including SB members, and the CEO and senior 

management and the external auditor should attend the AGM and make themselves available for 

shareholder interactions. 

 

A.3 Effective participation in director nomination and remuneration (A.12 – A.13) 

 

Shareholders should participate in key corporate governance decisions, such as the nomination and 

election of directors and they should make their views known on the remuneration policy for the 

board and key executives. 

 

Chart 29: Shareholder participation in the nomination of directors and in company 

remuneration policies 

 

 
 

A.12 Are AGM policies and processes in the past two years (notices and information) sufficient for 

shareholders to evaluate individual board nominations?  *Note: In 2011, 12 companies did not have a 

board election. 

A.13 Do shareholders effectively vote (receive information on, make their views known and vote) on board 

and key executive remuneration annually? 

 

In more than 50% of companies reviewed, insufficient information was provided in board nominees 

(A.12). Generally information should be provided on the background, experience and qualifications 

of potential board members, including a list of other boards and board positions they hold. This 

information allows a shareholder to assess if the nominee has the skills he believes the board 

requires and to assess if the nominee has the time available, together with his other board 

commitments, to be able to provide committed services to the company affairs.  

 

Since the recent global financial crisis, there has been increased shareholder attention paid to the 

remuneration policy of the company and especially remuneration payments to board members and 

key executives. It is important that remuneration is related to the long term sustainable performance 

of the company and aligns board and senior executive goals with company goals. In the Vietnamese 

companies reviewed there is little information provided to shareholders on which they can assess 

the appropriateness of remuneration (A.13). In some cases this is in direct contradiction of 

requirements in company Articles to give detailed information. In the companies reviewed, 

shareholders rarely seem to demand better information or express their views on this issue. Further 

board evaluation is rare and rarely linked to remuneration. Both should become commonplace.  

 

A.4 Rights of Shareholders - Shareholder interaction with the auditor (A.14 – A.16) 

  

The external auditor is viewed in corporate governance as a ‘gatekeeper’ – one who is there to 

check that the financial systems provide accurate and complete information and that the financial 
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statements present a true and fair picture of the company at that time. The Model Charter of 

Vietnam requires the auditor is annually appointed by the shareholders at the AGM and that the 

auditor may express an opinion on audit issues at the AGM.  

 

Chart 30: Relations with auditor at AGM 

 

 
 

A.14 Did the external auditor attend the AGM and express his views on audit issues? 

A.15 Did the shareholders effectively approve the appointment of the external auditor? 

A.16 Did information provided to shareholders for the appointment of the external auditor include 

information on independence? 

 

In Vietnam, the shareholders role and interface with the auditor is poor (see chart above). 

Some companies’ auditors do attend the AGM (13%) and report on the financial statements they 

have audited (A.14). However even so, there is little evidence of interaction between the auditors 

and the shareholders.  The appointment of the external auditor is a basic right of shareholders that 

should be exercised by them carefully. In Vietnam it seems very common that shareholders 

authorise the board to appoint the external auditor (A.15). This is not a good practice and should 

cease.  

 

The external auditor should be both competent and independent from the company, its board and 

the executives. In 99% of cases, little information is provided to shareholders generally on these 

matters.  Indeed information on the profile of the auditor and information on audit fees is rare 

(A.16).  

 

A.5 Rights of Shareholders - AGM effectiveness and processes (A.17- A.21) 

 

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders is the highest governing body of the company.  It is 

through the AGM that shareholders should hold the BOD and SB accountable for their leadership of 

the company. The CG Regulations and the Model Charter require details reports from both the 

board and the supervisory board on their activities.  

  

The BOD report should include their report an annual evaluation of the performance of the 

company, the frequency and number of board meetings and individual director attendance at these 

meetings, a summary of the issues raised at the BOD, a statement on the CEO performance and the 

company’s projected plans. Even though a BOD report is mandatory, and specific information is 

required by the CG Regulations, evidence suggests the reports provided are not comprehensive 

(A.17). An assessment of the SB report in a similar manner found that SB reports were even of 

poorer quality (A.18) and rarely disclosed the number of meetings, a summary of issues and 

decisions taken and how they interface with the BOD. BODs and SBs should be called to account 

and required to fulfil the standards set in the CG Regulations as a minimum.  
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Chart 31: AGM effectiveness and processes 

 

 
 

A.17 Is a full report provided to AGM on BOD performance? 

A.18 Is a full report provided to AGM on the performance of the Supervisory Board? 

A.19 Did the AGM notice include explicit information on accessible systems for proxy voting and voting in 

absentia? 

A.20 Do AGM meeting minutes and the company website disclose individual resolutions, with voting 

results, for each agenda item? 

A.21 Are there no additional items included in the AGM minutes not included on the original meeting 

notice? 

 

Shareholders should use their right to vote on AGM resolutions. Most companies’ meeting notices 

include information on voting procedures and proxy voting if attendance is not possible (A.19).  

However voting either by postal vote or electronic voting is rarely evident. Companies should 

introduce these mechanisms as an alternative to proxy voting to encourage shareholder 

participation. Indeed only one company seems to provide electronic voting and it is to be 

congratulated on this shareholder inclusive move. 

   

Transparency concerning the resolutions and discussions at the AGM is important. The minutes of 

the AGM and results of individual resolutions should be made available within 15 days after the 

AGM and placed on the company website for all to access.  37% of companies do provide this and 

another 36% provide some information (A.20). However 27% provide little or no information and 

the minutes of the AGM are not readily available. The Law on Enterprises requires that the minutes 

be provided at least to shareholders within 15 days after the AGM. 

 

b. OECD Principle III - Equitable Treatment of Shareholders 

 

In good corporate governance practices and according to the OECD Principles, the corporate 

governance framework should ensure the equitable treatment of all shareholders, including minority 

shareholders and foreign shareholders. All shareholders should have the opportunity to obtain 

effective redress for violation of their rights. 

 

All shareholders of the same class should have the same rights. All investors should be able to 

obtain information about the rights attached to all classes of shares. Minority shareholders should be 

protected from abusive actions by or in the interest of controlling shareholders. Impediments to 

cross border voting should be removed. Shareholders meetings should allow for the equitable 

treatment of shareholders and insider trading and self-dealing should be prohibited. 
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Table 13: Evidence of Equitable Treatment of Shareholders – comparison 

 

Measure Score % 2009 
Score % 2010 Score % 2011 

Possible maximum 

score for this area 
20.0 20.0 20.0 

Maximum achieved 17.2 15.6 16.1 

Minimum achieved 5.0 7.8 2.78 

Mean 13.0 12.2 11.6 

 

Overall the companies surveyed have not complied as well in 2011 as in either 2010 or 2009 

reviews with an average level of compliance of 58%. The Law on Enterprises and the Model 

Charter make very clear the obligations of companies in this respect. However companies do not 

seem to be focussed on implementing the meaning of the prescriptions of either document. It seems 

recognition of the fundamentals of good corporate governance is not yet embedded in company 

practices as a general rule. 

 

When assessing the equitable treatment of shareholders, the two charts below indicate questions on 

which there is better performance and areas where improvements can be targeted.  The chart below 

indicates each question related to the equitable treatment of shareholders on which the observations 

of the company data are relatively good and achieve a score above 70%.  

  

From the information publicly available and disclosed the following could be considered points of 

reasonable corporate governance practice in Vietnamese companies (see chart below): 

• Most companies recognise publicly that each share in the same class of shares should have 

the same rights; 

• Directors are required to be re-nominated and re-elected at regular intervals; 

• Company group structures seem to be clear; and  

• Shareholders seem to have the right to approve fundamental company changes. 

 

Chart 32: Equitable treatment of shareholder – areas of better performance 

 

 
 

The chart below indicates each question related to the equitable treatment of shareholders on which 

the observations of the company data are relatively poor and achieve a score of 40% or lower. 
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Chart 33: Equitable treatment of shareholders – areas of poorer performance 

 

 
 

From the information publicly available and disclosed, the following could be considered points of 

weakness in Vietnamese companies (see chart above) and should be targeted as areas for 

improvement: 

 

• Related-party transactions are not clearly defined and policies on how to deal with them at the 

board level and by shareholders are not clear.  The threshold at which the BOD must seek 

shareholder approval for related-party transactions is abnormally high in Vietnam at 50% of 

total assets.  Companies should voluntarily reduce the threshold considerably. 

• Cross border voting is not really facilitated in most companies. 

• Most companies do not mention an effective investor relations group within the company 

charged with shareholder and investor contacts. 

• Companies need to improve the capacity for shareholders, especially small shareholders, to put 

an item on the agenda of the AGM. 

• Information provided to shareholders for the AGM is often not comprehensive and/or is 

provided in too short a time frame to be useful. 

More will be said on the matters in the subsequent section. 

 

Question by question analysis 

 

B.1 Equitable Treatment of Shareholders – Share rights and voting rights 

 

In Vietnam (B.01), 71% companies show they adhere to the principle that all shareholders holding 

the same class of shares should have the same rights and 23% adhered to the principle but failed to 

be fully clear on how this works within their company. A change of shareholders’ rights must be 

approved by 75% of shareholders and in the case of banks a 65% of shareholders must approve.  

However, 50% of companies do not have a clear statement of a ‘one share, one vote’ policy. Whilst 

they may tend to have such a policy in place, it is not explicitly stated and the very statement is a 

comfort to investors.  
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Chart 34: Equal shareholder rights and voting rights 

 

 
 

B.01 Does each share in the same class of shares have the same rights? 

B.02 Does the company have a ‘one share, one vote’ policy? 
 

B.2 Practical application of shareholder rights, ensuring equitable treatment 

 

It is one thing to have a policy in place that purports to ensure the equitable treatment of 

shareholders, but it also must be applied in the practical reality of company affairs and is usually 

evidenced in several ways (see Chart below). For example, can shareholders have an impact on the 

composition of the board (B.03)? Some efforts are evident at the company level but in 32% of cases 

such efforts are not evident. Directors in Vietnam are required to be re-nominated and re-elected at 

regular intervals (B.04). Generally the term of office for the BOD and the SB is five years. Regular 

re-election provides shareholders the opportunity for input. 

 

Chart 35: Practical application of shareholder rights 

 

 
 

B.03 Can minority shareholders impact the composition of the board? 

B.04 Are directors’ required to be re-nominated and re-elected at regular intervals? 

B.05 Is cross border voting facilitated by the company? 
 

Generally there is little evidence of consideration of the shareholder who is a foreign investor and 

cross border voting is rarely facilitated (B.05). Materials in English are often not available and not 

available in a timely manner. To ensure equitable participation of foreign shareholders in the AGM 

and its decisions, papers should be provided in another commonly used language, generally English, 

a reasonable lengthy period before the meeting that notices are sent out, commonly in best practices 

this is more than 20 days. Electronic voting procedures can facilitate cross border participation and 

should be part of AGM practices in Vietnam.  Most recently Turkey not only has electronic voting 

available to shareholders but also encourages video streaming in real time of the AGM. 
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B.3 Company structures and shareholder right to redress 

 

Shareholders need to know the company structure (see chart below) in order to be alert to any 

possibilities for preferred treatment of some shareholders over others or potential abuse of smaller 

shareholders. 

   

The presence of a controlling shareholder, whether it is a family, the state, or the existence of a 

complex group of companies may provide such opportunities. In general, 91% of companies 

provide a clear picture of the company structure and inter-company relationships are evident and 

explained (B.06). Mostly this is found in the Annual Report and sometimes in the financial 

statements. However, the picture presented often is unlikely to be the full picture of company 

shareholdings. For example, in Vietnam, it is very common for the chairman or CEO to hold less 

than 5% of shares in the company, thus avoiding regulations on controlling shareholders. However 

his relatives and/or related companies hold shares in the company that eventually take the 

shareholding, in which he has a direct or indirect interest, up to and over the 5% threshold and even 

up more than 10% or 15% of the total shares of the company. 

 

Chart 36: Company structure and shareholder right to redress 

 

 
 

B.06  Is a description of the company group structure available, clear and transparent? 

B.07  Is there evidence of structures / mechanisms that have the potential to violate minority shareholder 

rights? 

B.08  Are there mechanisms that provide effective redress for complaints of shareholders? 

 

In reality, group structures are hard to comprehend as cross shareholdings and pyramid structures 

may exist. Cross shareholdings are difficult to discern because of the complicated relationships 

between companies and companies often fail to give full and complete information on ownership 

structures, especially when related companies are private, non-listed companies or a fund. The 

review did find several cases of pyramid structures (B.07). 

 

In Vietnam, the Law on Enterprises and the Model Charter require certain protections for minority 

shareholders to ensure equitable treatment, such as the existence of pre-emptive rights when a 

company wishes to increase its capital and also 88% of companies have in place policies and 

processes to deal with shareholder complaints (B.08). Generally also in many companies Articles of 

Association, a commitment to mediation of disputes, including corporate governance disputes, can 

be found. However as a practice, arbitration is not widely used in Vietnam for shareholder redress 

and may be worth consideration for CG disputes.  
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B.4 Shareholders at the AGM 

 

The most important venue for shareholders to exercise their rights is at the AGM (see chart below).  

It is at the AGM that shareholders have the opportunity to approve, or not, major changes in the 

company Articles and also major transactions. However to fully avail themselves of the opportunity 

at the AGM, meeting notices need to be issued early and AGM papers need to be fully informative 

concerning the decisions to be taken. 

 

Protections for minority shareholders should include a statement by the company that shareholders 

will have a right to approve fundamental company changes, such as changes to the Articles of 

Association and major transactions above certain thresholds. The threshold should be made clear.  

Further, normally when such changes are proposed by the BOD to shareholders there should be full 

and complete information, including a rationale for the changes, to enable shareholders to assess 

their decision. 

     

In the survey, 81% of companies (B.09) did show evidence that shareholders would have the right 

to participate in fundamental changes in the company. However, it was apparent that some BODs 

attempt to avoid such a vote and ask shareholders to give the BOD authority to make such changes, 

including changes to the Articles of Association. 

 

In good practices it is recognised that shareholders should receive detailed information, relevant to 

AGM decisions between 20 and 30 days in advance of the meeting. In this way there is time for 

shareholders to prepare themselves for the meeting. In Vietnam only 27% of the companies 

surveyed  sent materials out at least 20 days in advance of the meeting (B.10). 47% of companies 

reviewed provided materials to shareholders in less than 15 days prior to the meeting. In reality, this 

is considered insufficient for meeting preparation by shareholders. 

 

Chart 37: Shareholders and the AGM 

 

 
 

B.09 Do shareholders have the right to approve fundamental company changes? 

B.10 How many days before the AGM were the meeting notices sent out? 

B.11 Can a small shareholder place an item on the AGM agenda? 

 

It is good practice for a company to have policies and procedures in place that allow small 

shareholders to put an item on the agenda of the AGM (B.11), given threshold requirements 

stipulated in the company articles. In the survey, 99% of companies either did not observe this good 

practice or only partially observed it. However in some companies there appears to be inconsistent 

thresholds stated in diverse articles within one company’s Articles of Association. This can lead to 

companies denying small shareholders the right to place an item on the AGM agenda.  Such 

inconsistencies should be eliminated. The new CG Regulations provide for this. MOF’s Circular 

121-2012/TT-BTC states “the company charter must not be contrary to the provisions in the Law on 

Enterprises and related legal instruments”.  
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B.5 Definition of insiders and conflicts of interest and related party transactions 

 

In good CG practices, all BOD members have fiduciary duties requiring they always act in the best 

interests of the company and all shareholders and not to favour one shareholder or some 

shareholders over others. Further, in Vietnam, the Law on Enterprises requires them to avoid 

conflicts between personal interests and their duties to the company. Directors should not make a 

personal profit arising from their relationship with the company or from misuse of information 

available to them as a consequence of their relationship with the company. Policies for and 

disclosure of relationships or transactions that may give rise to a conflict of interest is important.  

Insider trading and abusive self-dealing is prohibited in the Law on Enterprises and company 

policies should be in place that detect and provide for action when such transactions take place. 

These issues were reviewed in B.12 to B.17 inclusive (see chart below).  

 

Chart 38: Conflict of interest, insider trading and related-party transactions 

 

 
 

B.12  Are there company policies in place that effectively prohibit the misuse of information by directors, 

management and staff? 

B.13  Were there any known cases of insider trading involving the company directors, management or staff 

in the past year? 

B.14 Are there effective company policies for the company to approve relevant related-party transactions 

(RPTs)? 

B.15 For large company transactions, does company policy require the provision of information to explain 

RPTs and require shareholder approval of RPTs above a certain threshold? 

B.16  Were there cases of non-compliance with requirements relating to related-party transactions in the past 

year? 

B.17 How does the board deal with declarations of conflict of interest? 

 

75% of companies surveyed had in place some policies dealing with misuse of company 

information (B.12). However these policies tended not to be comprehensive. It was not evident that 

many companies had in place a quality Code of Conduct stipulating appropriate behaviours (ethics, 

integrity, fair dealing) regarding the use of information, dealing with conflicts of interest, share 

trading policies and confidentiality policies for all connected with the company. Where a Code of 

Conduct was evident, the Code was expressed in such general terms as to be relatively meaningless. 

 

Insider trading and abusive related party transactions are usually covert by their nature and therefore 

hard to detect and are likely to be understated in the review. Questions B.13 and B.16 were 

reviewed from information in filings with the SSC inspection unit, SX filings and from the media.  

However this approach does rely on the robustness of regulatory monitoring and enforcement 

activities of the SSC and the SXs. From the review 41% of companies showed propensity to 

disclosing to selected parties’ non-public company information and three abusive related-party 

transactions were detected.  
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 Generally companies do not seem to have in place quality and effective policies and procedures to 

deal with RPTs as they arise (B.14). RPTs need to be clearly defined, and detailed policies and 

mechanisms evident and operating to control RPTs and approve them where necessary. This is a 

particularly disappointing result as it was in 2011 that the revised version of IAS 24, complete with 

new definitions and disclosure requirements, became applicable in Vietnam Accounting Standards 

(VAS). The former VAS 26 on Related Parties was the outdated version issued by the IASB in 1994. 

 

Policies should include early disclosure requirements to the BOD and / or to the shareholders and 

preclusion of the conflicted party from voting or any involvement in matters in which they hold a 

direct or indirect interest or to which they are deemed ‘related’ in order that the transaction may 

proceed on ‘arms length’ terms and conditions. 

 

In the survey group, RPTs were not clearly defined and most firms had high thresholds (20% of 

total assets in most cases and lower in the banks) before a RPT had to be reported to the BOD or to 

the shareholders (B.14). In addition, for large company related-party transactions, generally it was 

not evident that stringent policies were in place that required information to be provided to 

shareholders to explain the RPT prior to their approval of that RPT (B.15). Where information was 

provided it seemed not to be comprehensive. A guide for good management of company related-

party transactions is available from the OECD – A Guide on Fighting Abusive Related-Party 

Transactions in Asia
27

.  

 

There are a number of tools to ensure good corporate governance including a Code of Ethics or 

Code of Conduct for the board and a CG Code for the company. The Code should be in place and 

should include a description of the process of dealing with conflicts of interest and the disclosure 

obligations required of the board to the shareholders at the AGM and in the Annual Report. These 

disclosures were observed in 4% of the companies surveyed and only partially observed, incomplete 

or considered not of good quality in 96% of cases (B.17). 

 

B.6 Investor relations and information provision 

 

So many steps to ensure the equitable treatment of shareholders and to allow minority shareholders to 

protect themselves rely on disclosure, transparency and the provision of information (see also Section 

D – Disclosure and Transparency). In the companies surveyed (B.18), some companies have in place 

policies to facilitate communication between companies and shareholders. However most do not have 

a nominated person available to be contacted by shareholders. Comprehensive investor relations 

structures, policies and procedures were not observed in 67% of the companies and only partially 

observed in 27% of the companies reviewed (See chart below). It is good practice for companies to 

have an identifiable investor relations section on the website providing quality, current information 

that is systematised and accessible. Too often the websites in the reviewed companies lacked an 

investor relations section. Sufficient current information is not available generally. 

 

Chart 39: Investor relations and information provision 

 

 

                                                           
27  OECD, A Guide to Fighting Abusive Related Party Transactions in Asia, Corporate Governance Series, Paris, 2009. 
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B.18 Does the company have an effective investor relations / information policy and program? 

 

c. OECD Principle IV - Role of Stakeholders  

 

Increasingly stakeholders have an impact on company activities and increasingly companies are 

recognising that they must take a broader view other than running the company solely in the 

interests of shareholders.  The OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises state that companies 

should consider economic, social and environment impact of their activities and also consider the 

views of a wider group of stakeholders, including the community, employees, customers, suppliers 

and creditors. The OECD Principles also state that the corporate governance framework should 

recognise the rights of stakeholders as established by law or through mutual agreements and 

encourage active co-operation between corporations and stakeholders in creating wealth, jobs and 

the sustainability of financially sound enterprises. 

 

Since the financial crisis of 2008, the notion of sustainability and ethical management of companies 

has come to the fore and companies are encouraged to take a long term view. “Financial 

information is not sufficient. We have to provide information on sustainability, on social issues and 

environment, and it has to be done in an integrated way with a financial report.
28

” 

 

Recent amendments to Codes globally have included more reference to the need for companies to 

consider stakeholders, as a good practice.  Many countries refer to and recognise a wider role for 

companies. For example:  

 

South Africa  

 

The King III Code of Corporate Governance for South Africa has long been a leader in this area and 

requires that companies follow a ‘stakeholder inclusive’ model of corporate governance. Under this 

model, the legitimate interests and expectations of stakeholders are considered when deciding in the 

best interests of the company. The integration and trade-offs between various stakeholders are then 

made on a case-by-case basis, to serve the best interests of the company. The shareholder, on the 

premise of this approach, does not have a predetermined place of precedence over other 

stakeholders. 

 

India 

 

In India, the government is also ensuring that the public sector companies participate actively in 

CSR initiatives, recognising the wider stakeholders of company activities. The Department of 

Public Enterprises (DPE) has prepared guidelines for central public sector enterprises to take up 

important corporate social responsibility projects to be funded by 2 per cent – 5 per cent of the 

company's net profits. 

 

Australia 

 

“To make ethical and responsible decisions companies should not only comply with their legal 

obligations, but should also consider the reasonable expectations of their stakeholders including; 

shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers, creditors, consumers and the broader community in 

which they operate. It is a matter for the board to consider and assess what is appropriate in each 

company’s circumstances. It is important for companies to demonstrate their commitment to 

appropriate corporate practices and decision making”
29

. 

 

United Kingdom 

 

In the UK reform of Company Law in 2007, the intention of reform in this area was to: 

                                                           
28  Goran Tidstrom, former President of the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) and member of the IIRC   

29  Australian Stock Exchange, Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations, Sydney, 2012. 
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• encourage companies to take an appropriate long-term perspective; 

• develop productive relationships with employees and those in the supply chain; and 

• take seriously their ethical, social and environmental responsibilities. 

 

Overall, the companies surveyed in Vietnam have not moved to global practice levels in this area 

with a low level of compliance of 23%. The incidence of ‘red’ and ‘yellow’ on the chart below 

indicates this. 

 

Table 14: Evidence of Role of Stakeholder in Corporate Governance – comparison 

 

Measure Score % 2009 
Score % 2010 Score % 2011 

Possible maximum 

score for this area 
5.0 5.0 5.0 

Maximum achieved 3.4 3.4 3.1 

Minimum achieved 0.3 0.0 0.3 

Mean 1.5 1.5 1.1 

 

57% of companies do not overtly demonstrate their recognition of obligations in law and 

regulations to key stakeholders and most references to stakeholders are in a superficial style and 

more of an aside (C.01). The information available provided from many sources, however, does 

indicate that 44% of companies show some recognition of the broader community in its thinking 

(C.07). For example, several companies state their budget for philanthropic activities and briefly 

explain their activities. The CG Regulations require that companies pay attention to these matters 

and yet these results show a decline in company reporting of stakeholder initiatives. However, 

where stakeholders are referenced, creditors and suppliers are rarely mentioned. Three companies, 

Vietnam Dairy Products, DHG Pharmaceutical and FPT Corporation, distinguish themselves by 

good reporting of the commitment to stakeholders. 

    

The employees of a company are important stakeholders. Companies may provide a range of 

benefits, such as share plans, pension plans, education programs, to employees in order to align 

company and employee interests. Information on initiatives for employees from 85% of companies 

was poor in this respect (C.02). Company policies regarding the safety and welfare of employees 

are not observed or are poor in 61% of the survey group (C.04).  However those companies that did 

have policies focussed on their employees tended to focus on employees education. 

 

Chart 40:  Role of Stakeholders in Corporate Governance 
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C.01 Does the company recognize company obligations (in law and agreements) to key stakeholders and 

engage them? 

C.02 Does the company provide a range of performance enhancing employee benefits to align company and 

employee interests? 

C.03  Have mechanisms been introduced that facilitate communication to board members of illegal and 

unethical company practices? 

C.04  Do company policies / information recognize the safety and welfare of employees? 

C.05  Do company policies / information mention the environment? 

C.06  Are stakeholders able to directly communicate on company performance with the BOD, BOM and 

Supervisory Board? 

C.07 Is there evidence of company recognition of its obligations to the broader community? 

C.08 Is there a clear framework for the enforcement of creditors’ rights? 

 

In many countries now, companies are required to consider the environment and many varieties of 

environmental laws prevail.  81% of companies in the survey group do not mention the environment 

as a company focus (C.05). This is important as many investors now are ‘ethical’ investors 

requiring a responsible approach to the environment, to fair labour laws and working conditions and 

the like and follow the global Principles for Responsible Investment and/or the Global Compact.   

 

Stakeholders may see or know of unethical or illegal activities undertaken by company personnel or 

in the name of the company which they may wish to draw to the attention to management.  

However in Vietnamese companies this is difficult as in 97% of cases, it was not evident that the 

companies had in place mechanisms that would facilitate such communications (C.03). The 

companies should have in place procedures for direct, confidential access to the BOD, SB or to the 

Audit Committee. Safe harbours and / or a whistleblowwing policy also should be there to 

guarantee company protection and confidentiality to such stakeholders. 

 

In a similar vein, there is little evidence that the surveyed companies encourage stakeholder 

communications with them on company performance which may affect so many (C.06). Generally 

no contact mechanisms or avenues to contact the BOD, BOM or the SB or policies for handling 

such contact were evident. 

 

Finally, one set of stakeholders in particular deserves particular attention of the company and the 

BOD. They are the creditors to the company. They have a vested interest in  its on-going good 

performance so debts and loans may be repaid. In this respect, about 95% of companies provide 

financial information publicly (C.08).  However the information tends to be not comprehensive or 

not timely enough.  

   

The role of stakeholders is expected to grow in importance in global CG best practices as 

companies understand they must adhere to a triple ‘bottom line’. To attract investors in the future, 

they must be economically viable, socially responsible and environmentally sound. Reporting on 

these will show the companies’ real intent in these areas.  

 

d. OECD Principle V - Disclosure and Transparency 

 

“A strong disclosure regime that promotes transparency is a pivotal feature of market-based 

monitoring of companies and is central to the shareholders’ ability to exercise their ownership rights 

on an informed basis”. “Disclosure also helps improve public understanding of the structure and 

activities of enterprises, corporate policies and performance”
30

.   

 

                                                           
30 OECD, Principles of Corporate Governance, OECD, 2004, Paris. 
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Full, accurate and timely disclosure of all material matters and matters affecting the share price and 

investor decisions is expected by the CG Regulations.  Information is required on the business and 

its performance, its operations and its corporate governance. However information to be provided is 

tempered by the concept of ‘materiality’. Information is material if its omission or misstatement 

could influence the economic decisions of investors.  

 

An acceptable system of corporate disclosure and transparency includes the provision of a quality 

annual report that includes information on the company and its main businesses. Investors want to 

have access to regular, reliable and comparable information, financial and non-financial, that 

reflects the true position of the company. They also want to know all about material changes or 

material transactions that may affect the company. During the recent financial crisis company 

information was found to be lacking sufficient forward looking information, especially in the 

provision of information on the risks the company is facing. Investors want to assess the 

stewardship of management and also make informed decisions about possible future company 

valuation and current ownership to help them vote their shareholdings. 

 

Disclosure also aids public understanding of a company, its activities and performance and will 

strengthen company relationships with the communities in which they operate. 

  

The AGM (already considered in Part A in this section of the report), the Annual Report and the 

company website are key points of communication with investors, current and future, and 

collectively should convey all material and relevant information to investors and other stakeholders. 

 

Table 15: Evidence of Disclosure and Transparency – comparison 

 

Measure Score % 2009 
Score % 2010 Score % 2011 

Possible maximum 

score for this area 
30.0 30.0 30.0 

Maximum achieved 18.8 18.4 18.0 

Minimum achieved 4.7 7.3 6.5 

Mean 11.8 13.0 12.0 

 

Disclosure and transparency and the responsibilities of the board have been identified as the two 

single most important areas of focus for Vietnamese companies and investors.  In our survey, each 

category was given a possible maximum score of 30%. 

  

A new Circular on Disclosure of Information on the Securities Market (Circular 09/2010/TT-BTC) 

was issued and became applicable from early 2010. The review of 2010 showed an Improvement in 

the quality of disclosures companies made and achieved a mean for this area of 43.2%. However 

this year companies have relaxed again and there is a decline to a mean of 40.1%. 

 

The chart immediately below indicates each question related to disclosure and transparency on 

which the observations of company data are relatively good and achieve a score above 70%. From 

the information publicly available and disclosed the following could be considered points of relative 

strength in Vietnamese companies. However it must be remembered that a mean of 40.1% is still 

less than half-way to quality disclosures and Vietnamese companies need to improve their 

disclosures substantially. 

 

The areas in which companies have achieved relatively well reflect areas mandated by the 

regulatory framework and on which the regulators are checking compliance. Unsurprisingly 100% 

of companies’ annual reports were audited by a qualified and authorised external auditor (D.23) and 

that the audit report was publicly disclosed in 89% of cases (D.27). 98% of companies filed the 
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annual, semi-annual and quarterly reports (D.04). Most reports, but not all, had been certified by the 

CFO and CEO of the company (D.05). These are the basics of compliance and regulators should 

strongly enforce the timely provision of these items. However corporate governance is more than 

compliance and concerns what the company does to be as transparent as it could be.  

 

Chart 41: Disclosure and transparency – areas of better performance 

 

 
 

The chart below indicates each question related to disclosure and transparency on which the 

observations of the company data are relatively poor and achieve a score of 40% or below. From the 

information publicly available and disclosed, the following could be considered points of weakness 

in Vietnamese companies. The fact there are so many questions included on the chart below 

indicates that disclosures need to be improved considerably if Vietnamese companies are to be 

considered transparent in their reporting and are comparable with global corporate governance 

expectations. 

 

Chart 42: Disclosure and transparency – areas of poorer performance
31

 

 

 
 

                                                           
31  Transparency regarding the appointment and any changes of the auditor are important and in good practices, if a change of auditor is noted as 

it was in 12% of the review group, then the reasons for the change should be disclosed.  In the survey group, 88% of companies did not 

change auditor and so any rationale for change is not expected.  
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In the chart above there is an ample evidence that Vietnamese companies lack commitment to 

transparency and quality disclosures although at the regulatory level, Vietnam has made progress in 

establishing regulations for greater transparency. Within only two years, the Ministry of Finance 

issued Circular No. 09/2010 and Circular No. 52/2012 guiding information disclosure for 

companies listed on the stock exchanges. 

Several questions in the review and reflected on the chart refer to disclosures in the Annual Report, 

the prime communications vehicle to shareholders, which are shallow and minimal. In some cases 

the reviewers observed that the Annual Report is used as a public relations tool rather than a means 

of communications to shareholders. Good corporate governance practices, for example, would 

expect that the Annual Report to include information on CG such as: 

 

• details on individual director attendances  BOD and SB meetings (D.15); 

• details of remuneration of key executives, with individuals identified (D.18); 

• details of remuneration of BOD members, with directors individually identified (D.16); 

• particular identification of independent directors, and separately, non-executive directors 

(D.14, D.13); and 

• specific reference to a policy to manage and deal with RPTs (D.19). 

There are more details on this in the analysis below. 

 

Question by question analysis 

 

D.1 Annual Report – Financial information 

 

Chart 43:  Annual Report – Financial information 

 

 
 

D.01 Is there evidence that the concept of ‘material information’ is well understood by the company? 

D.02 Does the Annual Report give a full and clear picture of the financial performance of the company? 

D.03 Are the financial reports disclosed in a timely manner? 

D.04 Did the company provide quarterly and semi-annual reports in the past year? 

D.05 Do the CEO and Chief Accountant certify the annual financial statements, audited and unaudited? 

D.06 Does the company use internationally accepted accounting standards? 

 

The Annual Report is a legal requirement and yet in good governance practices, it should also be 

seen as a useful tool for informing shareholders of management’s capacity to respond successfully 

to changes in the business environment and convince potential investors of the benefits of investing 

in the company. The report and financial statements should reflect the dynamics of the company’s 
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current and future development and provide information on how the BOD and SB have undertaken 

their responsibilities in financial oversight of the company. 

 

Remarkably three companies had not published an Annual Report at the commencement of June 

2012. Since then one of these three companies has produced its Annual Report. However this is not 

timely reporting and must raise questions from shareholders as to the state of their accounting and 

reporting processes at the very least. The other two companies have not yet, to our knowledge, 

produced an Annual Report and should be excluded from participation in the market until they 

conform to disclosure reqirements. 

 

Financial information, and indeed the non-financial information also, relies on the concept of 

‘materiality’, which is specific to each company. Material information is information that may, if it 

were made public, likely alter the share price and thus investor decisions. All material information 

should be fully disclosed to shareholders in a timely manner. This is the fundamental basis of 

disclosure. Material information may include a wide variety of disclosures and especially financial 

information. A company should have in place a disclosure policy that clearly states the commitment 

to disclosure of the financial, legal and profit position of the company. The concept of materiality 

and how the company assesses this should also be mentioned in the accounting policies section of 

the notes to the financial statements. In 56% of the companies reviewed the concept of materiality 

does not seem to be well understood (D.01) and/or does not seem to be applied. It is generally not 

mentioned. 

 

The Financial Statements are vital to understanding the financial performance of the company.  

However they must be complete, accurate and timely. Timeliness is important and there was 

evidence that the companies were often late in filing their reports (D.03) or availed themselves of 

the legal extension of time to report. Quarterly and semi-annual reports suffer from a similar lack of 

timliness (D.04). Late filing may be an indicator of deeper problems within the companies, such as 

poor accounting systems, processes and skills or poor results within the companies which should be 

addressed as a matter of priority. Regulators should enforce timely reporting stringently. 

  

Decision 15/2006/QD-BTC requires that Financial Statements are signed off by the CEO and the 

Chief Accountant. In 83% of cases this occurs (D.05). However in other cases, other persons have 

signed off the acccounts. The signing off of the accounts is important as it is a reminder to senior 

management of their accountability in this respect. 

   

The Law on Accounting requires the application of Vietnam Accounting Standards (VAS). Most 

companies (98%) therefore apply VAS in developing their financial information. However VAS are 

not in line with the global benchmark standards, International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

issued by the IASB. For better understanding by investors, especially foreign investors, speedy 

adoption of IFRS in Vietnam is recommended. VASs lag global implementation of IFRS / IAS by 

some years and there are many areas where IFRS / IAS have standards applicable that are not dealt 

with by VASs at all. 

 

D.2 Annual Report – Information on company objectives and share ownership structure 

 

Markets and shareholders require information on the company objectives and achievement of these 

objectives in order to assess their investment. This information therefore is historical as well and 

predictive in nature. 35% of companies do provide a full and clear picture of the company’s 

operations, its competitve position and other non-financial matters (D.07). The Management Report 

is available in the Annual Report, is easily understood and includes information on the company 

vision, business objectives and the BOD commitment to value creation. However and in line with 

previous observations, many companies, some 59%, provide minimal, shallow information and 

information which is not comprehensive. 
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Chart 44: Annual Report – Information on company objectives and share ownership 

  

 
 

D.07 Does the Annual Report include a full and clear picture of company operations, its competitive position 

and other non-financial matters? 

D.08 Are details of current largest shareholdings provided? 

D.09 Are directors’ (BOD and SB) shareholdings disclosed? 

D.10 Are senior management’s shareholdings disclosed? 

D.11 Are the company shares broadly held? 
 

For example, 68% of companies do not give full details of the current largest shareholders in the 

Annual report and on the company website, including that the relevant shareholders are named, and 

a breakdown of the shareholding is provided (D.08). It is noted that many companies do not provide 

this information on the company website. This is an important practice for transparency as the 

website can be readily updated on the change of each major shareholding between Annual Reports.  

Greater use of the company website should be encouraged. Further despite OECD best practices 

encouraging disclosure of BOD and SB shareholdings and requirements in Enterprise Law and in 

the CG Regulations to disclose BOD, BOM and SB share transactions, more than one-third of 

companies do not disclose BOD, BOM and SB shareholdings (D.09 and D.10).  In good practices, 

recent data and individualised shareholding information should be provided. 

 

Many companies in Vietnam are state-owned companies or controlled by individuals / families.  

Company shares are generally not broadly held (D.11). This provides one possible reason for the 

general reluctance to provide comprehensive information on the company.  ‘Insiders’ control the 

company and the information to be released. In these cases, minority shareholders are at a 

disadvantage as there is assymetry of information.  Some shareholders have more information on 

the company and its performance than others.  

 

D.3 Annual Report – Disclosure on directors 

 

The BOD and the SB together are the two governing bodies of Vietnamese companies. These 

bodies should be comprised of members with diverse skills, knowledge and experience so as to 

bring that experience to benefit the company. Shareholders should know that their company is in 

good hands. In good practices there should also be a balance of executive and non-executive 

directors on the board and increasingly there is an emphasis on independent directors. Therefore it 

is useful for shareholders to know who is an executive director, a non-executive director and who is 

thought of by the BOD and SB as ‘independent’. 

 

In the chart below, 58% of companies do not provide quality information on directors’ experience 

(D.12). Such information should include indvidual director’s names, educational background, 

experience and board experience, information on other board appointments and other board 
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committee commitments. It is also hard to distinguish the number of non-executive directors and 

independent directors in more than 80% of cases (D.13 and D.14). Better and more comprehensive 

information on directors and their commitments would provide valuable information on the 

suitability of each director’s skills for the particular role on the board. His time availability to 

commit to the company and to performance of the specific director role would be clearer to 

shareholders. 

 

It is a concern that in some companies, SB members are also described as ‘executive directors’. If 

this is so, it is in direct contravention of Vietnamese CG regulations and should not be permitted. 

 

Chart 45:  Annual Report – Disclosures on directors (BOD and SB) 

 

 
 

D.12 In the Annual Report is board member experience disclosed? 

D.13 In the Annual Report, are non-executive directors specifically identified? 

D.14 Does the Annual Report specifically identify ‘independent’ directors? 

D.15 Does the Annual Report disclose BOD / SB meeting attendance of individual directors? 

 

Vietnamese law and regulations currently require that approximately ‘one-third of directors be 

independent and non-executive’ and distinguish only two categories of directors – ‘executive’ and 

‘non-executive and independent’ directors. Article 2 clause d of the Corporate Governance 

regulations defines ‘independence’ when referring to directors of the board or supervisory board by 

distinguishing them from key executive director roles. This definition assumes that all ‘non-

executive’ directors are ‘independent’, which is not necessarily so. In the new Corporate 

Governance Guidelines, issued in mid 2012 (MOF’s Circular 121/2012), this is amended to provide 

more clarity on who is an ‘independent’ director. 

 

In global good practices, it is expected that independent directors be specifically identified and that 

an explanation is provided as to why they may be truly ‘independent’. Shareholders rely on these 

directors to provide an independent, objective judgment on board decisions. Although definitions of 

independence vary across jurisdictions, most definitions refer to not being a close relative to a 

member of the board or management by birth or marriage, not being a close relative of a major 

shareholder, not being an employee of the company or its affiliate companies now or in the recent 

past (3 years) and not being a representative of companies having significant dealings with the 

company.  In 96% of cases in the companies reviewed directors who may be truly ‘independent’ 

cannot readily be discerned. Some companies identify individuals as ‘independent’ who do not fit 

the definition. Other companies do not explain why specific directors are believed to be independent 

(D.14). As noted above, the new Corporate Governance Guidelines issued by the MOF is more 

specific in its definition of ‘independence’ as applied to ‘independent directors’. This should lead to 

greater clarity in this area. 
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A final note on directors in this section of the report is that shareholders have a right to expect them 

to be committed to the company, its activities and to actively protecting shareholder interests. For 

this, BOD and SB members are expected to attend BOD or SB meetings as required. Information on 

individual director and SB member attendance at BOD and SB meetings should be provided.  98% 

of the companies surveyed do not provide this information (D.15). 

 

D.4 Annual Report – Remuneration disclosures 

 

During the recent financial crisis, considerable attention has been given to director and key 

executive remuneration and how companies link remuneration with the long-term sustainable 

performance of the company. Unjustified and excessive remuneration packages were criticised.  

From the point of view of shareholders, they want to see a remuneration report from each company 

and they want to be able to know that what they are seeing in each company's remuneration report is 

what the company is actually paying out to its executives. Governments and regulators around the 

world are looking into the way executive pay is reported after the backlash of excessive salaries 

post the global financial crisis. There needs to be more transparency and more simplicity around the 

reporting of remuneration. 

 

As a matter of current good practice in corporate governance, the remuneration policies of the 

company and remuneration for non-executive and executive directors and key senior management 

should be disclosed in detail and the AGM should debate the merits of the remuneration policies.  

Also remuneration policies are expected to be related to the long-term sustainable performance of 

the company and bear some relativity between the remuneration of directors and senior 

management and the broader employee population.  In some countries actual remuneration of  non-

executive directors and executive directors is disclosed in total and sometimes individually.  Best 

practice is to provide both. 

 

The chart below would indicate that transparency in this area is weak in Vietnamese listed 

companies.  Rarely is a comprehensive remuneration policy for the BOD, BOM or SB evident and 

disclosed in the Annual Report (D.16 and D.18) (see chart below). 

 

Chart 46:  Annual Report – Remuneration disclosures 

 

 
 

D.16 Is the basis (level and mix) of board remuneration disclosed in the Annual Report? 

D.17 Does the latest Annual Report identify the company’s main executives and their responsibilities? 

D.18 Does the latest Annual Report disclose the remuneration of key executives? 

 

Most companies provide only superficial statements on remuneration policies for the company as a 

whole, if they are provided at all. BOD and SB remuneration information is not complete and clear 

and is not directly linked to the long term performance of the company. Board evaluation is either 

not conducted or conducted informally and how it links to board remuneration is not stated. Rarely 

is there reference to how a director’s remuneration is compiled (D.16). Further the remuneration of 
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specific key executives is not disclosed together with their names, positions held and with a 

statement of the responsibilities for which they are paid (D.18). 

Since the excesses of the bank payments before the financial crisis have come into focus, 

internationally there have been demands for an annual binding vote at the AGM on future 

remuneration policy; an annual advisory vote on how remuneration policy has been implemented in 

the previous year; and a binding vote on exit payments of more than one year’s base salary.  

Shareholders are demanding much more transparency and accountability for remuneration to 

company personnel. 

 

In order to better understand executive payments, companies need to identify their key executives.  

66% of companies reviewed go some way to providing information about their key executives but 

the information observed is not adequate (D.17). 

 

D.5 Annual Report – Other key disclosures 

 

In the section related to the equitable treatment of shareholders, this report considered the 

management of related party transactions (B.14) and the shareholders role in approval of some 

transactions and company non-compliance with related party requirements (B.16).  Disclosure in 

this area is important as RPTs are a regular source of abuse of minority shareholders.   

A company policy should be in place and require the following disclosures: 

 

• the policy of what transactions need to be reported to the board for board approval by 

independent directors or non-interested parties, and which ones require shareholder approval;  

• the parties involved and their relationship;  

• clarity on the asset being transferred;  

• the basis of pricing of the asset and compensation involved;  

• Information on RPTs should show the name of the related party and relationship with the 

counter-party, including reference to any conflict of interest, the transaction amount, and 

reasons why the asset is being transferred and why now. 

 

The treatment of related parties and RPTs is a complex area and to achieve good transparent 

practices in this area, it is recommended that each company should develop a related party policy 

for the company which is embedded in that company’s corporate governance code. The policies 

should be consistent with global practices and the definition of RPTs should be consistent with 

international accounting standard IAS 24 Related-Party Transactions. 

 

In Vietnam, disclosure requirements are articulated in several documents, including the Law on 

Securities, Circular 09 and in accounting standard VAS 26 on related party disclosures. However 

71% of the companies in the survey group did not seem to have a quality policy on handling RPTs 

and, if there is one, it is not public (D.19).  

 

When directors or senior management trade in their shares, either buying shares or selling shares, it 

is important that they do so with complete transparency. They are ‘insiders’ with knowledge of the 

company other shareholders may not have. All trading in shares by these ‘insiders’ must be public 

so at least other shareholders will be aware of the trading activity. It may well be a signal to what 

these directors and senior managers think of the future value of the shares. Best practices require 

that directors and key senior management report their trading activity within two days of the trade. 

 

Many companies may simply not disclose their trading to the regulators. 34% of companies show 

evidence of regulatory requests for directors to report their transactions in company shares (D.20).  

This is evidence that confirms they are not reporting trading activities. Good CG practices suggest 

that companies should have in place a comprehensive policy for regulating insider trading activities.  
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Chart 47:  Annual Report – Other key disclosures 

 

 
 

D.19 Does the company show evidence of a policy requiring disclosure of related-party transactions? 

D.20 Are statements requesting directors to report their transactions in company shares evident? 

D.21 Does the Annual Report explain foreseeable business risks? 

D.22 Does the Annual Report include a separate, quality corporate governance report? 

 

Two other key disclosures shareholders and investors look for in company information concern 

foreseeable business risks and a corporate governance statement. 

  

The chart above shows that disclosures of foreseeable business risks are not well reported by 75% 

of the companies surveyed (D.21). There is little evidence that risks are clearly identified. They 

should be detailed as related to geography, industry, financial market risks and so forth. Further 

there is little mention of risk management policies and practices. Users find this information useful 

in assessing company strategies and the challenges the company faces in achieving those strategies. 

 

Consistent with the decline in the average corporate governance score across all companies 

surveyed, it is unsurprising that a quality CG report is not evident in 99% of companies (D.22).  

This result is disappointing. However we note the increased incidence of some CG reports. CG still 

does not seem to have deep understanding by BODs and SBs nor does it seem to have the attention 

of the companies it deserves. In the light of recent public CG failures in Vietnam, one may think 

that other companies would heed the lesson. Whilst a CG report was not a required disclosure in 

2011, regulators have mandated a CG Report (Circular 52/2012) be provided every six months 

starting from mid 2012. The circular also provided a template for the CG Report. 

 

D.6 Disclosures related to the external audit and audit activities. 

 

An external audit conducted by a competent, qualified and independent external auditor is a major 

part of the company’s control framework and gives assurance and credibility to the financial 

information and financial statements issued by the company. 

   

In Vietnam the SSC authorises all auditors undertaking statutory audits of financial statements for 

listed companies. Both the Model Charter and Circular 09/2010 require the appointment of an 

authorised auditor. 

 

All companies in the survey group had their financial statements audited by an authorised external 

auditor (D.23). In 89% of cases the auditors’ opinion was publicly disclosed in line with good 

practices (D.27). Further there has not been evidence of accounting or audit qualifications or queries 

related to financial statements in the past two years in 36% of cases reviewed (D.28). The SSC has 
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been active in questioning companies on their financial statements and on the differences between 

un-audited financial statements and audited financial statements. 

 

Chart 48:  Disclosures related to the external audit and audit activities. 

 

 
 

D.23 Does the company have an annual external audit undertaken by an authorised auditor? 

D.24 Do AGM and / or company documents refer to the ‘independence’ of the external auditor? 

D.25 If a change of auditor is noted in the past two years, were the reasons for the change disclosed? *Note: 

No change was required by the majority of companies.   

D.26 Is there a policy that reviews the external auditor when undertaking non-audit services? 

D.27 Is the external auditor’s opinion publicly disclosed? 

D.28 Have there been any accounting / audit changes, qualifications or queries related to the financial 

statements in the past two years? 

 

A key element of the value of an audit is that the auditor is independent of the company and of the 

management. This independence provides comfort and assurance to investors in his opinion.  It 

seems some companies in Vietnam assume the auditor is independent if he is authorised. This may 

not necessarily be the case. It is rare that companies refer to the independence of the external 

auditor. In 98% of cases no company references to the ‘indepedence’ of the auditor are evident 

(D.24). Independence is particularly important if the external audit undertakes other non-audit 

services and companies should ensure that if / when the external auditor provides non-audit services 

that his indepdendence is not impaired. All companies did not seem to have in place a policy 

approving the external auditor undertaking non-audit services, including at that time a review of the 

independence of the external auditor (D.26). 

 

If an auditor is being changed it is good practice for the company to give the reason for the change.  

It may be just a normal rotation.  However it may not be and may point to differences of opinion 

between company BOD and executives and the auditor.  A change of auditor was noted in 12% of 

the review group.  No companies provided reasons for the change. 

   

D.7 Channels for disseminating information 

 

The OECD Principles and annotations declare “the channels for dissemination of information can 

be as important as the content of the information itself. The Internet and other information 

technologies also provide the opportunity for improving information dissemination. With respect to 

continuous or current disclosure, good practice is to call for ‘immediate’ disclosure of material 

developments”
32

. 

 

 

                                                           
32 OECD, Principles of Corporate Governance, OECD 2004, Paris. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

D.23 D.24 D.25 D.26 D.27 D.28

Not observed

Partially observed

Observed



 

75

 

 

 

Chart 49:  Channels for disseminating information 

 

 
 

D.29 Does the company provide a variety of communication methods? 

D.30 Is the information on the company website comprehensive and accessible? 

D.31 Does the company have a policy and process to ensure continuous ad hoc disclosure of important 

matters? 

D.32 Does the company provide easy public access to and contact details for the Investor Relations person or 

unit? 

 

The key to disclosure is the communication of information about the company to interested parties.  

A wide variety of mechanisms should be used to ensure shareholders can access the information. 

   

Almost all companies (94%) provided a variety of communication and information dissemination 

mechanisms including on a company website, in the Annual Report, and in press releases. Few 

companies seemed to brief analysts and if they do, it was not evident in the public materials. The 

information available seemed to be current (D.29).  

  

However the quality of the information provided was less evident (D.30). Frequently missing items 

were information on the shareholding structure, the group structure and company strategies. When 

the group structure and subsidiaries and associates are disclosed, often it is without indicating the 

percentage of ownership. It is also important that information is provided in Vietnamese and in an 

international business language such as English. Many companies are now providing information in 

English but it is not current and comprehensive. 

  

Disclosure is not just a once a year event when the company presents the Annual Report. It should 

be continuous and companies must keep the market informed. 55% of companies have policies in 

place to ensure continuous ‘ad hoc’ disclosure of important matters (D.31).  

 

To support a quality disclosure regime in a company, a separate company investor relations unit and 

nominated person responsible for disclosure should be evident. Only 7% of companies reviewed 

provide such a service (D.32). Rarely did the reviewers see a name to contact with email details and 

phone numbers. This would demonstrate real commitment to communication with shareholders and 

interested parties. One company provided a clear investor relations policy and also issued a 

quarterly investor relations e-newsletter. 74% of companies need to improve their facilitation of 

communications with stakeholders. 

 

e. OECD Principle VI - Responsibilities of the Board (including Supervisory Board) 
 

“The corporate governance framework should ensure the strategic guidance of the company, the 

effective monitoring of management by the board and the board’s accountability to the company 
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and the shareholders”
33

. Board structures and procedures will vary from country to country, 

depending on the legal and regulatory requirements and structures. Some countries in Asia require a 

code of ethics or business conduct, others do not but the existence of one does encourage better 

corporate governance and gives stakeholders increased confidence that the company is operating 

ethically. 

 

In Vietnam, companies have a two-tier board with a BOD and a SB. Under the current CG laws and 

regulations, the BOD is required to be accountable to the shareholders for the strategy and 

performance of the company, including the annual financial and business plan and guiding and 

controlling management, and to ensure CG policies and processes are in place so the BOD can fulfil 

its tasks in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations. However policies and processes do 

not of themselves guarantee good corporate governance. Good corporate governance requires the 

actions and implementation of the BOD, the SB and the key executives of the company. 

  

The BOD has a duty to ensure the adherence to the company charter, act in the best interests of the 

company, treat all shareholders fairly and equitably, and protect shareholders rights. It is 

responsible for ensuring smooth running of the BOD, its meetings and its business, for the 

appointment and dismissing key management, for BOD, SB and management evaluation of 

performance, remuneration and discipline and to report to shareholders at least at the AGM. 

 

The SB is accountable to shareholders for the financial oversight of the company and to ensure 

compliance in the company with all applicable laws and regulations. It is also responsible for 

internal control oversight and must report to the shareholders at the AGM on how it fulfils these 

roles and its relationships with the BOD and management. With this SB remit, many companies in 

Vietnam, consequently, do not have an Audit Committee at the BOD level. 

 

The scorecard looks selectively at selected areas of board responsibility, including the corporate 

governance environment in which the board operates the role of the chairman and leadership of the 

board, board composition, the board role in company oversight and key board activities and 

company control, and the activities of the supervisory board. 

 

Responsibilities of the board were identified as the one of the most important areas in achieving 

quality corporate governance in Vietnam and, as such have a possible maximum score of 30%. 

 

Table 16: Evidence of Responsibilities of the Board and Supervisory Board – comparison 

 

Measure Score % 2009 Score % 2010 Score % 2011 

Possible maximum 

score for this area 
30.0 30.0 30.0 

Maximum achieved 16.0 16.5 16.4 

Minimum achieved 3.4 5.3 2.9 

Mean 10.6 10.8 10.8 

 

The chart below indicates areas of relative strength in the surveyed group. In general companies 

were diligent at giving guidance on the disclosure of material transactions, explaining the role of the 

Chairman at BOD meetings, and for communicating the BOD’s responsibility for company 

strategy, business plans and for receiving regular reports on the company from management. 

 

                                                           
33  OECD, Principles of Corporate Governance, OECD 2004, Paris. 
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Chart 50: Responsibilities of the board – areas of better performance 

 

 
 

However, the chart below indicates each question related to the responsibilities of the board and 

supervisory board on which the observations of company data are relatively poor and achieve a 

score of 40% or below. The number of questions and the degree of red in the chart is an indicator 

that this important area needs to be improved in Vietnam. The chart indicates that the BOD and SB 

are not fully aware of the expectations of BOD and SB members and are not adequately fulfilling 

their roles.  Many issues related to best practices in board responsibilities are either not well 

understood or not well applied in Vietnamese listed companies  

The specific issues will be raised on a question by question basis. 

 

Chart 51:  Responsibilities of the board – areas of poorer performance 
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For corporate governance to improve in Vietnamese companies, the roles of the BOD and the SB 

should be clear, distinct and board members should be committed to their role beyond minimum 

levels of compliance required by law and regulations. 

 

Question by question analysis 

 

E.1  Board and corporate governance environment 

 

Chart 52:  Board and corporate governance environment 

 

 
 

E.01  Has the company promulgated good CG guidelines? 

E.02  Does the company have clear company values and direction led by the BOD? 

E.03  Does company CG guidance disclose the material transactions that must be approved by the board? 

 

96% of companies have in place company specific corporate governance guidelines. These 

guidelines should include a statement of BOD and SB values and responsibilities, refer to their role 

at the AGM, and their role in the appointment and dismissal of directors and senior management.  

The guidelines should also refer to how the BOD and SB effectively co-ordinate their roles, oversee 

the company and company strategy and how they evaluate senior management and themselves in 

order to improve. In 21% of companies these guidelines were comprehensive (E.01). In some cases 

the company corporate governance guidelines are simply a copy of the Model Charter or of the 

company Articles of Association, indicating an unthinking and uncaring approach and some 4% of 

firms do not have CG Guidelines. Rarely was there evidence of a Code of Ethics or Conduct and 

company values were not clear or not clearly expressed (E.02) in 97% of firms. However policies 

concerning material transactions can be found in most Articles of Association (E.03). 

 

The BOD and the SB in Vietnam are the bodies accountable for setting the ‘tone at the top’ for the 

company and in so doing should establish a clear, written vision for the company and a code of 

ethics or conduct by which the company will do its business. All operating within the company 

should know and abide by these values. 

  

E.2  Role of the chairman and board leadership 

 

The BOD leads the company and the chairman leads the board. The chairman’s role is one of great 

expectation. Ideally, he should provide leadership for the board and ensure board and individual 

director effectiveness, establish structures, policies, procedures and schedules for company 

oversight and for efficient board work, organize and lead board agenda and meetings, ensuring 

participation by all directors and quality decision making. He will have a close working relationship 

with the chairmen of BOD committees, the CEO and senior management. The chairman will drive 

board evaluations and development and counsel individual directors. He will participate in the 

selection and induction of non-executive directors and keep good relations with shareowners, 
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investors and key stakeholders.  He will ensure that the role of independent directors is understood 

and that they are encouraged to challenge BOD and management thinking.  

 

Chart 53:  Role of the chairman and board leadership 

 

 
 

E.04  Is the Chairman’s role at board meetings clearly described in the company CG guidance? 

E.05  Is the Chairman a non-executive director? 

E.06  Is the Chairman ‘independent’ of the company? 

 

To fulfil these roles, the chairman should have sufficient and appropriate powers vested in him, 

have the highest integrity and enjoy the trust and confidence of other directors and shareholders.  

His powers should be clearly described in company CG policies and guidance. In the case of 

Vietnam, this is well done and 97% of companies comprehensively describe the chairman’s role, 

largely in the Articles of Association (E.04). 

 

It is deemed good practice in the OECD Principles and Annotations to separate the roles of BOD 

chairman and CEO as it preserves the balance of power between the two most important roles in the 

company.  Further the roles of the chairman and CEO are fundamentally different – the chairman 

should lead and run the BOD and the CEO should lead and run the operations of the company.  In 

the sample group the chairman is a non-executive director in 66% of cases and in the other 34% 

where the chairman is also an executive, mostly he is also the CEO (E.05). Where the BOD is 

responsible to oversee management, it is difficult to see how this may occur when the chairman of 

the BOD is also the CEO. An inherent conflict of interest occurs. 

  

It is also considered better practice if the chairman is ‘independent’ of the company in that he is not 

a major shareholder or a representative of  major shareholder, has no close relations in company 

management and has no recent (within the last three years) former employment or business 

association with the company. Because the concept of ‘independence’ in CG terms is not well 

known and applied in Vietnam, most chairmen (95%) are not independent of the company (E.06).  

Indeed in Vietnam law and regulation, the term independent director had not been used and applied.  

It is now a feature of the CG Regulations in Circular 121. 

 

In many countries, boards have a specific number or percentage of independent directors mandated. 

Normally the minimum is one-third of the board being independent, one of whom is often the 

chairman.  The goal is to have a sufficient number of board members who are independent so that 

no one individual or group can dominate decision making.  ‘Independence’ as described in OECD 

Principle VI and by the IFC would ensure that the chairman should not have a material relationship 

with the company other than his directorship.  

 

E.3  Board balance - skills, competences and training 

 

The BOD is responsible to lead the company and to bring to board deliberations a variety of skills 

and experiences that each director will apply in the best interests of the company.  Directors should 
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exercise independent judgment on corporate matters and monitor the performance of management.  

Therefore when considering the mix of skills, experience and behaviours required for leading and 

directing the company, board ‘balance’ is recommended – balance of executive and non-executive 

directors, balance of independent directors and a variety skills and experiences, including financial, 

legal, industry and other experiences appropriate to the company.   

 

In general, there is a good mix of executive and non-executive directors in 91% of companies 

(E.07). However, two companies had BODs comprised only of executives despite the CG 

Regulations requiring one-third of directors to be non-executive. 93% of companies did not have 

‘independent’ directors (E.08). his is unsurprising as the CG Regulations in place in 2011 did not 

define ‘independent directors’ or use that terminology. However in CG there is no reason for 

companies not to move beyond the minimum of the law and apply global good practices. Four 

companies in the survey group have done just that and have more than 1/3 of the BOD being 

independent. 64% of companies demonstrate that collectively the BOD has a range of skills and 

experiences, including business knowledge, accounting / finance knowledge, industry experience 

and a balance of executive and non-executive directors (E.09).   

 

Chart 54:  Board balance – skills, competences and training 

 

 
 

E.07  How many BOD members are non-executive? 

E.08  What percentage of the BOD is ‘independent’? 

E.09  Is there evidence of the BOD being a ‘balanced board’? 

E.10  Does company information and director information clearly state/disclose the number of board seats 

each director holds? 

E.11  Does the company have a board induction policy and program for new appointments to the BOD and 

SB? 

E.12  Do the BOD and SB undertake an annual self assessment / evaluation? 

E.13  Did BOD and SB members and CEO participate in CG training and report this? 

 

However and from the evidence provided by the companies and available in the public domain, we 

know little about the number of board seats each director may hold in all. 99% of companies do not 

disclose the number of board seats each director holds (E.10). The CG Regulations require that each 

BOD member should hold a total of 6 or less board seats. Information on this may point to the director’s 

capacity or incapacity to commit time to the company affairs. Too many board seats or committee 

activities may mean little time can be spared for the director to fulfil his duties at each company. 

 

Further the survey group provided little information on how new BOD members are prepared for 

their role and for the initial BOD meeting.  It is good practice for new directors to be inducted into 
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the company on appointment by being provided with information on the industry, the state of the 

company, the recent financial performance and through meeting other directors and key 

management.  99% of companies do not refer to the induction of new BOD members (E.11). A 

shareholder would be comforted in knowing that directors are well prepared for their role. 

 

In good CG practice and given ever present changing law and regulations affecting business and the 

rising expectations of CG, it is important that directors keep pace with developments. In many 

countries this means that boards will assess their performance annually and report to shareholders 

on the assessment and how the findings feed into development programs and even training for the 

BOD. There is little evidence of BOD assessments in Vietnamese companies. 99% of companies do 

not disclose information on this activity (E.12). However 13 companies do report that their directors 

undertake some kind of training and development (E.13).  

 

BOD and SB members’ commitment to quality CG and CG development would be enhanced by 

evaluation and training and transparency on these matters. 

 

E.4 Board effectiveness – information, meetings and records  

 

A BOD is comprised of talented people whose time is valuable. Therefore the time they spend at 

BOD meetings should be maximised. They require effective working practices at the meetings, 

including regular meetings, adequate notification of the meetings, timely delivery of meeting 

papers, a clear agenda, and that good records are kept of the meetings and the resolutions from each 

meeting. Each of the BOD and SB should have a schedule of meetings for the year, a working plan 

for meetings with topics for discussion and decision, leaving time for deliberation of other issues 

that may arise.  

 

Chart 55: Board effectiveness – information, meetings and records 

 

 
 

E.14  How often did the BOD meet in the past year? 

E.15  How often did the SB meet in the past year? 

E.16  Are there mechanisms in place to ensure board members receive adequate notification of the board 

meeting for all BOD / SB meetings? 

E.17  Do the BOD and SB keep meeting minutes and resolution records of each meeting? 

 

The Model Charter requires BODs to meet at least four times per year, once in every quarter. Most 

BODs meet this requirement and disclose the number of meetings held either in their Annual Report 

or in AGM documents (E.14). However we have little information as to the individual director 

attendance at the meetings. It is good practice to let shareholders know the record of individual 

attendance at BOD and BOD committee meetings as they can then assess the commitment of each 

director individually. Whilst the SB meets less frequently, with the Model Charter requiring a 
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minimum of two times per year, again there are few companies revealing individual attendance at 

the meetings (E.15). BODs and SBs should not be constrained in the number of meetings they have.  

It is their responsibility to meet as often as required to lead and direct the business, which in times 

of crisis may be more often. 

 

BOD and SB members should read and consider the issues before each meeting which means they 

should receive adequate notification of the meetings, their location and receive meeting papers in 

good time. Good practice is that BOD and SB meeting papers should be received at least seven days 

in advance of the meeting. Usually this process is facilitated by the Company Secretary. In Vietnam 

documents tend to be distributed about five days before the meetings as stipulated as the minimum 

in the Model Charter. Very few companies have a seven day policy, yet there is nothing to prevent 

companies aspiring to this deadline (E.16). There is evidence that meeting records are well kept and 

available for both the BOD and the SB in 62% of companies surveyed (E.17).  

 

E.5  Board effectiveness – company strategy, risk and oversight 

 

According to the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance, the board should fulfil certain key 

functions including, “reviewing and guiding corporate strategy, major plans of action, risk policy, 

annual budgets and business plans; setting performance objectives; monitoring implementation and 

corporate performance”
34

 and overseeing management.   

 

As board expectations continue to increase as companies globalise, regulations increase and become 

more complex, companies delegate board oversight to board committees. They can be an effective 

method of handling a greater number of issues more efficiently by allowing experts to focus on 

specific areas, developing subject specific expertise, such as in financial reporting and risk 

management, and can enhance the objectivity and independence of the BOD judgment. Globally the 

most widely established committees are an Audit Committee, a Remuneration Committee and a 

Nomination and CG Committee. Indeed in Asia, 94% of listed companies have an Audit 

Committee, 75% a Remuneration Committee and 56% a Nomination Committee
35

.  

 

Chart 56:  Board effectiveness – company strategy, risk and oversight 

 

 
 

E.18  Has the BOD established BOD committees (Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Human 

Resource Committee) or a designated BOD person? 

E.19  Is there evidence that the BOD receives regular management reports on the company activities and its 

financial position? 

                                                           
34  OECD, Principles of Corporate Governance, OECD, 2004, Paris. 

35  Gavin Grant, Beyond the Numbers: Corporate Governance in Australia and Asia, Deutsche Bank, London 2007, accessible at www.db.com. 
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E.20  Is there evidence the BOD is responsible for the strategy and business plans of the company? 

E.21  Are the BOD/SB responsible for and oversee the risk management system of the company? 

E.22  Do the BOD / SB assess the CEO and key executives annually? 

 

In Vietnam, committees are not mandatory and in any event all responsibility for committee 

activities remains with the board.  However, both the CG Regulations and the Model Charter 

suggest that the BOD set up committees to facilitate BOD activities. Further in good practices 

committees should have a charter that clearly establishes their mandate and responsibility to report 

to the BOD. Only 16% of companies seemed to have committees working under the BOD. The 

most prevalent committee was an Audit Committee. However there is little evidence of either a 

committee charter or of committee reporting to the BOD (E.18). As a minimum an Audit 

Committee and  Nomination Committee are recommended. In global good practices, all members of 

these committees are independent directors.  

 

In other BOD activities there is better news.  There is evidence that 81% of BODs receive regular 

management reports on company activities and its financial position (E.19). The BOD seems to 

participate in the development of the company strategy and approves both the company strategy and 

its business plans in 93% of cases reviewed (E.20). 

   

Less evident was the BODs role in risk oversight. Evidence of policies and processes being in place 

to ensure management identifies and has mechanisms to manage identified risks and that 

management reports to the BOD on risk regularly is poor in 80% of companies (E.21). 

    

One key role of the BOD and the SB is to assess the CEO and key senior executives annually.  

There is little evidence as to if or how this evaluation occurs or that the annual evaluation considers 

senior management’s contribution to the long-term performance of the company in 98% of firms 

reviewed (E.22). BODs and SBs should undertake this important role annually and report to 

shareholders on it. 

    

E.6  Board role in company control 

 

“The board is expected to monitor and manage potential conflicts of interest of management, board 

members and shareholders, including misuse of corporate assets and abuse in related party 

transactions.  It is an important function of the board to oversee the internal control systems 

covering financial reporting.  These functions are sometimes assigned to the internal auditor which 

should maintain direct access to the board”
36

.  It is a key responsibility of the BOD and the SB to 

control the company and protect its assets. 

 

Chart 57:  Board role in company control 

 

 
 

                                                           
36  OECD, Principles of Corporate Governance, OECD, 2004, Paris. 
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E.23  Is there any evidence of non-compliance of the company over the last year? 

E.24  Do company documents cover / explain internal control structures, policies and practices? 

E.25  Does the internal audit function provide an independent evaluation of the internal control process and 

risk management of the company annually? 

E.26  Does the company report on the activities of internal audit in its Annual Report and / or SB Report? 

 

Vietnamese regulations make specific provisions for the establishment of the SB whose role is to 

focus on controlling financial and business activities of the company and monitoring compliance 

with applicable regulations. In 78% of the companies reviewed there was evidence of non-

compliance (E.23). Examples of non-compliance were that the BOD did not disclose their trading in 

company shares or their part in company transactions. Often there was evidence of late submission 

of required reports and of the SSC querying the BOD and SB on company financial reports and 

disclosure violations. These would suggest that oversight and compliance in most companies must 

be strengthened.  

 

A strong internal control framework assists compliance with policies, procedures and practices in 

place and reported on to the BOD and SB.  In 100% of the companies reviewed there was 

insufficient or poor quality information about a firm’s internal control framework and the internal 

controls in place (E.24).  A greater understanding of internal controls and internal audit and their 

contribution to the success of the company is necessary.  

 

In good practices, the internal audit function is responsible for the on-going appraisal of the 

financial health of a company’s operations. Internal controls are designed to provide reasonable 

assurance that the company’s objectives with regards to the efficiency and effectiveness of 

operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.  

The internal audit function should interact with the external auditors. However there is evidence that 

few companies seem to have an established internal audit function, that internal audit activities test 

and evaluate internal controls are functioning as designed and that internal audit reports regularly on 

its activities (E.25 and E.26). Banks seem to be better in the oversight of internal audit and controls 

than in other industries as they are subject to stricter regulations in this area. 

 

In theory in Vietnam and under the Law on Enterprises, the supervisory board should have the 

ultimate inspection role to ensure proper controls are established in the company. If this is 

insufficient, as seems to be the case in Vietnam, it would be good practice for the BOD to establish 

an Audit Committee to undertake this oversight. 

 

E.7  Supervisory Board oversight 

 

In Vietnam, the Supervisory Board controls the operations and financial activities of the company.  

It supervises the work of the BOD and management and compliance with laws and regulations, and 

is responsible for inspection and evaluation of the financial reports. The Model Charter also obliges 

the Supervisory Board to manage the relationship with the external auditor. All these duties in other 

corporate governance structures globaly fall to the Audit Committee of the board. Generally, the SB 

should be chosen for their impeccable reputation and for their financial background and expertise. 
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Chart 58:  Supervisory Board oversight 

 

 
 

E.27  Is there evidence of the SB oversight of the external auditor? 

E.28  Is there evidence of SB review and approval of the Annual Report and financial statements? 

E.29  Does the SB report include discussion of the SB supervision of operational and financial condition of 

the company; performance of BOD, BOM and executive officers? 

E.30  Does the SB Report include reference to the SB’s performance, issues discussed and decisions taken? 

E.31  Does the SB report on its evaluation of the coordination between the SB, BOD, BOM and 

shareholders? 

 

In practice, the role of the SB in selecting, interacting with and oversight of the external auditor is 

not evident in 98% of firms (E.27). Some companies mention the selection of the external auditors 

as a SB activity but further information on the SB interaction with the external auditor is not 

available. The SB should discuss with the external auditor the scope of the audit and the issues 

arising from the audit.  However information presented on or by the SB does record an active role 

being taken on the review of the Annnual Report and financial statements (E.28). 

 

The SB is required to report on its oversight, including on the performance of the BOD and the 

BOM. 50% of firms report well on SB activities, especially on the financial and operational 

performance of the company (E.29). However many companies’ SBs fall short in reporting on the 

BOD and the BOM performance. Also, SBs do not report well on their own meetings, the issues 

discussed and decisions taken, and on SB members’ meeting attendance (E.30). SBs also do not 

report well on the co-ordination between themselves and the BOD and the BOM in oversight 

activities (E.31). If SBs are not operating effectively, it is recommended that BODs establish an 

Audit Committee to undertake these activities. Reporting from SBs needs improvement. 
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F. Conclusions and Recommendations 
 

Given that the review of the 100 largest companies listed on the two Vietnamese stock exchanges 

indicates a regression in the application of good corporate governance principles, it can only be 

concluded that the companies themselves are not yet playing their part in developing a quality 

market for investment in Vietnam.  

 

This regression is despite a regulatory framework for good CG being in place and the authorities 

having actively debveloped the right instruments in recent years to allow for better corporate 

governance. In 2010 a Law on Credit Institutions was issued. Following the issueance of Circular 

09/2010, a new Circular on disclosure was enacted in April, 2012 (MOFs Circular 52/2012) and 

updated CG Guidelines were issued in July, 2012. All these regulatory developments will pose an 

increased challenge for companies in Vietnam with poor CG. As the bar is raised again, companies 

must make greater efforts to understand what makes for good CG and apply those standards. 

 

Changes in the new CG Guidelines will move the Vietnam regulatory framework even closer to 

global good practices. The new guidelines include: 

 

• A new definition of ‘independent directors’ to be applied, which is close but not identical to the 

IFC defnintion of ‘independent directors’ or with global best practices; 

• New CG requirements of ‘large-scale’ public companies relating to board members; 

• New detailed requirements regarding related-party transactions to be reported; 

• Increased disclosures concerning board nominees and guidance on good board nomination 

processes; 

• Earlier notification of AGMs to facilitate increased shareholder participation; 

• Provisions for increased shareholder communications; 

• An important provision for listed companies and large-scale companies to appoint a corporate 

secretary;  

• A  requirement of mandatory CG training for BOD and SB members, the corporate secretary 

and CEO; and 

• A requirement for an auditor to attend the AGM in certain circumstances. 

 

Many of the items mentioned as new in the CG Guidelines are areas in the CG Scorecard Report 

where the companies are currently performing poorly. 

 

Corporate governance practices in other Asian countires is reasonably well developed. They began 

implementing CG good practices earlier than Vietnam. This difference is becoming more 

transparent to investors.  Other regional studies such as the ASEAN Corporate Governance 

Assessment Program and also the ACGA-CLSA CG Watch 2012 demonstrate where other 

countries are in relation to CG development. The ACGA-CLSA CG Watch is developed 

specifically for investor use, to inform them of the state of CG practice in individual companies and 

in particular countries. Both these instruments accept that the OECD Corporate Governance 

Principles are the global benchmark and measure companies in those terms as does the Vietnam 

Scorecard. Even if these other instruments are not identical to the Vietnam Scorecard, they do 

provide some comparability of investment climate related to CG for investors. From this report, 

investors can see that Vietnamese companies are lagging the region in CG application. 

 

The ACGA-CLSA CG Watch 2012 reports an average company score of 51.2% on corporate 

governance of 864 companies it reviewed. This is margially down on the 2010 report. However it is 

above the average score (42.5%) of Vietnamese companies demonstrated in this report. Singapore 
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(58%), Thailand (53.2%), Malaysia (54.2%) all would rank ahead of Vietnam in a comparable 

study. Indonesia and the Philippines would also rank ahead of Vietnam. 

 

If Vietnamese companies are to improve their CG noticeably, companies should focus on improving 

three areas: 

 

• Disclosure and transparency (Area D); and 

• The equitable treatment of shareholders, particularly minority shareholders (Area B); and 

• The responsibilities of the board and board practices (Area E). 

 

From the study, Area E - the responsibilities of directors, has the greatest influence on the CG score.  

However Area D, disclosure and transparency is equally influential in improving CG. Area D 

declined 3.1% in the 2012 study.  Area B, equitable treatment of shareholders declined some 3.2% 

in 2012 and needs inprovement if investors are to trust the market. 

 

Whilst it has been of relatively minor influence on the results of the study in the two previous years 

due to the low number of questions and weighting of scoring to this area, Area C related to the role 

of stakeholders is becoming most important to companies and their reputation in Asia. In the 2012 

study this area declined by a very large 6.7%. Employees are seeking better working conditions ( 

health, safety) and better living environments. In the past these were less of an issue but now 

investors are wary of the impact corporate responsibility issues can have on a company and in turn 

on their investment. 

 

Given all this there is no longer time or space for Vietnamese companies lag their Asian 

counterparts.  Attracting funds for growth and investment is a competitive business. 

  

For three years now, all CG Scorecard Reports have highlighted that CG developments in Vietnam 

have been ‘top down’ and led by the legal framework and regulatory actions, and the market has 

been waiting for companies to become aware and take on their responsibilities. As this approach has 

failed to spark much change from companies, it is time to focus on mechanisms that encourage 

movement from the companies.  

   

Some suggestions might be: 

• The now required training of directors is an urgent need; 

• Increased required reporting of CG, of risk and internal controls frameworks, policies and 

practices, board and SB activities, meetings and evaluations, ; 

• Stronger monitoring and enforcement of financial reporting and CG practices; 

• Closer relations between auditors and regulators of listed companies;  

• Stronger protections for minority shareholders; and  

• A more participatory role for shareholders in company affairs.  

 

It is also evident from the review that the wider community and the ‘gatekeepers’ for corporate 

governance could play a stronger role in achieving better corporate governance. The media, 

auditors, credit rating agencies, securities firms, firm advisors, lenders and others should be 

encouraged to take a critical look at the corporate governance of companies and build CG practices 

into their relationships with a company, creating a demand for better corporate governance.  

‘Gatekeepers’ who are internal to the companies themselves (internal auditors and company 

secretaries) should be afforded the protection of  the BOD or SB and report directly to the board and 

be encouraged to actively work for better CG in their companies. 
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Recommendations  

 

It is difficult to single out a few priorities for action as there are many opportunities arising from the 

Scorecard findings. However, a major conclusion is that if a company applies good CG practices, it 

will lead to improved company performance.  Ownership characteristics, company size, the board 

composition, especially the presence of independent directors, all influence corporate governance 

practices. The Scorecard itself assures the companies that they are being monitored for their 

corporate governance and the report enables the public to understand better what is corporate 

governance and how it varies across companies.  

  

Given the new requirement for the appointment of independent directors to the board, the role of 

independent directors does need to be clear and plans put in place for company identification and 

selection of these individuals. 

 

The new requirement for listed companies and large-scale companies to appoint a company 

secretary will also require considerable consideration of the role, particularly the position of 

ensuring the company’s compliance with CG regulations in Circular 121/2012. 

 

Indeed if one was to take a detailed view of CG in Vietnam, every question in Part E, Specific 

Findings showing a predominance of red on the graphs is an area for improvement. There just does 

not seem to be a deep understanding of what constitutes good CG. Therefore, the need for 

considerable training is urgent and necessary if there is to be a shift in company approaches. 

 

Of the recommendations below, some are short term and other recommendations have a longer in 

time frame. However, all are considered important and suitable for attention in Vietnam now.  

  

Regulator Led Development 

 

1. Regulators should provide relevant guidance for companies on the implementation of corporate 

governance practices, especially the implementation of MOF Circular 121/2012. For example 

best practice guidance would be useful on independent directors, the role of audit committees, 

board nomination practices, the role of a company secretary, internal audit and internal 

controls, related party transactions policies, and what information may be considered as 

‘material’ and therefore should be released to the shareholders and the investor public.  Perhaps 

a CG reporting checklist could guide companies on better CG reporting. Further, and in the 

absence of a private sector focal point for CG and director training (see Recommendation 9), 

the regulator should provide such training in the interim. 

2. Regulators should build the skills, capacity and resources to equip them to actively monitor, 

enforce and guide quality CG in the markets in a timely. For example robust , defensible  

processes and skills are required for the review of financial reports filed with the regulators.  

The latest technology should be applied in real time to detect unusual market transactions. 

3. Of particular importance is regulatory monitoring of the market, financial disclosures to the 

market and the enforcement of disclosure and transparency requirements. There is evidence 

that companies may ignore inconvenient regulations. Regulators must end this practice and 

apply appropriate sanctions as required. Regulators should report enforcement actions to the 

public. 

4. The quality of financial and non-financial reporting from Vietnamese companies needs to 

improve. The adoption of all current International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs and 

IASs) as VAS is recommended to assist quality and comparable financial information in 

Vietnamese companies. Currently VAS are lagging international implementation by several 

years. 2013 to 2015 should prove challenging in that several amendments (fair value 

measurement, employee benefits) to VAS will be applicable in 2013 and in 2015 the 
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international standard on Financial Instruments will be applicable.  Considerable company 

skills development will be required as VAS changes become applicable. 

5. Regulators should require of auditors’ attestations of their independence and promote the role 

of auditors as independent reviewers of financial statements.  

6. In Circular 121/2012, BOD and SB members, the Executive Director (General Director) and 

the company secretary must participate in training courses regarding corporate governance.  

Also regulators should require intensive corporate governance training of all directors at the 

time of a company’s listing. It is also recommended that all CG training is reported in the 

Annual Report. Directorship is a profession which requires continuing professional 

development. 

7. Regular board and SB evaluations should be required and reported on. 

8. The State, as a major shareholder in the Vietnamese securities market, needs to become a 

‘champion’ of better corporate governance and train its director appointees in global CG 

practices and demand the application of those practices in companies where they have a major 

shareholding.   

 

Institution Strengthening 

 

9. There is an urgent need for an institution to be established to develop and support quality CG 

in Vietnam and to support directors in their need to understand and keep curent with global 

developments in CG. An Institute of Directors or a Center of Corporate Governance promoting 

CG best practices should be established and which should provide raise awareness of the 

importance of CG, director training, board services and guidance. It should provide the focal 

point in Vietnam for corporate governance. 

10. The development and provision of quality CG training programs for directors and senior 

management is necessary. It is recommended that annual training undertaken by individual 

directors, the CEO and corporate secretary be reported on in the Annual Report by individual. 

CG training has been mandated. However a  set amount of time devoted to training should be 

specified. Training programs, materials and case studies pertinent to Vietnam and 

demonstrating global best practices should be developed. 

11. Given the large state ownership in listed companies in Vietnam, the state should ‘champion’ 

good CG practices and demand it from companies in which they have a major shareholding.  

Application of the OECD CG Guidelines for State-Owned Entities is recommended for state-

owned entities. 

12. The accounting and audit professional standards and practices in Vietnam need to be improved 

to provide relevant, reliable, timely information on all material company financial matters to 

investors. A move to converge accounting and audit standards to international standards is 

underway and is to be encouraged. The timetable for standards convergence should ensure 

convergence by 2015 or 2016 at the latest. An independent audit oversight body should also be 

established. Financial reporting guidance could be provided on issues particular to the Vietnam 

market and on year end issues. Reliable financial information is most important for company 

decision making, investor decision making, for regulatory oversight and for financial stability.    

 

Private Sector Developments 

 

13. This review shows that companies should focus on implementing best corporate governance 

practices in three important areas: 

• The responsibilities of the board 

• Disclosure and transparency  
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• The equitable treatment of shareholders and their inclusion in company affairs. 

 

14. Companies must improve the quality of information they disclose to shareholders and the 

wider investor community. Currently company public information is generally minimal. They 

should be sure they provide a comprehensive and clear picture of company performance, 

company strategies and risks and of BOD and SB activities and meeting attendance. Risk and 

internal control frameworks, policies and practices are poorly reported and need improvement.  

Both financial and non-financial reporting must improve. 

15. Each company should develop and apply a company Code of Ethics/Conduct and CG Code, 

endosed by all directors and  made available on the company website. 

16. The new company secretary role will require serious board and management consideration.  

The company secretary should be viewed as an internal gatekeeper for good corporate 

governance. Individuals appointed within companies for this role should be supported by the 

board and report corporate governance matters to the board. 

17. Companies should ensure that either the SB undertakes all the activities of an audit committee 

and / or BODs should voluntarily establish audit committees as sub-committees of the BOD.  

The latter is recommended as the Audit Committee, comprised of financially literate, 

independent directors and led by and an independent director can be a focus for quality 

financial reporting and company financial and comppliance oversight.   

18. Further the BOD would benefit from the establishment of a CG and Nomination Committee to 

ensure better CG, quality board appointments, a transparent appointment process  and ensure 

BOD succession planning. 

19. Companies should review their Articles of Association to ensure there are no conflicts between 

the Articles and legislation, regulations and the new CG Guidelines.  There is evidence of 

conflicts with regard to thresholds for BOD nominations and for shareholder appproval of 

major transactions.   

20. It is vital that directors understand the full gamut of their responsibilities. They should increase 

engagement in the oversight and reporting of company risks and particularly in ensuring the 

establishment of a framework, policies and processes for an appropriate control environment.  

Companies should ensure they have a credible and qualified Internal Audit unit within their 

companies that reports directly to the BOD. 

21. Companies have been placing little emphasis on the company relations with stakeholders.  This 

is no longer an option. Companies should be responsive to expectations of company 

approaches to environmental, social and governance and the reporting thereon and of corporate 

responsibility. Companies should develop and implement strategies for the protection of 

employees health and safety and for the protection of the environment in particular. 

22. Companies should understand the distinction between good CG and compliance with the law 

and demonstrate their commitment to the former. CG best practices is far more than 

compliance and companies, if they wish to distinguish themselves from the broader set of listed 

companies, should be encouraged to provide better and fuller information to shareholders and 

to the market, should improve their AGM policies and practices so fuller participation of 

shareholders at the AGM is facilitated and should provide the AGM information in a more 

timely manner. Better disclosure and transparency from companies is required. 

23. Companies should develop good shareholder relations and encourage shareholder participation 

in company affairs by establishing a functioning Investor Relations unit that ensures proper and 

equitable provision of information. The Investor Relations portal on the website should include 

current information and provide investor information in line with international best practices. 
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24. Given the different approach of banks and the significance of the banking sector to the 

Vietnam market, the Vietnam Banking Association (VNBA) may consider undertaking a 

separate corporate governance scorecard for banks that may better address issues specific to 

banks. A separate scorecard could focus on bank board composition and remuneration, strategy 

and especially on bank risk (credit risk, counterparty risk, corporate borrower exposures, 

liquidity, non-performing loans and anti-money laundering policies etc) and risk oversight.   

25. Shareholders, especially the state as shareholder,  should take a more participatory role in the 

CG of their companies.  They should be more demanding of the BOD especially in the review 

and appointment of the external auditor, on the provision of information on the background of 

BOD nominees and in the quality of reporting they receive from the BOD and SB.  

Shareholders should attend and actively participate in the AGM. 

26. Private sector parties, such as banks, other lenders and institutional investors should promote 

awareness of the benefits of good corprate governance and where possible incorporate client 

company demands for good CG implementation. The media may also be encouraged to assist 

in raising awareness of the importance of CG to company perfomance and profitability.   
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G. Appendices 

 
a. List of 2012 companies surveyed 

 

Market capitalisation of the whole sample (100 firms) represents 80% or more of the combined 

HNX and HOSE market capitalization at 1 January 2011. 

 

No. Code Exchange Name of Company Industry 

1 ACB HNX Asia Commercial Bank  Financials 

2 AGR HOSE AgriBank Securities Joint Stock Corporation  Financials 

3 ANV HOSE Nam Viet Corporation  
Consumer 

Goods 

4 BCI HOSE 
Binh Chanh Construction Investment Shareholding 

Company  
Financials 

5 BMI HOSE BaoMinh Insurance Corporation  Financials 

6 BMP HOSE Binh Minh Plastics Joint Stock Company  Industrials  

7 BTS HNX But Son Cement Joint Stock Company  Industrials  

8 BVH HOSE BaoViet Holdings  Financials  

9 BVS HNX Bao Viet Securities Joint Stock Company  Financials  

10 CII HOSE 
Ho Chi Minh City Infrastructure Investment Joint Stock 

Company  
Industrials  

11 CMG HOSE CMC Corporation  Technology  

12 CSM HOSE The Southern Rubber Industry Joint Stock Company  
Consumer 

Goods 

13 CTD HOSE Cotec Construction Joint Stock Company  Industrials  

14 CTG HOSE 
Vietnam Joint Stock Commercial Bank For Industrial And 

Trade 
Financials  

15 CTS HNX 
Vietnam Bank For Industry And Trade Securities Joint 

Stock Company  
Financials  

16 DHG HOSE DHG Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company  Healthcare  

17 DIG HOSE 
Development Investment Construction Joint Stock 

Corporation 
Financials  

18 DPM HOSE Petrovietnam Fertilizer & Chemical Corporation  
Basic 

Materials  

19 DPR HOSE Dong Phu Rubber Joint Stock Company  
Basic 

Materials  

20 DRC HOSE Da Nang Rubber Joint Stock Company  
Consumer 

Goods  

21 DTL HOSE Dai Thien Loc Corporation  
Basic 

Materials  

22 EIB HOSE Vietnam Export - Import Commercial Joint Stock Bank  Financials  

23 ELC HOSE 
Electronics Communications Technology Investment 

Development Corporation  
Technology  

24 FPT HOSE FPT Corporation  Technology  
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No. Code Exchange Name of Company Industry 

25 
GM

D 
HOSE Gemadept Corporation  Industrials  

26 HAG HOSE HAGL Joint Stock Company  Financials  

27 HBB HNX Hanoi Building Commercial Joint Stock Bank  Financials  

28 HCM HOSE Ho Chi Minh City Securities Corporation  Financials  

29 HDC HOSE Ba Ria - Vung Tau Housing Development   Financials  

30 HDG HOSE Ha Do Group Joint Stock Company  Industrials  

31 HPG HOSE Hoa Phat Group Joint Stock Company  Industrials  

32 HQC HOSE 
Hoang Quan Consulting - Trading - Service Real Estate 

Corporation  
Financials  

33 HRC HOSE Hoa Binh Rubber Joint Stock Company  
Basic 

Materials  

34 HSG HOSE HOASEN Group  
Basic 

Materials  

35 HT1 HOSE Ha Tien 1 Cement Joint Stock Company  Industrials  

36 HVG HOSE Hung Vuong Corporation  
Consumer 

Goods  

37 IJC HOSE Becamex Infrastructure Development JSC   Financials  

38 ITA HOSE Tan Tao Investment Industry Corporation  Financials  

39 ITC HOSE 
Investment and Trading Of Real Estate Joint Stock 

Company  
Financials  

40 KBC HOSE KinhBac City Development Share Holding Corporation  Financials  

41 KDC HOSE Kinh Do Corporation  
Consumer 

Goods  

42 KDH HOSE Khang Dien Investment & Trading House JSC  Financials  

43 KLS HNX Kim Long Securities Corporation  Financials  

44 LCG HOSE Licogi 16 Joint Stock Company  Industrials  

45 LHG HOSE Long Hau Corporation  Financials  

46 LSS HOSE Lam Son Sugar Joint Stock Corporation  
Consumer 

Goods  

47 MPC HOSE Minh Phu Seafood Joint Stock Company  
Consumer 

Goods  

48 MSN HOSE Masan Group Corporation  
Consumer 

Goods  

49 NBB HOSE NBB Investment Corporation  Financials  

50 NTL HOSE Tu Liem Urban Development Joint Stock Company  Financials  

51 NTP HNX Tien Phong Plastic Joint Stock Company   Industrials  

52 NVB HNX Nam Viet Commercial Joint Stock Bank   Financials  

53 OCH HNX Ocean Hospitality & Service JSC   Financials  

54 OGC HOSE Ocean Group Joint Stock Company   Financials  

55 PAC HOSE Dry Cell and Storage Battery Joint Stock Company  Consumer 
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No. Code Exchange Name of Company Industry 

Goods  

56 PDR HOSE Phat Dat Corporation Real Estate Development  Financials  

57 PET HOSE Petrovietnam General Services JS Corporation   Industrials  

58 PGD HOSE 
Petro Vietnam Low Pressure Gas Distribution Joint Stock 

Company  
Oil & Gas  

59 PHR HOSE Phuoc Hoa Rubber Joint Stock Company   
Basic 

Materials  

60 PLC HNX Petrolimex Petrochemical Joint Stock Company  Oil & Gas  

61 PNJ HOSE Phu Nhuan Jewelry Joint Stock Company  
Consumer 

Goods  

62 POM HOSE Pomina Steel Corporation   
Basic 

Materials  

63 PPC HOSE Pha Lai Thermal Power Joint Stock Company  Utilities  

64 PTL HOSE PVC Petro Capital & Infrastructure Investment., JSC  Financials  

65 PVD HOSE PetroVietnam Drilling & Well Services Corporation   Oil & Gas  

66 PVF HOSE PetroVietnam Finance Joint Stock Corporation  Financials  

67 PVI HNX PVI Holdings  Financials  

68 PVS HNX PetroVietnam Technical Services Corporation   Oil & Gas  

69 PVT HOSE Petrovietnam Transportation Corporation  Industrials  

70 PVX HNX Petro Vietnam Construction Joint Stock Corporation   Industrials  

71 PXL HOSE IDICO - Petroleum Trading Construction Investment JSC  Financials  

72 QCG HOSE Quoc Cuong Gia Lai Joint Stock Company   Financials  

73 REE HOSE Refrigeration Electrical Engineering Corporation   Industrials  

74 RIC HOSE Royal International Corporation  
Consumer 

Services  

75 SAM HOSE SACOM Development And Investment Corporation  Technology  

76 SBS HOSE Sacombank Securities Joint Stock Company   Financials  

77 SBT HOSE Société De Bourbon Tay Ninh  
Consumer 

Goods  

78 SCR HNX Sai Gon Thuong Tin Real Estate JSC  Financials  

79 SGT HOSE Sai Gon Telecommunication & Technologies Corporation   Technology  

80 SHB HNX SaiGon Ha noi Commercial Joint Stock Bank  Financials  

81 SHS HNX Sai Gon - Ha Noi Securities Joint Stock Company  Financials  

82 SJS HOSE 
Song Da Urban & Industrial Zone Investment and 

Development Joint Stock Company  
Financials  

83 SQC HNX Sai Gon - Quy Nhơn Mining Corporation  
Basic 

Materials  

84 SSI HOSE SaiGon Securities Inc.  Financials  

85 STB HOSE Sai Gon Thuong Tin Commercial Joint Stock Bank  Financials  

86 TBC HOSE Thac Ba Hydropower Joint Stock Company  Utilities  



 

95

 

 

 

No. Code Exchange Name of Company Industry 

87 TCM HOSE 
Thanh Cong Textile Garment Investment Trading Joint 

Stock Company  

Consumer 

Goods  

88 TDH HOSE Thu Duc Housing Development Corporation  Financials  

89 TRC HOSE Tay Ninh Rubber Joint Stock Company  
Basic 

Materials  

90 VCB HOSE Bank for Foreign Trade of Vietnam   Financials  

91 VCG HNX 
Vietnam Construction and Import - Export Joint Stock 

Corporation  
Industrials  

92 VHC HOSE Vinh Hoan Corporation  
Consumer 

Goods  

93 VIC HOSE VINCOM Joint Stock Company  Financials  

94 VIS HOSE Vietnam – Italy Steel Joint Stock Company  
Basic 

Materials  

95 VND HNX VN Direct Securities Corporation  Financials  

96 VNM HOSE Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company  
Consumer 

Goods  

97 VNR HNX Vietnam National Reinsurance Corporation  Financials  

98 VNS HOSE Vietnam Sun Corporation  
Consumer 

Services  

99 VOS HOSE Viet Nam Ocean Shipping Joint Stock Company   Industrials  

100 VSH HOSE Vinh Son - Song Hinh Hydropower Joint Stock Company  Utilities  
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b. The intersection sample of 75 companies surveyed in both 2011 and 2012 Reports 

 

No. Code SX Name of Company 

1 ACB HNX Asia Commercial Bank 

2 AGR HOSE AgriBank Securities Joint Stock Corporation 

3 ANV HOSE Nam Viet Corporation 

4 BCI HOSE Binh Chanh Construction Investment Shareholding Company 

5 BMI HOSE BaoMinh Insurance Corporation 

6 BMP HOSE Binh Minh Plastics Joint Stock Company 

7 BTS HNX But Son Cement Joint Stock Company 

8 BVH HOSE BaoViet Holdings 

9 BVS HNX Bao Viet Securities Joint Stock Company 

10 CII HOSE Ho Chi Minh City Infrastructure Investment Joint Stock Company 

12 CSM HOSE The Southern Rubber Industry Joint Stock Company 

14 CTG HOSE Vietnam Joint Stock Commercial Bank For Industry And Trade 

15 CTS HNX Vietnam Bank For Industry And Trade Securities Joint Stock Company 

16 DHG HOSE DHG Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company 

17 DIG HOSE Development Investment Construction Joint Stock Corporation 

18 DPM HOSE Petrovietnam Fertilizer & Chemical Corporation 

19 DPR HOSE Dong Phu Rubber Joint Stock Company 

20 DRC HOSE Da Nang Rubber Joint Stock Company 

22 EIB HOSE Vietnam Export - Import Commercial Joint Stock Bank 

24 FPT HOSE FPT Corporation 

25 GMD HOSE Gemadept Corporation 

26 HAG HOSE HAGL Joint Stock Company 

28 HCM HOSE Ho Chi Minh City Securities Corporation 

31 HPG HOSE Hoa Phat Group Joint Stock Company 

34 HSG HOSE HOASEN Group 

35 HT1 HOSE Ha Tien 1 Cement Joint Stock Company 

36 HVG HOSE Hung Vuong Corporation 

38 ITA HOSE Tan Tao Investment Industry Corporation 

39 ITC HOSE Investment and Trading Of Real Estate Joint Stock Company 

40 KBC HOSE KinhBac City Development Share Holding Corporation 
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No. Code SX Name of Company 

41 KDC HOSE Kinh Do Corporation 

43 KLS HNX Kim Long Securities Corporation 

44 LCG HOSE Licogi 16 Joint Stock Company 

46 LSS HOSE Lam Son Sugar Joint Stock Corporation 

47 MPC HOSE Minh Phu Seafood Joint Stock Company 

48 MSN HOSE Masan Group Corporation 

49 NBB HOSE NBB Investment Corporation 

50 NTL HOSE Tu Liem Urban Development Joint Stock Company 

51 NTP HNX Tien Phong Plastic Joint Stock Company  

55 PAC HOSE Dry Cell and Storage Battery Joint Stock Company 

57 PET HOSE Petrovietnam General Services JS Corporation  

58 PGD HOSE Petro Vietnam Low Pressure Gas Distribution Joint Stock Company 

59 PHR HOSE Phuoc Hoa Rubber Joint Stock Company  

60 PLC HNX Petrolimex Petrochemical Joint Stock Company 

61 PNJ HOSE Phu Nhuan Jewelry Joint Stock Company 

63 PPC HOSE Pha Lai Thermal Power Joint Stock Company 

65 PVD HOSE PetroVietnam Drilling & Well Services Corporation  

66 PVF HOSE PetroVietnam Finance Joint Stock Corporation 

67 PVI HNX PVI Holdings 

68 PVS HNX PetroVietnam Technical Services Corporation  

69 PVT HOSE Petrovietnam Transportation Corporation 

70 PVX HNX Petro Vietnam Construction Joint Stock Corporation  

73 REE HOSE Refrigeration Electrical Engineering Corporation  

74 RIC HOSE Royal International Corporation 

75 SAM HOSE SACOM Development And Investment Corporation 

77 SBT HOSE Société De Bourbon Tay Ninh 

79 SGT HOSE Sai Gon Telecommunication & Technologies Corporation  

80 SHB HNX SaiGon Ha noi Commercial Joint Stock Bank 

81 SHS HNX Sai Gon - Ha Noi Securities Joint Stock Company 

82 SJS HOSE 
Song Da Urban & Industrial Zone Investment and Development Joint 

Stock Company 

84 SSI HOSE SaiGon Securities Inc. 
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No. Code SX Name of Company 

85 STB HOSE Sai Gon Thuong Tin Commercial Joint Stock Bank 

86 TBC HOSE Thac Ba Hydropower Joint Stock Company 

87 TCM HOSE 
Thanh Cong Textile Garment Investment Trading Joint Stock 

Company 

88 TDH HOSE Thu Duc Housing Development Corporation 

89 TRC HOSE Tay Ninh Rubber Joint Stock Company 

90 VCB HOSE Bank for Foreign Trade of Vietnam  

91 VCG HNX Vietnam Construction and Import - Export Joint Stock Corporation 

92 VHC HOSE Vinh Hoan Corporation 

93 VIC HOSE VINCOM Joint Stock Company 

94 VIS HOSE Vietnam – Italy Steel Joint Stock Company 

96 VNM HOSE Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company 

97 VNR HNX Vietnam National Reinsurance Corporation 

98 VNS HOSE Vietnam Sun Corporation 

100 VSH HOSE Vinh Son - Song Hinh Hydropower Joint Stock Company 
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c. List of VN 30 Index - at April 1, 2012* 

    

No. Exch Code Name of Company Industry 

1 HOSE BVH BaoViet Holdings Financials 

2 HOSE CII Ho Chi Minh City Infrastructure Investments Industrials 

3 HOSE CTG 

Vietnam Joint Stock Commercial Bank For Industry 

and Trade  Financials 

4 HOSE DIG 

Development Investment Construction Joint Stock 

Company Financials 

5 HOSE DPM Petrovietnam Fertilizer & Chemical Corporation Basic Materials 

6 HOSE EIB Vietnam Export - Import Commercial Joint Stock Bank Financials 

7 HOSE FPT FPT Corporation Technology 

8 HOSE GMD Gemadept Corporation Industrials 

9 HOSE HAG HAGL Joint Stock Company Financials 

10 HOSE HPG Hoa Phat Group Joint Stock Company Industrials 

11 HOSE HVG Hung Vuong Corporation Consumer Goods 

12 HOSE IJC Becamex Infrastructure Development JSC  Financials 

13 HOSE ITA Tan Tao Investment Industry Corporation Financials 

14 HOSE KDC Kinh Do Corporation Consumer Goods 

15 HOSE KDH Khang Dien Investment & Trading House JS Company Financials 

16 HOSE MSN Masan Group Corporation Consumer Goods 

17 HOSE OGC Ocean Group Joint Stock Company  Financials 

18 HOSE PNJ Phu Nhuan Jewelry Joint Stock Company Consumer Goods 

19 HOSE PVD PetroVietnam Drilling & Well Services Company Oil & Gas 

20 HOSE PVF PetroVietnam Finance Joint Stock Corporation Financials 

21 HOSE QCG Quoc Cuong Gia Lai Joint Stock Company  Financials 

22 HOSE REE Refrigeration Electrical Engineering Corporation Industrials 

23 HOSE SBT Société De Bourbon Tay Ninh Consumer Goods 

24 HOSE SJS Song Da Urban & Industrial Zone Investments Financials 

25 HOSE SSI SaiGon Securities Inc. Financials 

26 HOSE STB Sai Gon Thuong Tin Commercial Joint Stock Bank Financials 

27 HOSE VCB Bank for Foreign Trade of Vietnam  Financials 

28 HOSE VIC VINCOM Joint Stock Company Financials 

29 HOSE VNM Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company Consumer Goods 

30 HOSE VSH 
Vinh Son - Song Hinh Hydropower Joint Stock 

Company 
Utilities 

 

* Note: the VN-30 Index changed in July 2012. 
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d. Industry grouping 

 

No. Ticket Industry No. Ticket Industry 

18 DPM Basic Materials 74 RIC Consumer Services 

19 DPR Basic Materials 98 VNS Consumer Services 

21 DTL Basic Materials 1 ACB Financials (Bank) 

33 HRC Basic Materials 2 AGR Financials (Other) 

34 HSG Basic Materials 4 BCI Financials (Real Estate) 

59 PHR Basic Materials 5 BMI Financials (Other) 

62 POM Basic Materials 8 BVH Financials (Other) 

83 SQC Basic Materials 9 BVS Financials (Other) 

89 TRC Basic Materials 14 CTG Financials (Bank) 

94 VIS Basic Materials 15 CTS Financials (Other) 

3 ANV Consumer Goods 17 DIG Financials (Real Estate) 

12 CSM Consumer Goods 22 EIB Financials (Bank) 

20 DRC Consumer Goods 26 HAG Financials (Real Estate) 

36 HVG Consumer Goods 27 HBB Financials (Bank) 

41 KDC Consumer Goods 28 HCM Financials (Other) 

46 LSS Consumer Goods 29 HDC Financials (Real Estate) 

47 MPC Consumer Goods 32 HQC Financials (Real Estate) 

48 MSN Consumer Goods 37 IJC Financials (Real Estate) 

55 PAC Consumer Goods 38 ITA Financials (Real Estate) 

61 PNJ Consumer Goods 39 ITC Financials (Real Estate) 

77 SBT Consumer Goods 40 KBC Financials (Real Estate) 

87 TCM Consumer Goods 42 KDH Financials (Real Estate) 

92 VHC Consumer Goods 43 KLS Financials (Other) 

96 VNM Consumer Goods 45 LHG Financials (Real Estate) 

16 DHG Healthcare 49 NBB Financials (Real Estate) 

6 BMP Industrials 50 NTL Financials (Real Estate) 

7 BTS Industrials 52 NVB Financials (Bank) 

10 CII Industrials 53 OCH Financials (Real Estate) 

13 CTD Industrials 54 OGC Financials (Real Estate) 

25 GMD Industrials 56 PDR Financials (Real Estate) 

30 HDG Industrials 64 PTL Financials (Real Estate) 

31 HPG Industrials 66 PVF Financials (Other) 

35 HT1 Industrials 67 PVI Financials (Other) 

44 LCG Industrials 71 PXL Financials (Real Estate) 

51 NTP Industrials 72 QCG Financials (Real Estate) 

57 PET Industrials 76 SBS Financials (Other) 

69 PVT Industrials 78 SCR Financials (Real Estate) 

70 PVX Industrials 80 SHB Financials (Bank) 
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No. Ticket Industry No. Ticket Industry 

73 REE Industrials 81 SHS Financials (Other) 

91 VCG Industrials 82 SJS Financials (Real Estate) 

99 VOS Industrials 84 SSI Financials (Other) 

58 PGD Oil & Gas 85 STB Financials (Bank) 

60 PLC Oil & Gas 88 TDH Financials (Real Estate) 

65 PVD Oil & Gas 90 VCB Financials (Bank) 

68 PVS Oil & Gas 93 VIC Financials (Real Estate) 

11 CMG Technology 95 VND Financials (Other) 

23 ELC Technology 97 VNR Financials (Other) 

24 FPT Technology 63 PPC Utilities 

75 SAM Technology 86 TBC Utilities 

79 SGT Technology 100 VSH Utilities 

 

These industries were classified according to the Industry Classification Benchmark Universe (ICB 

Universe) released in January 2008.  The ICB Universe allows the classification of firms into 4 

industry levels.  In this study, the first level only is used for the 100 firms.  The first industry level 

includes 10 industry sectors: (1) Oil and Gas; (2) Basic materials; (3) Industrials; (4) Consumer 

goods; (5) Healthcare; (6) Consumer services; (7) Telecommunications; (8) Utilities; (9) Financials; 

(10) Technology.  It is the broadest level of classification.  There are no telecommunications 

companies in the 100 largest listed companies in Vietnam. 

The Financials Industry was broken down further to separately identify ‘banks’, from ‘real estate’ 

firms and from ‘other financials’ firms (insurance firms, securities companies, finance and holding 

companies). 

A company is classified into an industry based on the functions and activities disclosed in the 

company’s prospectus.  The classification is then cross-checked with the classifications used on 

www.vietstock.vn.  

 

  

http://www.vietstock.vn/
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e. List of key documents used 

 

No. Document 

1 Articles of Association 

2 CG Guidance 

3 Annual Report 

4 Audited Financial Statements 

5 AGM Notices 2011 

6 AGM Minutes 2011 

7 AGM Resolutions 2011 

8 BOD Report 

9 SB Report 

10 CG Report 

11 Board Resolutions 

12 EGM (announcement, resolutions, minutes …) 

13 Violations (insider trading violations, non-compliance case, FS extension ...) 

14 Prospectus 

15 AGM Notices 2010 

16 Company website 

17 Others 

 

f. Research Rating Team 

 

Mrs. Anne Molyneux – Project Advisor 

Dr. Nguyen Thu Hien - Project Team Leader 

Mr. Tran Duy Thanh - Project Team Supervisor 

Ms. Pham Ngoc Tram Anh - Coordinator 

Ms. Nguyen Huu Kim Khanh 

Ms. Phan Thi Bich Lieu 

Ms. Vuu Hue Linh 

Mr. Le Minh Loc 

Ms. Duong Huyen Phuong 

Ms. Ho Do Quynh Phuong 

Ms. Hua Thi Ngoc Thao 

Mr. Vo Khac Tiep 
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g. Scorecard Questionnaire  

 

  Indicative evidence (not exhaustive) 

A Rights of shareholders (Scorecard weighting - 15%) 

 OECD Principle II The corporate governance framework should protect and facilitate 

the exercise of shareholder’s rights. 

A.1 Are the voting rights of shareholders 

clear and unequivocal? 

Full information provided – for each class of shares 

information is provided on voting rights, dividend 

rights, distribution rights. 

A.2 Does the company offer  ownership 

rights, more than basic rights (voting 

rights, right to freely transfer shares and 

right to timely information)? 

Approve dividend; equal treatments for share 

repurchases. 

A.3 Do shareholders have the right to 

nominate and remove members of the 

BOD and the SB? 

Thresholds less than in the model charter; right to 

appoint and remove directors in company charter; 

no share classes excluded from this right; practice / 

use of procedural hindrances not evident. 

A.4 Are the dividend and dividend payment 

policies transparent? 

Prior information on dividend policy, rationale for 

current dividend proposed (and all shareholders in 

same class receive same dividend), dividend 

specific amount available and payment date 

notified; dividend vote taken. 

A.5 Do shareholders have the right to 

approve major corporate transactions 

(mergers, acquisitions, divestments and / 

or takeovers)? 

Right to approve major transactions in company 

Charter; right includes low thresholds for approval 

of such transactions. 

A.6 Was the AGM held within four months 

of end of fiscal year? 

Required within four months of end of the fiscal 

year; if outside this time AGM is not timely. 

A.7 Are there adequate company systems for 

shareholder attendance at AGMs? 

Meeting held at a convenient time and place (big 

city location and business hours time) and open to 

all shareholders (no complex registration 

processes); no change of date or location at the last 

minute. 

A.8 Are the AGM shareholder meeting 

notices effective? 

Notice of AGM provided directly to shareholders 

and notice of AGM also on website;  

adequate information provided with meeting 

notice, including: 

agenda; proposed resolutions; annual report and 

audited financial statements (not summary); report 

of auditor and supervisory board; material related 

to appointments of directors; information about 

auditors provided with meeting notice. 

A.9 Are the policies and processes for 

shareholders to ask questions at the AGM 

clear and time is allowed on the agenda? 

Statement in AGM notices, and place and time (30 

minutes or more) allowed on the agenda. 

A.10 Does AGM information of the past year 

record opportunities for shareholders to 

ask questions? 

Review of AGM minutes to validate question 

period; questions and answers recorded. 
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  Indicative evidence (not exhaustive) 

A.11 Is the attendance at the last AGM of 

Chairman / Head of Supervisory Board / 

other board members / CEO / evident? 

Complete AGM meeting individualized 

attendance / absence record provided. 

A.12 Are AGM policies and processes in the 

past two years (notices and information) 

sufficient for shareholders to evaluate 

individual board nominations? 

Policies and processes in place requiring names 

and board experience and current appointments; 

facilitation of shareholders to get to know the 

nominees; written declarations of integrity and 

personal information; clarity concerning the 

method of nomination; guidelines on cumulative 

voting processes.  If no nominations then N/A. 

A.13 Do shareholders effectively vote (receive 

information on, make their views known 

and vote) on board and key executive 

remuneration annually? 

Remuneration policy available; 

Information to include all benefits that pass to the 

director or key executive; 

Rationale related to the long-term performance of 

the company; 

Shareholder views are received at the AGM. 

Remuneration policy approved at AGM. 

A.14 Did the external auditor attend the AGM 

and the express his views on 

audit/financial statements issues? 

Auditor attendance and auditor availability for 

questioning recorded.  Interaction with auditor 

recorded. 

A.15 Did the shareholders effectively approve 

the appointment of the external auditor? 

Review last auditor approval by shareholders to 

include: 

Name and experience of audit company to be in 

accordance with requirements regarding 

qualifications and authorisations. 

AGM voting evident. 

A.16 Did information provided to shareholders 

for the appointment of the external 

auditor include information on 

independence? 

Information on / consideration of auditor 

independence evident. 

A.17 Is a full report provided to AGM on 

BOD performance? 

According to requirements in Article 7 of Decision 

12. To meet requirements, the report must include: 

annual evaluation of performance of company; 

performance of the BOD (frequency of BOD 

meetings, number of BOD meetings); summary of 

issues raised at BOD and decisions; supervision of 

CEO; supervision of other senior management; 

projected future plans. 

A.18 Is a full report provided to AGM on the 

performance of the Supervisory Board? 

According to requirements in Article 8 of Decision 

12. 

To meet requirements, the report must include: 

performance of the Supervisory Board (frequency 

of SB meetings, number of SB meetings); 

summary of issues at SB meetings and decisions; 

supervision over operational and financial 

conditions of company; supervision of BOD, 

senior management; evaluation of co-ordination 

between SB, BOD, BOM and shareholders. 
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  Indicative evidence (not exhaustive) 

A.19 Did the AGM notice include explicit 

information on accessible systems for 

proxy voting and voting in absentia? 

Documents to appoint proxies in meeting notices 

(proxy forms sent), proxy appointment processes 

known, uncomplicated voting mechanisms (postal 

and electronic voting access), uncomplicated proxy 

appointment processes (e.g. notarisation NOT 

required). 

A.20 Do AGM meeting minutes and the 

company website disclose individual 

resolutions, with voting results for each 

agenda item? 

Disclosure in AGM minutes and on website 

meeting resolutions and voting results for each 

agenda item. 

A.21 Are there no additional items included in 

the AGM minutes not included on the 

original meeting notice? 

Additional items are likely to include 

determinations for which the shareholders had 

insufficient preparation.  Absence of such items 

would be scored as evidence of good AGM 

meeting preparation. 

B Equitable treatment of shareholders (Scorecard weighting - 20%) 

 OECD Principle III – the corporate governance framework should ensure the equitable 

treatment of all shareholders, including minority and foreign shareholders. All shareholders 

should have the opportunity to obtain effective redress for violation of their rights. 

B.1 Does each share in the same class of 

shares have the same rights? 

Rights attached to shares publicly available; same 

class – same rights; AGM vote required  to change 

shareholder rights; (no golden shares, no preferred 

shares with voting rights disproportionate to capital 

commitment); vote to be passed by a majority of 

75% AND the voters representing at least 75% of 

shareholders in that class. 

No information available on voting rights – not 

observed. 

B.2 Does the company have a ‘one share, one 

vote’ policy?  

One class of share only and one vote for each 

share;  

Needs to be stated and not assumed. 

B.3 Can minority shareholders impact the 

composition of the board? 

Method described in the Charter (cumulative 

voting, board member nomination right), even if no 

director election occurred. 

B.4 Are directors’ required to be re-

nominated and re-elected at regular 

intervals? 

Policy limiting term of office of directors (max 5 

years) in BOD and SB; policies if a director 

exceeds the term of office. 

B.5 Is cross border voting facilitated by the 

company?  

Policy in charter; 

Proxy voting information and papers available to 

facilitate cross border investor participation; longer 

notice period (more than 20 days); 

Information also in English (information may be 

sent to foreign investors in English). 

B.6 Is a description of the company group 

structure available and clear and 

transparent? 

Group structure evident (e.g. organisational chart) 

and explained; inter-company relationships evident 

and explained (little evidence of more complex 

structures); group structure explained in Annual 

Report and/or financial statements. 
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  Indicative evidence (not exhaustive) 

B.7 Is there evidence of structures / 

mechanisms that have the potential to 

violate minority shareholder rights? 

Cross shareholding evident (threshold of 5% 

applies); 

Pyramid structures evident  (threshold of 10% 

applies). 

B.8 Are there mechanisms that provide 

effective redress for complaints of 

shareholders?  

 Company complaint policies and processes (process 

is timely and cost effective includes required 

response); company commitment to mediation. 

B.9 Do shareholders have the right to 

approve fundamental company changes? 

Policy in charter; information regarding rationale 

for changes required; approval required at AGM / 

EGM (Right to vote on changes to articles, 

authorisation for additional shares and requires a 

vote of at least 75% of total voting shares or 

proxies available at Shareholders’ Meeting).  

B.10 How many days before the AGM were 

the meeting notices sent out? 

The longer period of notice, the better (20 to 30 

days is good practice). 

B.11 Can a small shareholder place an item on 

the AGM agenda? 

Thresholds (5% by Model Charter) in AA; 

Policies and procedures for doing so in company 

articles. 

B.12 Are there company policies in place that 

effectively prohibit the misuse of 

information by directors, management 

and staff? 

Code of conduct evident; insiders defined; 

information use, protection and disclosure policies; 

confidentiality policies; nominated person for legal 

disclosures; share trading policy/blackout period 

requirements evident.  

B.13  Are there any known cases of insider 

trading involving the company directors, 

management or staff in the past year? 

Information in general press, regulatory 

documents.  

B.14 Are there effective company policies for 

the company to approve relevant related-

party transactions? 

Related party transactions (RPTs) are clearly 

defined; policies and mechanisms are in place to 

control RPTs (written contracts, price 

determination, arms’ length market basis); 

Policies and mechanisms in place to approve (by 

BOD or SB or shareholders) RPTs;  

Low thresholds in place for approvals. 

B.15 For large company transactions, does 

company policy require the provision of 

information to explain RPTs and require 

shareholder approval of RPTs above a 

certain threshold? 

Explanation to be provided (information required 

nature of transaction, parties, other beneficiaries, 

value in Annual Report, financial statements); 

shareholder approval required; 

Thresholds evident for RPTs approval (greater than 

5% of total assets). 

B.16 Have there been cases of non-

compliance with requirements relating to 

related party transactions in the past 

year? 

Non compliance means either transactions not in 

accordance with company policies; OR 

RPTs not disclosed and/or did not appear on unaudited 

financial statements, but did appear on audited FS. 

B.17 How does the board deal with 

declarations of conflict of interest? 

Obligation to inform evident; policies laid down 

for good practices after disclosure to the board 

(independent directors to make decisions, 

conflicted party withdrawal / not vote / abstention); 

ethical policies / code in evidence 
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  Indicative evidence (not exhaustive) 

B.18 Does the company have an effective 

investor relations / information policy 

and program? 

Nominated person, policies and procedures in 

place. 

C Role of stakeholders (Scorecard weighting – 5%) 

 OECD Principle IV - Recognize the rights of stake-holders established in law or mutual 

agreements and foster co-operation with stakeholders 

C.1 Does the company recognize company 

obligations (in law and agreements) to 

key stakeholders and engage them? 

Mention of customers, suppliers, creditors, 

community in public communications; 

communications show relationships considered 

important (through honouring business agreements, 

timely payments, co-operative efforts). 

C.2 Does the company provide a range of 

performance enhancing employee 

benefits to align company and employee 

interests?  

Employee representation on boards; mechanisms 

within the company to consider employee views; 

ESOP/ESP available (employee share plan/option 

plan); other benefits available (pension plan, profit 

sharing plan, education program) or other long-

term incentives to employees to align them with 

company value creation. 

C.3 Have mechanisms been introduced that 

facilitate communication to board 

members of illegal and unethical 

company practices? 

Procedures in place (direct confidential access to 

BOD, SB or Audit Committee);  

Safe harbours provided (confidentiality guarantees, 

company protection); 

Whistleblower policy evident. 

C.4 Do company policies / information 

recognize the safety and welfare of 

employees? 

Mentioned in public communications and 

considered important and shown through: 

i)  written policies 

ii) employee training development programs; and 

iii) internal issue redress mechanisms 

iv) Code of ethics. 

C.5 Does company policies/information 

mention the environment? 

Mentioned in public communications; considered 

important; description of company’s environmental 

enhancing activities. 

C.6 Are stakeholders able to directly 

communicate on company performance 

with the BOD, BOM and Supervisory 

Board? 

Mechanisms (contact names and numbers) in place 

for this, such as nominated communications 

policies and process for contact with one or more 

of BOD, BOM, or SB. 

C.7 Is there evidence of company recognition 

of its obligations to the broader 

community? 

Community and / or philanthropic activities 

mentioned in communications. 

C.8 Is there a clear framework for the 

enforcement of creditors’ rights? 

Full and timely information on performance 

(quarterly and annual reports) available to banks 

and creditors. 

D Disclosure and transparency – (Scorecard weighting – 30%) 

 OECD Principle V – The corporate governance framework should ensure that timely and 

accurate disclosure is made on all material matters regarding the corporation, including 

the financial situation, performance, ownership and governance of the company. 
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  Indicative evidence (not exhaustive) 

D.1 Is there evidence that the concept of 

‘material information’ is well understood 

by the company? 

Information disclosure policy, statements and 

actions indicate that matters to be disclosed include 

those relevant for the understanding of the legal, 

financial and profit position of the company; that 

may affect the prices of company’s securities, and 

investors and shareholders decisions; and is 

demonstrated in financial statement notes related to 

accounting policies. 

D.2 Does the Annual Report give a full and 

clear picture of the financial performance 

of the company? 

Two comparative years available;  language is 

understandable; not misleading; information 

comprehensive (full externally audited financial 

statements (Profit and loss/Income statement, 

Balance sheets, Cash Flow Statement, SOCIE, 

notes) ( NOTE: if the company is a parent 

company, it shall include 2 sets of FS – one for the 

parent and one that is consolidated. 

D.3 Are the financial reports disclosed in a 

timely manner? 

Filed ahead or on time in the past  years i.e. within 

100 days after close of financial year; or within 

24/72 hours if extraordinary disclosure; quarterly 

reports within 25 days of end of quarter. 

D.4 Did the company provide quarterly and 

semi-annual reports in the past year? 

Quarterly reports and semi-annual reports. 

D.5 Do the CEO and Chief Accountant 

certify the annual financial statements, 

audited and unaudited? 

Financial Statements certified. 

D.6 Does the company use internationally 

accepted accounting standards? 

VAS and MOF accounting guidelines applied; 

Applies IFRS  where no VAS or MOF guidelines 

apply, if required. 

D.7 Does the Annual Report include a full 

and clear picture of company operations, 

its competitive position and other non-

financial matters? 

Management report available in Annual Report; 

language is easily comprehended; information 

comprehensive (non financial information; mention 

of vision and business objectives; commitment to 

value creation; policy on business ethics). 

D.8 Are details of current largest 

shareholdings provided? 

Most recent data (updated within 1 year); 

breakdown of the largest shareholders evident and 

largest shareholders named; available in Annual 

Report and on the website. 

D.9 Are directors’ (BOD and SB) 

shareholdings disclosed? 

Recent data (updated within one year) on BOD and 

SB holdings; individual breakdown of 

shareholdings evident. 

D.10 Are senior management’s shareholdings 

disclosed? 

Recent data (update within one year) on key 

executive shareholdings disclosed; individual 

breakdown. 

D.11 Are the company shares broadly held? Dispersed shareholding structure leads to easier 

protection of minority shareholders; shareholdings 

of major shareholders reported. 

D.12 In the Annual Report is board member 

experience disclosed? 

BOD and SB members’ name, background, 

skills/education, experience, BOD/SB committee 

appointments, other board appointments. 
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  Indicative evidence (not exhaustive) 

D.13 In the Annual Report, are non-executive 

directors specifically identified? 

Non-executive directors identified. 

D.14 Does the Annual Report specifically 

identify ‘independent’ directors? 

BOD and SB independent directors information 

available (name, background, skills/education, 

board experience, committee appointments); 

explanation for independence available. 

D.15 Does the Annual Report disclose BOD / 

SB meeting attendance of individual 

directors? 

BOD and SB individual board attendance summary 

provided; attendance style options disclosed (in 

person, telephone, videoconference). 

D.16 Is the basis (level and mix) of board 

remuneration disclosed in the Annual 

Report? 

BOD and SB remuneration policy information 

available; remuneration broken down for 

attendance at board meetings, link to long-term 

performance, related to extra duties and 

accountabilities. 

D.17 Does the latest Annual Report identify 

the company’s main executives and their 

responsibilities? 

Names; qualifications; positions; responsibilities. 

D.18 Does the latest Annual Report disclose 

the remuneration of key executives? 

Individual executives identified; link between 

company long-term performance and remuneration 

(including stock bonus / options / warrants) 

mentioned (if stock bonus, stock transferability 

should be limited for a period); total remuneration for 

12 months for key individuals evident; remuneration 

includes termination and retirement benefits. 

D.19 Does the company show evidence of a 

policy requiring disclosure of related-

party transactions? 

Evidence of policy in place; disclosure includes 

name, relationship with counter-party, transaction 

amount; threshold for disclosure of RPT 

transactions low (e.g.0.1% of Owners Equity). 

D.20 Are statements requesting directors to 

report their transactions in company 

shares evident? 

If there is a request, directors are not being 

voluntarily transparent regarding their 

shareholding. 

D.21  Does the Annual Report explain 

foreseeable business risks? 

Language is easily comprehended; information 

comprehensive (for example, risks described – 

related to industry, geography, financial market 

risks); risk management policy in place; risk 

management practices evident; risk reporting in 

place. 

D.22 Does the Annual Report include a 

separate, quality corporate governance 

report? 

Separate CG Report available (separate section in 

AR); CG Report comprehensive and includes 

mention of corporate governance code and how it 

is implemented; CG Report includes mention of 

CG structures in the company. 

D.23 Does the company have an annual 

external audit undertaken by an 

authorised auditor? 

Annual external audit; auditor authorised; auditor 

firm name stated. 

D.24 Do AGM and/or company documents 

refer to the ‘independence’ of the 

external auditor? 

Discussion and references to the independence of 

the external auditor. 
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  Indicative evidence (not exhaustive) 

D.25  If a change of auditor is noted in the past 

two years, were the reasons for the 

change disclosed? 

Reasons for change disclosed; (reappointment of 

same auditor/same audit firm is not a change of 

auditor).  

D.26 Is there a policy that reviews the external 

auditor when undertaking non-audit 

services? 

Company policy that prevents auditor undertaking 

non-audit services without approval. 

D.27 Is the external auditor’s opinion publicly 

disclosed? 

In Annual Report and on the website. 

D.28 Has there been any accounting / audit 

changes, qualifications or queries related 

to the financial statements in the past two 

years? 

Audit qualification; accounting re-statement 

required;  SSC/SX inquiry. 

D.29 Does the company provide a variety of 

communication methods? 

Annual Report; website, analyst briefings, press 

releases; 

And current information available and accessible. 

D.30 Is the information on the company 

website comprehensive and accessible? 

Downloadable Annual Report;  Company group 

structure; Current financial information; current 

business operations information; strategy; CG 

report; shareholding structure; organizational 

structure; in Vietnamese and English. 

D.31 Does the company have a policy and 

process to ensure continuous ad hoc 

disclosure of important matters? 

Policy in place; persons nominated to be 

accountable; website and clear processes (e.g. 

company information updated). 

D.32 Does the company provide easy public 

access to and contact details for the 

Investor Relations person or unit? 

Available; name/unit details provided; email and 

phone contacts; disclosure policy in place. 

E Responsibilities of the board (Scorecard weighting – 30%) 

 OECD Principle VI Responsibilities of the Board – The corporate governance framework 

should ensure the strategic guidance of the company, the effective monitoring of management 

by the board, and the board’s accountability to the company and the shareholders 

E.1 Has the company promulgated good CG 

guidelines? 

CG guidelines should include: BOD and SB values 

and responsibilities; convening and voting at 

AGM; nomination / dismissal of directors; BOD 

meeting processes; Appointment / dismissal of 

senior management;  Co-ordination between BOD, 

SB and BOM; Performance evaluation of BOD, 

SB, and management 

E.2 Does the company have clear company 

values and direction led by the BOD? 

Written vision / mission; 

Written Code of Ethics or Code of Conduct; 

BOD sets ‘tone at top’ in behaviours and public 

statements and makes or has statements of values 

E.3 Does company CG guidance disclose the 

material transactions that must be 

approved by the board? 

Reserved board powers; transaction authorisation 

limits beyond which management cannot approve 

E.4 Is the Chairman’s role at board meetings 

clearly described in the company CG 

guidance? 

Description of role evident and comprehensive 
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  Indicative evidence (not exhaustive) 

E.5 Is the Chairman a non-executive 

director? 

Separation of roles of CEO and Chairman is 

considered best practice by OECD as it preserves a 

balance of power in the two most important roles 

in the company 

E.6 Is the Chairman ‘independent’ of the 

company? 

Not a major shareholder or representative of major 

shareholder (no shareholding above 5%); 

No close relations in company management; 

No current or former employment/business 

association with the company in the last 3 years; 

E.7 How many BOD members are non-

executive? 

1/3 to be non-executive directors for majority of 

the year 

E.8 What percentage of the BOD is 

‘independent’? 

1/3 to be independent 

E.9 Is there evidence of the BOD being a 

‘balanced board’? 

Range of skills evident; business knowledge; 

accounting/finance skills; industry experience; 

balance of exec and non-exec directors.  (if CEO is 

also Chairman, at least 50% of BOD is non-exec;  

if CEO is not also Chairman, at least 1/3 of BOD in 

non-exec)  

E.10 Does company information and director 

information clearly state/disclose the 

number of board seats each director 

holds? 

Full information on number of board seats held and 

board / committee positions noted; all BOD 

members hold 6 or less board seats 

E.11 Does the company have a board 

induction policy and program for new 

appointments to the BOD and SB?  

Induction policy in place; includes information to 

be provided; introductions to board and key 

executives; 

E.12 Do the BOD and SB undertake an annual 

self assessment / evaluation? 

Must have evidence of the evaluations of each of 

BOD and SB  

E.13 Did BOD and SB members and CEO 

participate in CG training and report 

this? 

Report on training of BOD and SB members and 

CEO available; and all BOD, SB members and 

CEO participated in training 

E.14 How often did the BOD meet in the past 

year? 

At least one meeting each quarter; individual BOD 

attendance recorded 

E.15 How often did the SB meet in the past 

year? 

At least twice per year; and individual attendance 

recorded  

E.16 Are there mechanisms in place to ensure 

board members receive adequate 

notification of the board meeting for all 

BOD / SB meetings? 

Company Secretary takes care; policies and 

processes in place (including annual calendar for 

board meetings, documents distributed at least 7 

days in advance of meeting). 

E.17 Do the BOD and SB keep meeting 

minutes and resolution records of each 

meeting? 

Rules require records be kept; records available to 

all BOD and SB members respectively;  

E.18 Has the BOD established BOD 

committees (Audit Committee, 

Remuneration Committee and Human 

Resource Committee) or designated a 

BOD person? 

Committees established or a designated director in 

place; 

Committee charters noted;  

Committee reports to BOD noted 
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  Indicative evidence (not exhaustive) 

E.19 Is there evidence the BOD receives 

regular management reports on the 

company activities and its financial 

position? 

Regular reporting required; 

Reports on activities and financial position; 

BOD discussion on reports 

E.20 Is there evidence the BOD is responsible 

for the strategy and business plans of the 

company? 

BOD evidence of approval and oversight of the 

strategy and business plans 

E.21 Are the BOD/SB responsible for and 

oversees the risk management system of 

the company? 

Evidence of risk management system in place 

(management identifies risks and has mechanisms 

to mitigate risks); evidence of risk reports 

considered by BOD/SB 

E.22 Do the BOD / SB assess the CEO and 

key executives annually? 

Annual evaluation occurs; performance evaluation 

linked to long-term company performance evident 

E.23 Is there any evidence of non-compliance 

of the company over the last year? 

Non-compliance would indicate that the BOD and 

SB have not sufficient control or monitoring 

processes in place 

E.24 Do company documents cover/explain 

internal control structures, policies and 

practices? 

AR, BOD/Audit Committee or SB 

reports/documents on: 

Internal control structures;  internal control policies  

are evident and internal control practices evident 

E.25 Does the internal audit function provide 

an independent evaluation of the internal 

control process and risk management of 

the company annually? 

Internal audit separately established; Internal 

auditor reporting directly to the BOD / SB or Audit 

Committee; 

Independent evaluation noted; 

Evaluation includes internal controls and risk 

management 

E.26 Does the company report on the 

activities of internal audit in its Annual 

Report and / or SB Report?  

Have internal audit activities; 

Mentioned in Annual Report and on the website 

E.27 Is there evidence of the practical SB 

oversight of the external auditor? 

Evidence available and includes mention of 

selection of independent auditor, discussions with 

auditor on progress of audit, discussions with 

auditor on company issues 

E.28 Is there evidence of the SB review and 

approve the Annual Report and financial 

statements? 

Receipt and review of Annual Report and financial 

statements evident 

E.29 Does the SB report include discussion of 

the SB supervision of operational and 

financial condition of the company; and 

of the performance of BOD, BOM and 

executive officers? 

Report on operational and financial performance 

noted; 

Report on BOD noted; 

Report on BOM and executive officers noted 

E.30 Does the SB Report include reference to 

the SB’s performance, issues discussed 

and decisions taken? 

SB performance (number of meetings and 

attendance record); 

Issues explained 

Decisions noted 

E.31 Does the SB report on its evaluation of 

the coordination between the SB, BOD, 

BOM and shareholders? 

Evaluation of coordination noted; quality report 

provided 
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